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Forward-Looking Statements

The discussions in this Annual Report on Form 10d@ntain forward-looking statements reflecting ouurent expectations that
involve risks and uncertainties. These forward-laonk statements include, but are not limited to, fgments concerning our strategy, future
operations, future financial position, future revares, projected costs, profitability, expected aestuctions, capital adequacy, expectations
regarding demand and acceptance for our technolagigrowth opportunities and trends in the marketivhich we operate, prospects and
plans and objectives of management. The wa"anticipates”, “believes”, “estimates”, “expects™intends”, “may”, “plans”, “projects”,
“will”, “would” and similar expressions are intendd to identify forward-looking statements, althougiot all forward-looking statements
contain these identifying words. We may not actyadichieve the plans, intentions or expectationscttised in our forward-looking
statements and you should not place undue relianceour forward-looking statements. Actual results or events coditfer materially from
the plans, intentions and expectations disclosedhir forward-looking statements that we make. Thésevard-looking statements involve
risks and uncertainties that could cause our actuakults to differ materially from those in the farard-looking statements, including,
without limitation, the risks set forth in Part litem 1A, “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Fom 10K and in our other filings with the

Securities and Exchange Commission. We do not asswamy obligation to update any forwa-looking statements.




PART |
| TEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We design, develop, manufacture and sell high-pexdoce fully electric vehicles, advanced electabigle powertrain components and
stationary energy storage systems. We have estatlisur own network of sales and service centetsSapercharger stations globally to
accelerate the widespread adoption of electricokedii We believe our vehicles, electric vehiclgieaering expertise, and business model
differentiates us from incumbent automobile mantufieers.

We are currently producing and selling our secogltiale, the Model S sedan. Model S is a four dfvee;passenger premium sedan
that offers exceptional performance, functionadibd attractive styling. Model S inherited manylad electric powertrain innovations we
introduced with our first vehicle, the Tesla RoadstWe commenced deliveries of Model S in June224id as of December 31, 2014 we havi
delivered almost 57,000 Model S vehicles worldwiliece its launch, Model S has won several awandkjding the prestigiouslotor Trend
Car of the Year for 2013. Surveys by Consumer Remmave Model S the highest customer satisfactonesof any car in the world in 2013
and gave Tesla Service the best overall satisfacsiting in the entire automotive industry in 20Mmdel S also earned the highest safety r:
in the United States by the National Highway T@aBiafety Administration. We have continued to ioy&r Model S by introducing
performance, all-wheel drive dual motor, autopdptions, and free over-the-air software updates.

We anticipate commencing customer shipments oftord vehicle, the Model X crossover, in the thipgdarter of 2015. This unique
vehicle has been designed to fill the niche betwbhermroominess of a minivan and the style of an SWhle having high performance features
such as our all-wheel drive dual motor system asti® to 60 miles per hour acceleratidfter the Model X, our goal is to introduce the Mz
3, a lower priced sedan designed for the mass mank2017.

The commercial production of fully electric vehiglhat meets consumers’ range and performance taxjoes requires substantial
design, engineering, and integration work on alneesty system of our vehicles. Our design andolel@ngineering capabilities, combined
with the technical advancements of our powertrggiesn, have enabled us to design and developieleetnicles that we believe overcome the
design, styling, and performance issues that hesterfcally limited broad consumer adoption of étiecvehicles. As a result, we believe our
customers enjoy several benefits, including:

. Long Range and Recharging FlexibiliOur vehicles offer ranges that are over doubledhge of any other commercially
available electric vehicle. In addition, our vebilincorporate our proprietary tward charging system, permitting recharging 1
almost any available electrical outlet. Model Saiffers fast charging capability from our Superdgea network. We believe the
long-range and charging flexibility of our vehicledl help reduce consumer anxiety over range védke the need for expensive,
large-scale charging infrastructure, and differentiatevahicles as compared to those of our competi

. Energy Efficiency and Cost of OwnerstWe believe our vehicles offer consumers an attraatdst of ownership when compared
to similar internal combustion engine or hybrido#ie vehicles. Using only an electric powertraimables us to create a lighter,
more energy efficient vehicle that is mechanicaiimpler than currently available hybrid or intercsambustion engine vehicles.
We currently estimate that the cost to fuel ourielel is approximately one-fourth that of compagabternal combustion vehicles
in the United States, and even less internationeligre gasoline prices are typically higher. We a&spect our electric vehicles
will have lower relative maintenance costs thanritylplug-in hybrid, or internal combustion engiwhicles due to fewer moving
parts and the absence of certain components, inguddl, oil filters, spark plugs and engine valvéslditionally, government
incentives that are currently available can redbeecost of ownership even furth

. High-Performance Without Compromised Design or Funetiiypn We believe our vehicles deliver unparalleled drgvexperience
with instantaneous and sustained acceleration givan extended range of speed. In addition, ourd\i8dseats five adults,
provides best in class storage in the trunk andl lvddle offering design and performance compar&dler better than, other
premium sedan:

We sell our vehicles through our own sales andicemvetwork which we are continuing to grow glopallVe believe the benefits we
receive from distribution ownership will enabletasmprove the speed of product development anddnethe capital efficiency of our
business. We are also continuing to build our netved Superchargers in the United States, Europlefeia to provide properly equipped
Model S vehicle owners as well as future Teslaalefowners with fast and free charging to enabtesenient long distance travel.

In addition to developing our own vehicles, we hdegeloped and currently sell and service full glepowertrain systems and
components to other automobile manufacturers. Mée@oduce and sell stationary energy storageyatsdor use in homes, commercial si
and utilities. The applications for these batterstems include backup power, peak demand reduatEmand response, and wholesale electri
market services.




We manufacture our products primarily at our féieidi in Fremont, California, Lathrop, Californiadafilburg, NetherlanddVe are
developing the Tesla Gigafactory, a facility wheseintend to work together with our suppliers teegrate battery
precursor material, cell, module and battery packipction at a site near Reno, Nevada. We plarseéahe battery
packs manufactured at the Gigafactory for our \ehkjcstarting initially for Model S and Model X #016, and later for
our Model 3 vehicle, as well as for stationary ag@ applications.

Our Vehicles and Products

We currently design, develop, manufacture andfgiyl electric vehicles and electric powertrain qoonents. We are currently selling
primarily the Model S.

Model S

Model S is a fully electric, four-door, five-adylassenger sedan that offers compelling range arfickpence with zero tailpipe
emissions. We began customer deliveries in Jun2.284 of December 31, 2014, we had delivered alfieg100 Model S vehicles.

Model S offers a range on a single charge of 6@ miles as determined using the United States €£&#mbined two-cycle
city/highway test. To complement this range, we aifer the capability to fast charge Model S at Supercharger facilities. In addition, we
designed Model S to incorporate a modular battackpn the floor of the vehicle, enabling it to ta@idly swapped out at certain of our service
centers and specialized commercial battery exchtawijéies that we anticipate may be availabléhia future.

The 60 kWh and 85 kWh battery pack versions of M&lkave an effective base price of $62,400, ar&}4P0, respectively, in the
United States, assuming and after giving effethéocontinuation of a United States federal taxlitief $7,500 for the purchase of alternative
fuel vehicles. We offer performance and all-whe@leldual motor system options with our 85 kWh MioBeThe performance version of our
All-Wheel Drive Dual Motor Model S accelerates fr@nto 60 miles per hour in 3.2 seconds, makingdtquickest sedan in the world
according taMotor Trendmagazine.

We believe Model S offers a unique combinationusfctionality, convenience, safety and styling withcompromising performance ¢
energy efficiency. With the battery pack in theofl@f the vehicle and the motor and gearbox in Vit the rear axle, our single motor Model
S provides best in class storage space of 31.@ éei, including storage under both the tailgaie the hood. By way of comparison, this
storage space exceeds the approximately 14 cuttiofstorage available in the 2015 BMW 5 Serietaaeand the approximately 18 cubic fee
of storage available in the 2015 Cadillac XTS. didiion, we have designed Model S to include althinv with two rear-facing child seats,
allowing us to offer seating for five adults andtehildren. Model S is also available with premiluxury features, including a 17 inch touch
screen driver interface and our advanced autogyistem. Our autopilot system, which is being peegively enabled over time through over-
the-air software updates, includes both safety featsmeh as collision warning systems and automaéikibg and convenience features suc
traffic aware cruise control. Model S also offatvanced wireless connectivity, such as 3G convigtand driver customization of the
infotainment and climate control systems of theiclehWe believe the combination of performancéetya styling, convenience and energy
efficiency of Model S positions it as a compellaternative to other vehicles in the luxury andfpenance segments.

We have designed Model S to provide a lower costafership as compared to other vehicles in itsscl#/e consider the purchase
price, cost of fuel and the cost of maintenance ev@x year ownership period in this calculatidre assume comparable residual values,
warranties, insurance costs and promotions andresthat currently available consumer incentivesstiieavailable at the time of a Model S
purchase. In addition to the competitive pricingvaddel S relative to other premium vehicles, wéneate that customers of electric vehicles
will enjoy lower fuel costs. For example, assumammgaverage of 15,000 miles driven per year, anageeelectricity cost of 12.1 cents per
kilowatt-hour and an average gasoline price of $2.83 péwrgaler the full ownership of the vehicle whichre¢he average electricity cost
premium gasoline price in the United States, retbpalyg, for December 2014, and based on our estérofthe energy efficiency of Model S,
we estimate that our Model S could save approxipn&te 600 per year less in fuel costs than a coatparmpremium internal combustion eng
sedan. In international markets, where gasolingeprcan be 2-3 times those of the United Statesdhings are greater.

We have designed Model S with an adaptable platemehitecture and common electric powertrain thatintend to leverage to create
future electric vehicle models, including our Modelln particular, by designing our electric powaih within the chassis to accommodate
different vehicle body styles, we believe that @@ save significant time in future vehicle develem In addition, we believe our strategy of
using currently available battery cells will enabketo leverage improvements in cell chemistriasrapidly introduce planned vehicles with
different range options.




Model X

Our Model X crossover is the first vehicle we irdeén develop by leveraging the Model S platformisTumique vehicle has been
designed to offer the space and functionality spart utility vehicle while having high performaneatures such as our fully electric, aiheel
drive dual motor system. Model X will seat sevenltxland incorporate a unique falcon wing dooresystor superior access to the second an
third seating rows. We anticipate that the pricifiddodel X will be similar to a comparably equippktbdel S. We currently intend to begin
customer deliveries of Model X in the third quamdéR2015. After its initial launch in the Uniteda®¢s, Model X will be sold in all the markets
where Model S is available including in Asia anddpe.

Model 3

We have also publicly announced our intent to dgvel third generation electric vehicle, called Mieo be produced at the Tesla
Factory. We intend to offer this vehicle at a loweéce point and expect to produce it at higheuxwds than our Model S. We expect that this
vehicle will be introduced in 2017.

The Tesla Roadster

Our first vehicle, the Tesla Roadster, is the fiigh-performance electric sports car. It can agedé from zero to 60 miles per hour in a:
little as 3.7 seconds and has a maximum speedppbaimately 120 miles per hour. The Tesla Roadsitsy has a range of 245 miles on a
single charge, as determined using the United S&B&A’'s combined two-cycle city/highway test. Werdnaold approximately 2,500 Tesla
Roadsters to customers in over 30 countries, praddaly in North America and Europe. We concludeg production run of the Tesla
Roadster in January 2012.

Stationary Energy Storage Applications

Using the energy management technologies and mantifag processes developed for our vehicle powaigrgystems, we have
developed stationary energy storage products ®irusomes, commercial sites and utilities. Thdiaafions for these battery systems include
backup power, peak demand reduction, demand res@omswholesale electric market services. We bsghing our home systems in 2013
and our commercial and utility systems in 2014. Mén to ramp sales of these products in 2015.

Powertrain Development and Sales

In addition to our own vehicles, we also designjediep, manufacture and sell advanced electric Velpowertrain components to other
automotive manufacturers. We have provided devedoqt services and full powertrain systems and carapts to Daimler for its Smart
fortwo, A-Class, and B-Class electric vehicles em@oyota for use in its RAV4 EV. We are continuitagsupply production parts for the
Daimler B class electric vehicle.

Technology

We believe the core competencies of our companp@nertrain engineering, vehicle engineering ambuative manufacturing. Our
core intellectual property is contained within electric powertrain and the ability to design aigkhwhich capitalizes on the uniqueness of at
electric powertrain. Our electric powertrain cortsisf the following: battery pack, power electrayimotor, gearbox and the control software
which enables the components to operate as a sy$ferdesigned each of these major elements foresla Roadster and Model S and pla
use much of this technology in Model X, Model 3r éuture electric vehicles and powertrain composaédhat we build for other manufacture
Our powertrain and battery pack have a modulamgtesinabling future generations of electric velsi@ad our stationary storage applications
to incorporate a significant amount of this tecloggl Further, our powertrain is very compact ancdtains far fewer moving parts than the
internal combustion powertrain. These features lenabto adapt it for a variety of applications;liding our future vehicles and any
powertrain components we build for other manufatur

Battery Pack

We design our battery packs to achieve high endeggity at a low cost while also maintaining safedjiability and long life. For
example, we have designed our Model S battery pacgwore 85 kilowatt hours of useful energy anférof warranty of unlimited miles over
eight years. Our proprietary technology includesliog systems, safety systems, charge balancingregs battery engineering for vibration
and environmental durability, robotic manufacturprgcesses, customized motor design and the s&ftarat electronics management system:
necessary to manage battery and vehicle performamser demanding real-life driving conditions. Wavé significant experience and
expertise in the safety and management systemedeedvork with lithium-ion cells in the demandiagtomotive environment. We believe
these advancements have enabled us to productesyhEck at a low cost per kilowatt-hour.
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We have designed our battery pack system to pdexibility with respect to battery cell chemistfigrm factor and vendor. In so doing,
we believe that we can leverage the substantitétyatell investments and advancements being miathalty by battery cell manufacturers ¢
ourselves to continue to improve the cost per kdtisaour of our battery pack. We maintain an indirattery cell testing lab and an extensive
performance database of the many available lithinmeell vendors and chemistry types. We intenthtorporate the battery cells that provide
the best value and performance possible into ottieftygpacks, and we expect this to continue ovee tas battery cells continue to improve in
energy storage capacity, longevity, power delivamg cost. We believe this flexibility will enabls to continue to evaluate new battery cell
they become commercially viable, and thereby oinfiattery pack system performance and cost focuwent and future vehicles. In
addition, we are designing the cell manufacturiggiement for the Tesla Gigafactory to enable flditibin terms of battery chemistry and
form factor. We believe our ability to changetbat cell chemistries and vendors while retaining existing investments in software,
electronics, manufacturing equipment, testing agticle packaging, will enable us to quickly depl@yious battery cells into our products anc
leverage the latest advancements in battery aihtdogy.

The range of our electric vehicles on a single ghaleclines principally as a function of usageetand charging patterns. Customers’
use of their Tesla vehicle as well as the frequemidly which they charge the battery of their Testhicle can result in additional deterioration
of the battery’s ability to hold a charge. For exdanwe currently expect that the Tesla Roadstgelyapack will retain approximately 70% of
its ability to hold its initial charge after appimately 100,000 miles or seven years, which wilulein a decrease to the vehicle’s initial range
In comparison with the Roadster battery pack, prielary internal testing and customer results of Bl@&ito date suggest that the retention rat
of the Model S battery pack is greater, due to aupments at the battery cell and pack level. Irtanid based on internal testing, we estimate
that the Model S would have an approximate 5-108a¢ton in range when operated continuously in @i@peratures.

To date, we have tested hundreds of battery cktlfferent chemistries, form factors and desigdased on this evaluation, we are
presently using lithium-ion battery cells basedto#n 18650 form factor in all of our battery packée intend to use the same battery cell form
factor in Model X and entered into a supply agreetméth Panasonic Corporation (Panasonic) for e af Panasonic’s battery cells in Model
S and Model X. We expect these battery cells tabéxbetter performance and longer lifetimes tham Ibattery cells used in the Tesla
Roadster.

Power Electronics

The power electronics in our electric powertraingym the flow of electrical current throughout tte, primarily the current that flows
into and out of the battery pack. The power elego®have two primary functions, the control ofgee generation in the motor while driving
and the control of energy delivery back into thédyg pack while charging.

The first function is accomplished through the drimverter, which converts direct current (DC) frime battery pack into alternating
current (AC) to drive our three-phase induction onst The drive inverter also converts the AC getieeray regenerative braking back into DC
for electrical storage in the battery pack. Theainverter performs this function by using a hjggrformance digital signal processor which
runs some of the most complicated and detailedvanét in the vehicle. In so doing, the drive inveitedirectly responsible for the
performance, high efficiency and overall drivingpexience of the vehicle.

The second function, charging the battery pacactomplished by the charger, which converts altergaurrent (usually from a wall
outlet or other electricity source) into directm@nt that can be accepted by the battery. Teslglestcan recharge on a variety of AC electrica
sources, from a common outlet to a high power @imfuup to 22kW, which provides faster rechargikghicles in both the United States and
Europe come with the Tesla Mobile Connector whichldes charging from a variety of different outlétsother markets, Tesla offers a Tesla
Wall Connector that can be hardwired at a wide eavfgpower levels to suit the electrical capalgiitof the charging location.

The most common home charging system uses a sthhiggr power and Mobile Connector to charge ovérmid@n the road, customers
can also charge using our Supercharger networkawariety of destinations that have deployedatarging equipment. In addition, Model S
vehicles can also charge at a variety of publicgihg stations around the world, either nativelylopugh a suite of adaptei&his flexibility in
charging provides customers with additional mahiithile also allowing them to conveniently chathe vehicle overnight at home.
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Vehicle Control and Infotainment Software

The performance and safety systems of our veharldsheir battery packs require sophisticated obstftware. There are numerous
processors in our vehicles to control these funstiand we write custom firmware for many of thesecessors. The flow of electricity
between the battery pack and the motor must béytigbntrolled in order to deliver the performarased behavior expected in the vehicle. For
example, software algorithms enable the vehiclaitoic the “creep” feeling which drivers expect fr@n internal combustion engine vehicle
without having to apply pressure on the acceler&wnilar algorithms control traction, vehicle st and the sustained acceleration and
regenerative braking of the vehicle. Software #ésgsed extensively to monitor the charge statach of the cells of the battery pack and to
manage all of its safety systems. Drivers usertf@rnation and control systems in our vehiclesftinize performance, customize vehicle
behavior, manage charging modes and times andatatitinfotainment functions. We develop almostddlthis software, including most of t
user interfaces, internally. We are also develgixpertise in vehicle autopilot systems, inclgdioad tracking, lane changing, automated
parking, driver warning systems and automated hgakinctions.

Vehicle Design and Engineering

In addition to the design, development and prodmatif the powertrain, we have created significarttduse capabilities in the design
and engineering of electric vehicles and electeicisle components and systems. We design and emrdindies, chassis, interiors, heating anc
cooling and low voltage electrical systems in hoaisé to a lesser extent in conjunction with ourpdigps. Our team has core competencies in
computer aided design and crash test simulationshwine expect to reduce the product developmerg tifmew models.

Several traditional automotive subsystems requstdastantial redesign and custom optimization tegrate with the powertrain of an
electric vehicle. For example, we redesigned tlaihg, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) sgat to integrate with the battery thermal
management system and to operate without the egermgrated from an internal combustion engine. Ale ldeveloped expertise in
integrating these components with the high-voliageer source in the vehicle and in designing coreptsthat significantly reduce their load
on the vehicle battery pack, thereby maximizingateilable range of the vehicle.

Additionally, our team has expertise in lightweighaterials, a very important characteristic foccie vehicles given the impact of me
on range. Model S is built with a lightweight alumaim body and chassis which incorporates a varietyaterials and production methods that
help optimize the weight of the vehicle.

Sales and Marketing
Company-Owned Stores and Galleries

We market and sell cars directly to consumers tiinaan international network of company-owned staras galleries. Our Tesla stores
and galleries are highly visible, premium outletsriajor metropolitan markets, some of which comb@ateil sales and service. We have also
found that opening a service center in a new ggbgcaarea can increase demand. As a result, wedwaaplemented our store strategy with
sales facilities and personnel in service centeradre rapidly expand our retail footprint. We reffethese as “Service Plus” locations.
Including all of our sales, Service Plus and ser¥acilities, we operated 159 locations aroundabdd as of December 31, 2014.

We believe that by owning our own sales and semé@w®/ork we can offer a compelling customer expex@ewhile achieving operating
efficiencies and capturing sales and service res®imcumbent automobile manufacturers do not enjblye traditional franchised distribution
and service model. Our customers deal directly withown Tesla-employed sales and service stafgtiorg what we believe is a differentiated
buying experience from the buying experience corsarhave with franchised automobile dealers andcgecenters. We believe we will also
be able to better control costs of inventory, managrranty service and pricing, maintain and stitegig the Tesla brand, and obtain rapid
customer feedback. Further, we believe that by ogrour sales network we will avoid the conflictioferest in the traditional dealership
structure inherent to most incumbent automobile ufesturers where the sale of warranty parts andirepy a dealer are a key source of
revenue and profit for the dealer but often arexgrense for the vehicle manufacturer.
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Tesla Supercharger Network

We are building a network of up to 120 kW fast c¢jirag equipment, each called a Tesla Superchatgeydghout North America,
Europe and Asia for fast charging of Model S artdriei Tesla vehicles. Our Supercharger networksisadegic corporate initiative designed to
remove a barrier to the broader adoption of eleothicles caused by the perception of limited elehiange and to provide free charging
access to Tesla's existing customers. The Teglar8harger is an industrial grade, high speed enalgsigned to replenish 170 miles of rang
in the battery pack in as little as 30 minutes.&3aparger stations typically have between fouetoSuperchargers and are strategically place
primarily along well-travelled highways to allow Mel S owners to enjoy long distance travel withveament, minimal stops. We currently
have 380 Supercharger stations open in North AmgHarope, and Asia. Access to the Superchargeroneis currently available free of
charge to owners of Model S vehicles with the 85hkiveittery pack options and when purchased as aonipfption for 60 kWh. We are
planning to methodically expand the Superchargewvark over the next few years in the United Staasope and Asia.

Destination Charging

We are working with a wide variety of locationsgluding hotels and popular destinations, to offeadditional charging option for our
customers. These destination charging partnedsylepr wall connectors and provide charging fréetmrge to Model S owners. Almost
1,000 locations in Asia and North America currethifye 1,800 Tesla wall connectors installed. Vém pb expand the Destination Charging
program into Europe in Q2 of this year.

Orders and Reservations

We typically carry a very limited inventory of oMtodel S vehicles at our Tesla stores. The vast ntwjof our customers customize
their vehicle by placing an order with us. We regqa $2,500 payment to begin production for thesech is collected once the customer has
selected the vehicle specifications and has entated purchase agreement. In certain marketsegeire additional payments a few weeks
prior to delivery. We require all remaining paymehthe purchase price of the vehicle upon delivarthe vehicle to the customer.

For Model X, which is currently not in productiome require an initial refundable reservation payhwérat least $5,000. Reservation
payments and deposits are used by us to fund rinqaa working capital requirements and help ualign production with demand.

Marketing
Our principal marketing goals are to:
. generate demand for our vehicles and drive leadstsales teams;
. build long-term brand awareness and manage cogpoptitation;
. manage our existing customer base to create logalfycustomer referrals; and
. enable customer input into the product developrpestess.

Historically, we have been able to generate sigaifi media coverage of our company and our vehiales we believe we will continue
to do so. To date, media coverage and word of mioatle been the primary drivers of our sales leadshave helped us achieve sales without
traditional advertising and at relatively low makg costs.

Our marketing efforts include events where our sigisi are displayed and demonstrated. These ewarge from widely attended public
events, such as the Detroit, Los Angeles, and Fuankuto shows, to smaller events oriented towaedss, such as private drive events.

Service and Warranty
Service

We provide service for our electric vehicles at company-owned service centers, at our ServicelBbagions or, in certain areas for an
additional charge, through Tesla Ranger mobilert®idins who provide services that do not requivelacle lift. We own and operate 95
service locations as of December 31, 2014. We @néraiing our plan to build a number of additiosatvice centers in several markets
worldwide.

Model S is designed with the capability to wirelgagpload the data to us via an on-board GSM sys#diowing us to diagnose and
remedy many problems before ever looking at théclehWwhen maintenance or service is required,shotner can schedule service by
contacting one of our Tesla service centers. OslallRangers, or mobile service team, can also perém array of services that do not require
a vehicle lift from the convenience of a customédsne or other remote location.
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We believe that our company-owned service centaaible our technicians to work closely with our emgirs and research and
development teams in Silicon Valley to identify plems, find solutions, and incorporate improveméamsser than incumbent automobile
manufacturers.

New Vehicle Limited Warranty, Maintenance and Extéed Service Plans

For our Model S customers, we provide a four ye&0000 mile New Vehicle Limited Warranty with eyeModel S, subject to
separate limited warranties for the supplementtamt system and battery. During the third quasfe2014, we extended the warranty on our
Model S drive unit to eight years from four. TheviNgehicle Limited Warranty also covers the battimya period of eight years or 125,000
miles or unlimited miles, depending on the sizéhefvehicle’s battery, although the battery’s ciraggapacity is not covered.

In addition to the New Vehicle Limited Warranty, wier a comprehensive maintenance program for M8dehich includes plans
covering maintenance for up to eight years or up0@ 000 miles and an Extended Service Plan. Thetemance plans cover annual
inspections, 24 hour roadside assistance and pitecement of wear and tear parts, excluding tinesthe battery, with either a fixed fee per
visit for Tesla Ranger service or unlimited TesknBer visits for a higher initial purchase priceeTExtended Service Plan covers the repair ¢
replacement of Model S parts for an additional fyesrs or up to an additional 50,000 miles afterNew Vehicle Limited Warranty.

For our Roadster customers, we provided a threeorez6,000 mile New Vehicle Limited Warranty wighrery Tesla Roadster, which
we extended to four years or 50,000 miles for tinelpasers of our 2008 Tesla Roadster. Customersthavopportunity to purchase an
Extended Service Plan for the period after theadrtie New Vehicle Limited Warranty to cover th@ae or replacement of Roadster parts for
up to an additional three years or 36,000 milesyigied they are purchased within a specified peoioime. We have previously provided our
Tesla Roadster customers with a battery replaceopitn to replace the battery in their vehicleamt time after the expiration of the New
Vehicle Limited Warranty but before the tenth ammsary of the purchase date of their vehicles.

Our New Vehicle Limited Warranties and Extendedvi®er plans are subject to certain limitations, asimns or separate warranties,
including certain wear items, such as tires, bygdes, paint and general appearance, and battdorpance, and are intended to cover parts
and labor to repair defects in material or worknhgmén the body, chassis, suspension, interioctedaic systems, battery, powertrain and
brake system. In addition, all plans must be pwetawithin a specified period of time after vehiglechase.

Financial Services

We offer loans and leases in North America, Eurampe Asia primarily through various financial ingtibns. We also offer leases
directly through our captive finance company ins&ftes, the District of Columbia and in 4 provinoé€anada. Certain of our loan
programs provide customers with a resale valueaguee under which those customers have the optisellong their
vehicle back to us during the period of 36 to 3%the following delivery for a pre-determined resaddue. This
structure allows the customer to enjoy the benefitglodel S ownership without concern for its resahlue. We introduced this program in
North America in 2013 and expanded it to selectefean markets in 201In certain markets, we also offer buy back guaesite
to financial institutions which obligate us to regliase, and the institution to sell us, the vebitbe a pre-determined
price. We intend to broaden our financial servigigrings during the next few years.

Manufacturing

We conduct our powertrain and vehicle manufactuand assembly operations at our facilities in Fnetn@alifornia; Lathrop,
California; and Tilburg, Netherlands. We are dsilding a cell and battery manufacturing facilitye Tesla Gigafactory, outside of Reno,
Nevada.

The Tesla Factory in Fremont, CA and Manufacturinigp Lathrop, CA

We manufacture Model S and certain componentsatieatritical to our intellectual property and qtyaltandards for Model S at the
Tesla Factory. The Tesla Factory contains seveaalufacturing operations, including stamping, maiclgincasting, plastics, body assembly,
paint operations, final vehicle assembly and entiref testing. In addition, we manufacture lithiuam battery packs, electric motors,
gearboxes and components both for our vehiclesamulr original equipment manufacturer customértha Tesla Factory. Several major
component systems of our vehicles are purchasedduppliers; however we have a high level of valtictegration in our manufacturing
processes at the Tesla Factory. We recently comadlgmmduction and machining of various aluminum ponents at our facility in Lathrop,
California.

We continue to increase our production capacithafTesla Factory with the goal of producing Mo8eModel X and Model 3 at this
location. In 2015, we intend to create a new bslutyp line to prepare for the expanded productidootti Model S and Model X. We are also
finishing the construction of a new high volumerahop, to be used for Model S, Model X and M@lel
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The Netherlands

Our European headquarters is located in Amstertiatinerlands and houses our sales, service, anchatimiive functions. We also
have operations in Tilburg, Netherlands for finsd@mbly, testing and quality control for vehiclégmately delivered into the European
Union. The Tilburg facility also serves as a pamdpean parts warehouse, remanufacturing site astormmer service center.

The Tesla Gigafactory outside of Reno, Nevada

We are developing the Tesla Gigafactory as a facilhere we work together with our suppliers tegrate battery precursor material,
cell, module and battery pack production in onatmn. We plan to use the battery packs manufadtar¢he Gigafactory for our vehicles and
for our stationary storage applications. We brolaigd on the Gigafactory in June 2014 and currestfyect to produce cells at this site
beginning in 2016 for use initially in Model S aktbdel X. The Gigafactory is currently expected t@ia full production capacity in 2020,
which is anticipated to be sufficient for the protian of approximately 500,000 vehicles annuallyvadl as for the production of our station:
storage applications. By the time the Gigafactegches full, annualized production in 2020, we ekpattery pack production capacity to
reach 50 GWh. Of this, we expect to build 35 GWlealf production capacity at the Gigafactory ancchase 15 GWh of cells from other
manufacturers, potentially including Panasonic.

We believe that the Gigafactory will allow us tchaave a major reduction in the cost of our batpagks of greater than 30% on a per
kWh basis by the end of the first year of volumedarction of Model 3. The total capital expendituassociated with the Gigafactory through
2020 are expected to be $4-$5 billion, of whichragpnately $2 billion is expected to come from BegPanasonic has agreed to partner with
us on the Gigafactory with investments in produtgguipment that it will use to manufacture andobyps with battery cells. We have agreed
to prepare and provide the land, buildings andtiasl invest in production equipment for battergdule and pack production and be
responsible for the overall management. We exjoe@hnounce other partners as construction proggess

Supply Chain

Model S uses over 3,000 purchased parts which wesglobally from over 350 suppliers, the majodfywhom are currently our sing
source suppliers for these components. We havdajme close relationships with several key supglparticularly in the procurement of cells
and certain other key system parts. While we olstamponents from multiple sources whenever posssioiglar to other automobile
manufacturers, many of the components used in ehicles are purchased by us from a single souncaddition, while several sources of the
battery cell we have selected for our battery packsavailable, we have currently fully qualifiealyone cell. We expect to fully qualify
additional cells from other manufacturers in 2015.

We use various raw materials in our business imetpdluminum, steel, cobalt, nickel and copper. Ptiees for these raw materials
fluctuate depending on market conditions and gldleahand for these materials. We believe that we haequate supplies or sources of
availability of the raw materials necessary to nmetmanufacturing and supply requirements. Thezealways risks and uncertainties,
however, with respect to the supply of raw materiaht could impact their availability in sufficiequantities or reasonable prices to meet our
needs.

Quality Control

Our quality control efforts are divided betweendwot quality and supplier quality, both of whicle docused on designing and
producing products and processes with high levialsl@bility. Our product quality engineers worktlwour engineering team and our suppl
to help ensure that the product designs meet fumaltispecifications and durability requirementsr 8upplier quality engineers work with our
suppliers to ensure that their processes and sysesrcapable of delivering the parts we needeatdquired quality level, on time, and on
budget.

Customers and Selected Relationships

We currently sell our cars primarily to individuaistomers. We have strategic or commercial relakigns with Panasonic, Daimler, and
Toyota.

Panasonic

Panasonic supplies us with battery cells for otitelog packs and has partnered with us on the agetgin of the Gigafactory. In January
2010, we announced that we were collaborating Réthasonic on the development of next-generatiatradevehicle cells based on the 18650
form factor and nickel-based lithium ion chemistry October 2011, we finalized a supply agreementtfese battery cells. In October 2013,
we entered into an amendment to the supply agreaimesmmong other things, provide for the long-temmeferential prices and a minimum of
1.8 billion lithium-ion battery cells that we intgmo purchase from Panasonic from 2014 through 20h7July 2014, Panasonic agreed to
partner with us on the Gigafactory.
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Daimler AG

Beginning in 2008, we commenced efforts on a paagridevelopment arrangement with Daimler. Sinee time, we have developed
and produced powertrain components for DaimletferSmart fortwo electric drive program, the A-Glasectric vehicle program and the B-
Class electric vehicle program. We started to suppbduction parts for the B-Class electric vehjmlegram in 2014 and expect to continue to
supply parts under this program for the next fearge

Toyota Motor Corporation

In May 2010, we and Toyota announced our intertiiocooperate on the development of electric vebjaded for us to receive Toyasa’
support with sourcing parts and production and reewying expertise for Model S. Since that time haree developed and produced a validate
powertrain system, including a battery, power eteits module, motor, gearbox and associated sodtwéhich was integrated into an electric
vehicle version of the Toyota RAV4. We began delvef these systems to Toyota for installation itite Toyota RAV4 EV in the first half of
2012. During the third quarter of 2014, we compldtee RAV4 EV program.

Governmental Programs, Incentives and Regulations
Full Repayment of United States Department of Engrigoans

In May 2013, we paid $451.8 million to settle alitstanding loan amounts due under a loan faciléyhad entered into with the Federal
Financing Bank (FFB) and the United States DepartraBEnergy (DOE), under the DOE’s Advanced Tedbgy Vehicles Manufacturing
Loan Program, as set forth in Section 136 of ther§y Independence and Security Act of 2007 (ATVMdPam). We refer to the loan facility
with the DOE as the DOE Loan Facility.

Under the DOE Loan Facility, the FFB had made awdd to us two multi-draw term loan facilities in aggregate principal amount of
$465.0 million beginning on January 20, 2010. Adofust 31, 2012, we had fully drawn down the afoeationed facilities. On May 22,
2013, we paid $451.8 million to fully retire ourligations under the DOE Loan Facility.

In connection with the closing of the DOE Loan kiaciwe had also issued a warrant to the DOE teipase up to 9,255,035 shares of
our Series E convertible preferred stock at anaserprice of $2.51 per share. Upon the compledfaour initial public offering on July 2,
2010, this preferred stock warrant became a watogptirchase up to 3,090,111 shares of common stioak exercise price of $7.54 per share
As a result of our repayment of all outstandingngipal and interest under the DOE Loan Facility #retermination of the DOE Loan Facility
in May 2013, the DOE warrant expired. Additionallye amortized all remaining unamortized debt isseatosts related to the DOE Loan
Facility.

California Alternative Energy and Advanced Transpation Financing Authority Tax Incentives

In December 2009, we finalized an arrangement wittCilgornia Alternative Energy and Advanced Tranmggion Financing Authorit
(CAEATFA) that resulted in an exemption from Cailifa state sales and use taxes for the purcha@26f million of manufacturing
equipment. As the equipment purchased would ottserWave been subject to California state salesisadax, we believe this incentive
resulted in tax savings by us of approximately B8llion over the period starting in December 2008 @nding in December 2013. The
equipment purchases were used for three purpasésestablish our production facility for Modeliis California, (ii) to upgrade our Palo Alto
powertrain production facility, and (iii) to expandr Tesla Roadster assembly operations at ourdveaitk facility. We exhausted all funds
from the December 2009 approved exemption fromf@ailia state sales and use taxes for $320 millfamanufacturing equipment in
December 2013.

In January 2012, we finalized an additional agregméth CAEATFA for an exclusion from Californiaadt sales and use taxes for the
purchase of up to $292 million of manufacturingipqent. To the extent all of this equipment is pa®ed and would otherwise be subject to
California state sales or use tax, we believeittuentive would result in tax savings by us of a@pproximately $24 million over the period
starting in December 2011 and ending in Decembg&b 20he equipment purchased under this exclusionany be used for two purposes:

(i) to develop Model X and its production capadityCalifornia and (ii) to further upgrade our povaim production facilities in California. We
have not yet exhausted the $292 million in fundzreped by CAEATFA in 2012.

In December 2013, we finalized a third agreemeth WIAEATFA that will result in an exclusion from (farnia state sales and use
taxes for an additional $415 million of manufaatgriequipment. To the extent all of this equipmseriurchased and would otherwise be
subject to California state sales or use tax, wievethis 2013 incentive would result in tax sasrby us of up to approximately $35 million
over the period starting in December 2013 and gnisilDecember 2016. The equipment purchased uhgeexclusion may only be used for
three purposes: (i) to expand Model S manufactuaygcity in California,; (i) to expand electrichiele powertrain production in California;
and (iii) future Model S electric vehicle developme
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Regulatory Credits

In connection with the production, delivery, andqament into service of our zero emission vehiclegobal markets, we have earned
and will continue to earn various tradable regulatwedits that can be sold to other manufacturers.

Under California’s Zero-Emission Vehicle Regulascnd those of states that have adopted the Guadifetandards, vehicle
manufacturers are required to ensure that a poofitime vehicles delivered for sale in those stdtetng each model year are zero-emission
vehicles and partial zero-emission vehicles. Culyethe states of Arizona, California, Connectjddtaine, Maryland, Massachusetts, New
Jersey, New Mexico, New York, Oregon, Rhode Island Vermont have such laws in effect. These lawsige that a manufacturer may earn
credits, referred to as ZEV credits, if they proglncore zero-emission vehicles than the minimum tifyanequired by those laws. Those
manufacturers with a surplus of credits may s&ldkcess credits to other manufacturers who canapply such credits to comply with the
regulatory requirements, including making up fofides. As a manufacturer solely of zero-emissi@hicles, we have no minimum
requirement, and therefore earn ZEV credits on gabicle delivered and placed into service in sstelles. We have entered into agreements
with other automobile manufacturers to sell the ZE¥®dits that we earn. Recently, California passedndments to the ZEV mandate that
would require, starting in 2018, all large-volumanmmfacturers (those manufacturers selling 20,008are vehicles in California in 2018) to
increase the number of zero emission vehicles salth that 15.4% of each manufacturers’ fleet rhashade of zero emission vehicles by
2025. All states that have adopted the Califorméegam will amend their programs to conform to iesv California standards.

Additionally, under the Environmental Protectionehgy’s (EPA) national greenhouse gas (GHG) emissandards and similar
standards adopted by the Canadian governmentndarweck manufacturers are required to meet fladevaverage carbon dioxide emissions
standards. Manufacturers who fail to meet suchdstats have a deficit in their emission profile. idtacturers whose fleet wide average
performs better than such standards may earn sréiénufacturers may sell excess credits to otlarufacturers, who can use the credits to
comply with these regulatory requirements. As a ufacturer solely of zero emission vehicles, we ¢aenfull amount of GHG credits
established by the standards on each vehicle B&#chave contracted with another automobile manufacto sell all earned credits.

Under the National Highway Traffic Safety Adminggion’s (NHTSA) Corporate Average Fuel Economy (E)Btandards, car and
truck manufacturers are required to meet fleet-waiderage fuel economy standards. Manufacturerdafiad meet such standards have a
deficit in their fuel economy profile. Manufactusevhose fleet-wide average performs better thah standards may earn
credits. Manufacturers may sell excess creditghierananufacturers, who can use such credits tglyowith these regulatory
requirements. We have entered into agreementdl theeredits that we earn.

Regulation—Vehicle Safety and Testing

Our vehicles are subject to, and comply with oratrerwise exempt from, numerous regulatory requéngts established by NHTSA,
including all applicable United States Federal Matehicle Safety Standards (FMVSS). The Model $/fabmplies with all FMVSSs without
the need for any exemptions. The Roadster comgpiidsor is exempt from all FMVSS.

As a manufacturer, we must self-certify that ounigkes meet all applicable FMVSS, as well as thellSA bumper standard, or
otherwise are exempt, before the vehicles can perirad or sold in the United States. Numerous FM¥S8y to our vehicles, such as crash-
worthiness requirements, crash avoidance requirtsymand electric vehicle requirements. We are @dgaired to comply with other federal
laws administered by NHTSA, including the CAFE slards, Theft Prevention Act requirements, consunfermation labeling requirements,
Early Warning Reporting requirements regarding ety claims, field reports, death and injury rep@md foreign recalls, and ownerhanua
requirements.

The Automobile Information and Disclosure Act regsi manufacturers of motor vehicles to disclostageinformation regarding the
manufacturer’s suggested retail price, optionaigent and pricing. In addition, the Act allows luion of city and highway fuel economy
ratings, as determined by EPA, as well as cragha@eags as determined by NHTSA if such testscareducted.

Our vehicles sold in outside of the U.S. are sulipéoreign safety testing regulations. Many ajghl regulations are different from the
federal motor vehicle safety standards applicablaé United States and may require redesign anet@sting.

Regulation—EPA Emissions & Certificate of Confornyit

The Clean Air Act requires that we obtain both &AEssued Certificate of Conformity and a Calif@miir Resources Board (CARB)-
issued Executive Order with respect to emissionsto vehicles. The Certificate of Conformity igjtgred for vehicles sold in states covered
by the Clean Air Act standards and both the Certificate of Conformitgl the Executive Order are required for vehiatdd & states that ha
sought and received a waiver from the EPA to @iltalifornia standards. The California standard®foissions control for certain regulated
pollutants for new vehicles and engines sold irfQalia are set by CARB. States that have adogtedalifornia standards as approved by
EPA also recognize the Executive Order for salesebfcles.
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Regulation—Battery Safety and Testing

Our battery pack conforms to mandatory regulatibas govern transport of “dangerous goods”, defiteeithiclude lithium-ion batteries,
which may present a risk in transportation. Theagoing regulations, issued by the Pipeline and khmes Materials Safety Administration
(PHMSA), are based on the United Nations (UN) Rememdations and Model Regulations on the Transgddaogerous Goods, as well as
related UN Manual Tests and Criteria. The regutetioary by mode of shipping transportation, suchyascean vessel, rail, truck, or air. We
have completed the applicable transportation festsur prototype and production battery packs, dlestrating our compliance with the UN
Manual of Tests and Criteria. We also subject @itdoy packs to the appropriate tests specifigdarSociety of Automotive Engineers (SAE)
J2464 and J2929 standards, which incorporategastsas immersion, humidity, and exposure to fire.

We use lithium metal oxide cells in our high vokdupttery packs. The cells do not contain any lesdcury, cadmium, other hazardous
materials, heavy metals, or toxic materials. Outdog packs include certain packaging materials ¢batain trace amounts of hazardous
chemicals whose use, storage, and disposal isategiulinder federal law. We currently have an agesémvith a third party battery recycling
company to recycle our battery packs. If a custowishes to dispose of a battery pack from one ofvehicles, we anticipate accepting the
depleted battery from the customer without any toithl charge.

Automobile Manufacturer and Dealer Regulation

State laws regulate the manufacture, distributionl sale of automobiles, and generally require matbicle manufacturers and dealers
to be licensed in order to sell vehicles direaticbnsumers in the state. As we open additiondbTasres and service centers, we secure ¢
licenses (or their equivalent) and engage in satésities to sell our vehicles directly to consumeA few states, such as Texas and Michigan,
do not permit automobile manufacturers to be liedrss dealers or to act in the capacity of a deadatherwise restrict a manufacturer’s
ability to deliver or service vehicles. To sell idhs to residents of states where we are notdiedas a dealer, we must generally conduct the
sale out of the state via the internet, phone dk. timesuch states, we have opened “galleribsit serve an educational purpose and are not
locations.

As we expand our retail footprint in the Unitedt8a some automobile dealer trade associationst@hechallenged the legality of our
operations in court and used administrative aniglietive processes to attempt to prohibit or limit ability to operate existing stores or exg
to new locations. Although we have thus far preadhih every lawsuit brought by dealer associatisresexpect that the dealer associations
continue to mount challenges to our business mémdelddition, we expect the dealer associatioractively lobbying state Governors and
legislators to interpret existing laws or enact raws in ways not favorable to Tesla’'s ownershig aperation of its own retail and service
locations.

While we have analyzed the principal laws in the B8, China, Japan, UK, and Australia relating tio distribution model and believe
we comply with such laws, we have not performedmaplete analysis of all jurisdictions in which wayrsell vehicles. Accordingly, there
may be laws in certain jurisdictions that may fiestur sales and service operations.

Competition

The worldwide automotive market, particularly fdteanative fuel vehicles, is highly competitive tgdand we expect it will become
even more so in the future as we introduce additjdawer priced vehicles such as our Model 3. Whelve the impact of new regulatory
requirements for occupant safety and vehicle eomssitechnological advances in powertrain and aoeselectronics components, and
shifting customer needs and expectations are agtisnindustry to evolve in the direction of eleztrased vehicles. We believe the primary
competitive factors in our markets include but@oelimited to:

e technological innovatior

e product quality and safet

e service options

e product performance

e design and styling

e brand perceptior

e product price; an

e manufacturing efficiency

We believe that our vehicles compete in the maikét based on their traditional segment classificaas well as based on their
propulsion technology. For example, Model S competamarily in the extremely competitive premiundae market with internal combustion

vehicles from more established automobile manufacsuincluding Audi, BMW, Lexus and Mercedes. @ehicles also compete with vehic
propelled by alternative fuels, principally elecity.
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Many established and new automobile manufacturre kentered or have announced plans to entertdreative fuel vehicle market.
BMW, Daimler, Nissan, Fiat, Ford and Mitsubishi,@rg others, have electric vehicles available totégreover, Porsche, Lexus, Audi,
Volkswagen and Volvo are also developing electehigles. Electric vehicles have also already beendht to market in China and other
foreign countries and we expect a number of thaseufacturers to enter the United States marketedls W addition, several manufacturers,
including General Motors, Toyota, Ford, and Horate, each selling hybrid vehicles, and certain ef¢hmanufacturers have announced plug-
versions of their hybrid vehicles.

Most of our current and potential competitors hsigmificantly greater resources than we do, magtie to devote greater resources to
the manufacture, sale and support of their prodactd have other advantages. We believe our exeldiscus on electric vehicles and electric
vehicle components, as well as our history of Mehilevelopment and production, however, are thes lmaswhich we can compete in the glc
automotive market in spite of the challenges pdsedur competition.

Intellectual Property

As part of our business, we seek to protect oedlatdtual property rights in various ways, incluglihrough trademarks, copyrights, tr
secrets, including know-how, patents, patent appibos, employee and third party nondisclosureeagemnts, intellectual property licenses anc
other contractual rights. Additionally, consisterth our mission to accelerate the advent of soatale transport, we announced a patent polic
in which we irrevocably pledged that we will nottiate a lawsuit against any party for infringingrgpatents through activity relating to elec
vehicles or related equipment for so long as swetyps acting in good faith. We made this ple@gerder to encourage the advancement of ¢
common, rapidly-evolving platform for electric velds, thereby benefiting ourselves, other compamiglsing electric vehicles, and the world.

Segment Information

We have determined that we operate as one repesagment, which is the design, development, matwrfag and sales of electric
vehicles and electric powertrain components. Flmrimation regarding financial data by geograph&aar see Note 10 to our Consolidated
Financial Statements included in this Annual ReparForm 10-K under Item &inancial Statements and Supplementary Data

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had 10,161 full-timelkeryees. To date, we have not experienced any stoppages, and we consider
our relationship with our employees to be good.

Available Information

We file or furnish periodic reports and amendméinéseto, including our Annual Reports on Form 10K Quarterly Reports on Form
10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K; proxy statgsiand other information with the Securities amdiiange Commission (SEC). Such
reports, amendments, proxy statements and otr@mniation may be obtained by visiting the Publicdefice Room of the SEC at 100 F
Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. Informatiortioa operation of the Public Reference Room carbit&ied by calling the SEC at 1-800-
SEC-0330. In addition, the SEC maintains a welfsite/w.sec.goy) that contains reports, proxy and informationestagnts, and other
information regarding issuers that file electroflicaDur reports, amendments thereto, proxy statémand other information are also made
available, free of charge, on our investor relaiambsite at ir.teslamotors.cam soon as reasonably practicable after we elecadbnfile or
furnish such information with the SEC. The inforioatposted on our website is not incorporated ligremce into this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

| TEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risks describeldWw together with the other information set farthhis report, which could material
affect our business, financial condition and futtgsults. The risks described below are not thg asks facing our company. Risks and
uncertainties not currently known to us or thateuerently deem to be immaterial also may materialliyersely affect our business, financial
condition and operating results.
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Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We may experience significant delays or other coiogtions in the design, manufacture, launch and mhaction ramp of Model X, as
well as future vehicles such as Model 3, which cddiiarm our brand, business, prospects, financiahclition and operating results.

We may experience significant delays or other cacapibns in bringing new vehicles to market. Foa®le, while we expect Model X
deliveries to start in the third quarter of 201&fjrements resulting from ongoing development axdresive testing of this vehicle could result
in delays in its introduction. Complications coaldo arise from other factors, including the exgiam of our production capacity required to
bring Model X to market, finalization of it suppthain, and completion of regulatory approvals. @&hef the Model X launch, we plan to
expand capacity in several areas for our curresifature vehicles, including installing a statetled art, highly automated casting and
machining operation for various aluminum componéotour vehicles, increasing production on our riFive unit line, installing a new
robotic body assembly shop for Model X productiod @ommissioning a new paint facility. Our suprdienay not be able to provide
components in a timely manner, at an acceptabde jri in the necessary quantities. Finally, we algb need to do extensive testing to ensure
that Model X is in compliance with applicable NHTSAfety regulations and obtain EPA and CARB cesifon to emission regulations prior
to beginning volume production and delivery of tledicles.

We, as well as other automobile manufacturers, leaperienced delays or other complications in cotioe with new vehicle models.
In 2012, we experienced delays in the productiompraf Model S and in 2014, we delayed the staprofluction ramp of All-Wheel Drive
Dual Motor Model S. Any significant delay or othmplication in the development, manufacture, tduand production ramp of Model X or
our future vehicles, including complications asatail with expanding our production capacity, sumgblgin or regulatory approvals, could
materially damage our brand, business, prospegtsdial condition and operating results.

Our long-term success will be dependent upon ouiliabto design, build and achieve market acceptanaf new vehicle models,
specifically Model S and new vehicle models suchvézdel X and Model 3.

Our long-term success is dependent on market ssnoepdf the Model S sedan and future electric Vehiwe introduce. In the United
States, there is no guarantee that Model S wiltinaa to be successfully accepted by the genefalgqwespecially in the long-term. As we
expand in Europe and Asia, there is no guarantgectistomers in these markets will embrace ourckeshiand if they do not, demand for our
vehicles could be lower than our expectations.

Moreover, there can be no assurance that we walibeto design future electric vehicles that witet the expectations of our custon
or that our future models, including the Model Xssover, will become commercially viable. To date,have publicly revealed only an early
prototype of the Model X. Work continues on theafination of Model X with Beta Model X vehicles wrdjoing extensive testing. To the
extent that we are not able to build Model X in@dance with the expectations created by the gadiptype and our announced specificati
and schedule, customers may cancel their resengatbur future sales could be harmed and investasslose confidence in us.

In addition, we have also announced our inteneteetbp Model 3 which we expect to produce at theld Eactory after the introduction
of Model X. We intend to offer this vehicle at aver price point and expect to produce it at highsdumes than our Model S. Importantly, we
anticipate producing Model 3 for the mass markelt thus we will need a high-volume supply of lithidom cells at reasonable prices.

While we intend each of our production vehicles Hrair variants to meet a distinct segment of iemotive market, our vehicles may
end up competing with each other which may delégssand associated revenue to future periods. Klse fail to accurately anticipate
demand for each of our vehicles, this could resulefficient expenditures and production deldysrthermore, historically, automobile
customers have come to expect new and improvedleaiiodels to be introduced frequently. In ordemtet these expectations, we may be
required to introduce on a regular basis new vehiobdels as well as enhanced versions of existhicle models. As automotive technolog
change, including those specific to electric vadscwe anticipate our customers will expect uspigrade or adapt our vehicles and introduce
new models in order to continue to provide vehiglith the latest technology. To date, we have kahiéxperience simultaneously designing,
testing, manufacturing, upgrading, adapting anlihgebur electric vehicles as well as limited expace allocating our available resources
among the design and production of multiple velsicle

16




We may be unable to increase production and delie#gnf Model S in line with our plans, both of whiccould harm our business and
prospects.

Since we began manufacturing and delivering Model 12, we have significantly increased produtaod deliveries, and our plans
call for an even greater increase in productiondaliveries going forward. As part of this effaste recently completed a new final assembly
line and added more automation to our body shdpeaEremont factory, are installing a highly autéedacasting and machining operation for
various aluminum components and are finishing thestruction of a new high volume paint shop. Oulitglio further ramp-up high volume
Model S production, including for the All-Wheel D& Dual Motor Model S, which we recently began prwidg for the first time, will depend
upon a number of factors, including our abilityuse these new manufacturing processes as planriledmdintaining our desired quality
levels, our suppliers’ ability to deliver qualitagts to us in a timely manner, and efficiently nmakdesign changes to ensure consistently high
quality. To produce a vehicle that meets our qualiatndards requires us to carefully analyze etsghaf our production plan, improve the
efficiency of our manufacturing processes and cmgtito train our employees. Our suppliers also prastuce new products in sufficient
guantities and quality to meet our demand. Cegappliers have experienced delays in meeting omade or have sought to renegotiate the
terms of the supply arrangements, and we contimfiecus on supplier capabilities and constraintsy Aisruption in increasing our production
level of Model S in line with our plans could maadly damage our brand, business, prospects, finhoondition and operating results.

In addition, for Model S we have introduced a numifenew manufacturing technologies and technigsiesh as aluminum spot weld
systems, which have not been widely adopted iratliemotive industry; and the Model S has a numbaew and unique design features, s
as a 17 inch display screen, retractable extedor Handles, and all-new dual motor and autop#otitvare, each of which poses unique
manufacturing challenges. Model S production arveiges will continue to require significant resoas and we may experience unexpected
delays or difficulties that could harm our abilitymaintain full manufacturing capacity for Modeld cause us to miss planned production
targets, any of which could have a material adveffeet on our financial condition and operatingulés. Additionally, sustaining high volume
production and doing so in a manner that avoidsifsignt cost overruns, including as a result atéas beyond our control such as problems
with suppliers and vendors, may be difficult.

Concurrent with the significant increase in oumpled production levels, we will also need to camtimo significantly increase our
deliveries of Model S vehicles. We have limited esience in delivering a high volume of Model S \as, and, in particular, to locations
outside of the United States. We may face diffieglimeeting our delivery and growth plans in Asid the right hand drive markets we have
entered, which may impact our ability to achieve warldwide delivery goals. If we are unable to paap to meet our delivery goals globally
to match our production rate of Model S, this cawslult in negative publicity, damage our brand bhade a material adverse effect on our
business, prospects, financial condition and opeyaesults.

Our ability to grow volume production and deliveriier Model S is subject to certain risks and utaeties, including:

e that our suppliers will be able and willing tdider components on a timely basis and in the nrergsquantities, quality and at
acceptable prices to produce Model S in volumeraadh our financial target

e that we will be able to complete any necessajysatients to the vehicle design or manufacturiragesses of Model S in a timely
manner that meets our production plan and allowkifgh quality vehicles

e that we will be able to fully ramp production ofl-Wheel Drive Dual Motor Model S to keep up with dedg
e that we will be able to ramp sales of Model S tigloaut Asia, pursuant to our current timeli

e that we will be able to adequately respond in &ljnmanner to any problems that may arise withvalmicles;
e that we will be able to schedule and complete dei@s at our planned higher volume production ke

e that the equipment or tooling which we have pasg or which we select, including those that areqf our higher capacity
production line that recently became operationdl,be able to accurately manufacture the vehidthiw specified design
tolerances, and will not suffer from unexpectedakodwns or damage which could negatively affect#te needed to produce
vehicles in volume

e that we will be able to comply with environmentabrkplace safety, customs and similar regulatieugiired to operate our
manufacturing facilities

e that we will be able to maintain and improve gyatontrols as we transition to a higher levelrehouse manufacturing process;
and

e that the information technology systems that veecairrently expanding and improving upon will bieetive to manage higher
volume production

Finally, detailed long-term testing of quality,iedility and durability of Model S is ongoing andyanegative results from such testing
could cause production or delivery delays, costiases, or lower quality of our Model S vehicles.
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Problems or delays in bringing the Gigafactory oné and operating it in line with our expectation®uald negatively affect us.

To lower the cost of cell production and producksda volume to allow us to grow quickly, we intéio integrate the production of
lithium-ion cells and finished battery packs for @ehicles at our new Gigafactory. Our Gigafactplgn, however, is at an early stage. While
we recently entered into various formal agreemeiitts Panasonic on the Gigafactory, we have vetlg léxperience in building a factory of 1
size and scope planned for the Gigafactory, anelkperience directly in the production of lithiummioells. In addition, to date we have not
finalized agreements with additional Gigafactorytpers that will be co-located at the Gigafact@klgo, the cost of building and operating the
Gigafactory could exceed our current expectationsthe Gigafactory may take longer to bring ontimen we anticipate. If we are unable to
build the Gigafactory in a timely manner to prodbigh volumes of quality lithium-ion cells at reasile prices, then our ability to supply
battery packs to our vehicles, including Model &ading to our schedule and/or at a price thawallus to sell them profitably and in the
guantities we estimate could be constrained. Ay suoblems or delays with Gigafactory could negayi affect our brand and harm our
business, prospects, financial condition and opeyaesults.

If our vehicles or vehicles that contain our poweatns fail to perform as expected, or if we suffproduct recalls, our ability to develop,
market and sell our electric vehicles could be hardch

Our vehicles or vehicles that contain our powensauch as the Toyota RAV4 EV or the Mercedes-Be@4ass EV may contain
defects in design and manufacture that may caese tiot to perform as expected or that may reqejpair. For example, our vehicles are
highly dependent on software to operate. Softwavduyrcts are inherently complex and often contafeats and errors when first introduced,
and changes to software may have unexpected effdotiel S issues experienced by customers inclioleetrelated to the software for the 17
inch display screen, the panoramic roof and thealPbattery. Although we attempt to remedy the MIo8 issues experienced by our
customers in a rapid manner, such efforts may adinbely or up to the satisfaction of our customers

While we have performed extensive internal testimg currently have a limited frame of referencenthyjch to evaluate the long-term
performance of our battery packs, powertrains afdoles. Specifically, we have only a limited ambohdata by which to evaluate Model S,
upon which our business prospects depend, duetiath that we only recently began production ineJA012. There can be no assurance tha
we will be able to detect and fix any defects ia tiehicles prior to their sale to consumers.

We have experienced product recalls, including ayM009, October 2010, and June 2013, all of whiete unrelated to our electric
powertrain. In May 2009, we initiated a productakkafter we determined that a condition causethbuyfficient torqueing of the rear inner hub
flange bolt existed in some of our Tesla Roadstess result of a missed process during the matuéacf the Tesla Roadster glider, which is
the partially assembled Tesla Roadster that doesambain our electric powertrain. In October 204, initiated a product recall for some of
our Tesla Roadsters after the 12 volt, low voltageiliary cable in a single vehicle chafed agathstedge of a carbon fiber panel in the ver
causing a short, smoke and possible fire behindigih front headlamp of the vehicle. In June 2048, initiated a recall of slightly more than a
thousand Model S vehicles to inspect and repairgeat strikers that may have been compromisedgltine assembly process. Rear seat
strikers are used to retain the rear seat bacés irpright position. Failure of this component rhaye resulted in the collapse of the rear seat
back during a crash. Although the cost of this ltagas not material, and limited to a small numbgtotal Model S’'s produced, we may
experience additional recalls in the future, whiolild adversely affect our brand in our target ratgkas well as our business, prospects and
results of operations.

In January 2014 we implemented a firmware updagalthress issues with certain Universal Mobile CototeNEMA 14-50 adapters,
which are part of the charging units and are nat @fathe vehicles themselves, potentially overimeatiuring charging. We further announced
that we would provide upgraded NEMA 14-50 adaptermsur customers as an additional safeguard. H saeasures do not adequately addres
the underlying concerns, our business, prospectsesults of operations could be harmed.

Our electric vehicles may not perform consistenthwiustomers’ expectations or consistent with ottedricles currently available. For
example, our electric vehicles may not have thalility or longevity of current vehicles, and magtbe as easy to repair as other vehicles
currently on the market. Additionally, while Modglrecently achieved an overall five star safetingahy NHTSA, there is no guarantee that
future model years or variants or other Tesla vekiwill also attain such safety ratings, and amghgating is not a guarantee of safe product
design or that any individual vehicle will be freeany defect or failure.

Any product defects or any other failure of ourfpenance electric vehicles to perform as expecteddcharm our reputation and result
in adverse publicity, lost revenue, delivery delgyeduct recalls, product liability claims, harexdur brand and reputation, and significant
warranty and other expenses, and could have aialadverse impact on our business, financial doomli operating results and prospects.
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We are dependent on our suppliers, the majoritydfich are single source suppliers, and the inahjlibf these suppliers to continue to
deliver, or their refusal to deliver, necessary cpaments of our vehicles in a timely manner at prigguality levels, and volumes
acceptable to us would have a material adverseaféa our financial condition and operating results

Model S contains numerous purchased parts whickowece globally from over 300 direct suppliers, tigority of whom are currently
single source suppliers for these components. Weatxhat Model X will be sourced in an approxinhagémilar manner. While we obtain
components from multiple sources whenever possiloi@|ar to other automobile manufacturers, thearigj of the components used in our
vehicles are purchased by us from single souraeslaie we have not qualified alternative sourcesnfost of the single sourced components
used in our vehicles and we do not maintain lomgytagreements with a number of our suppliers.

While we believe that we may be able to establisgrrzate supply relationships and can obtain oirexgg replacement components for
our single source components, we may be unable gwdn the short term, or at all, at prices ottsdsat are favorable to us. In particular,
while we believe that we will be able to secureralate sources of supply for most of our singles®dicomponents in a relatively short time
frame, qualifying alternate suppliers or developing own replacements for certain highly customizechponents of our vehicles may be time
consuming, costly and may force us to make additiorodifications to a vehicle’s design.

This limited supply chain exposes us to multipléeptial sources of delivery failure or componerdrsfiges for our vehicles, as well as
for our powertrain component sales activities. &mample, earthquakes similar to the one that oedurr Japan in March 2011 or labor issues
such as work stoppages or strikes at the porte@mwest coast could negatively impact our suppgirchVe have in the past experienced
source disruptions in our supply chains, includimgse relating to our slower-than-anticipated rampur Model S production goals for 2012.
We may experience additional delays in the futuite vespect to Model S, Model X and any other fatuehicle we may produce.

In addition, because we have written agreementaice with the majority, but not all, of our suggpi, this may create uncertainty
regarding a supplier’s obligations to us, including not limited to, those regarding warranty anodpict liability. Changes in business
conditions, wars, governmental changes and otletofabeyond our control or which we do not preyemtticipate, could also affect our
suppliers’ability to deliver components to us on a timelyibaBurthermore, if we experience significantlyreased demand, or need to rep
certain existing suppliers, there can be no assartdrat additional supplies of component parts béllavailable when required on terms thai
favorable to us, at all, or that any supplier waalldcate sufficient supplies to us in order to tree requirements or fill our orders in a timely
manner. In the past, we have replaced certain mupfilecause of their failure to provide componéms met our quality control standards.
loss of any single or limited source supplier @ tlisruption in the supply of components from thegapliers could lead to delays in vehicle
deliveries to our customers, which could hurt alationships with our customers and also materatig adversely affect our financial
condition and operating results.

Changes in our supply chain have resulted in tis& pad may result in the future, in increased aostdelay. We have also experiencec
cost increases from certain of our suppliers ireotd meet our quality targets and developmentliires as well as due to design changes that
we made, and we may experience similar cost inegeimsthe future. Additionally, we are negotiatimigh existing suppliers for cost reductio
seeking new and less expensive suppliers for cgptaits, and attempting to redesign certain pamsake them cheaper to produce. If we are
unsuccessful in our efforts to control and redugep$ier costs, our operating results will suffedditionally, cost reduction efforts may
interrupt or harm our normal production procestiesxeby harming vehicle quality or reducing Modedr8duction output.

Furthermore, a failure by our suppliers to prowitke components in a timely manner or at the lef’/guality necessary to manufacture
our performance electric vehicles could preverfram fulfilling customer orders in a timely fashievhich could result in negative publicity,
damage our brand and have a material adverse effemtr business, prospects, financial conditiath gperating results.

Finally, in October 2013, we entered into an amegino our existing supply agreement with Panas@oiporation in order to address
our anticipated short- to medium-term lithium-icattery cell needs. While we expect that this supglseement, as amended, will provide us
with sufficient cells for the next few years, weynmeot be able to meet our long-term needs, inclydion Model 3 and other programs we may
introduce, without securing additional supplierotirer sources for cells. We have recently sigmedgaeement with Panasonic to be our
partner in the Gigafactory and be responsibledorpng other things, manufacturing cells from tHerause in our products. If we encounter
unexpected difficulties with our current supplidrgluding Panasonic, and if we are unable talidlse needs from other suppliers, we could
experience production delays, which could have tenz adverse effect on our financial condition aperating results.
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Our future growth is dependent upon consumers’ wiljness to adopt electric vehicles.

Our growth is highly dependent upon the adoptiodnysumers of, and we are subject to an elevatkafiany reduced demand for,
alternative fuel vehicles in general and electabieles in particular. If the market for electriehicles in North America, Europe and Asia does
not develop as we expect, or develops more sldwdp tve expect, our business, prospects, finaneralition and operating results will be
harmed. The market for alternative fuel vehiclelatively new, rapidly evolving, characterizedrapidly changing technologies, price
competition, additional competitors, evolving gaveent regulation and industry standards, frequent vehicle announcements and changing
consumer demands and behaviors.

Other factors that may influence the adoption tdrahtive fuel vehicles, and specifically electrihicles, include:

perceptions about electric vehicle quality, safet particular with respect to lithium-ion batyguacks), design, performance and
cost, especially if adverse events or accidentarabat are linked to the quality or safety of élecvehicles, such as those related
to the Chevrolet Volt battery pack fires or incitemvolving Model S

perceptions about vehicle safety in generalainigular safety issues that may be attributedhéouse of advanced technology,
including vehicle electronics and regenerative Ingisystems

negative perceptions of electric vehicles, sugthat they are more expensive than etattric vehicles and are only affordable \
government subsidie

the limited range over which electric vehicles rbaydriven on a single battery charge and the eff@fciveather on this rang
the decline of an electric vehi’s range resulting from deterioration over timehia batter’s ability to hold a chargt

varied calculations for driving ranges achievaieEVs, which is inherently difficult given numerm®factors affecting battery
range;

concerns about electric grid capacity and rdiigbivhich could derail our past and present effdo promote electric vehicles as a
practical solution to vehicles which require gase]

concerns by potential customers that if theitdygtpack is not charged properly, it may becomgsable and may need to be
replaced

the availability of alternative fuel vehicles, inding plucin hybrid electric vehicles

improvements in the fuel economy of the internahbastion engine

the availability of service for electric vehicle

consumer’ desire and ability to purchase a luxury automodilene that is perceived as exclusi

the environmental consciousness of consun

volatility in the cost of oil and gasolin

consumer perceptions of the dependency of the United Statesl from unstable or hostile countrie

government regulations and economic incentivempting fuel efficiency and alternate forms of eyyeas well as tax and other
governmental incentives to purchase and operattrieleehicles;

access to charging facilities, standardizatioalettric vehicle charging systems and consumenggptions about convenience anc
cost to charge an electric vehicle; ¢

perceptions about and the actual cost of alteradtie!.

In addition, reports have suggested the potertratktreme temperatures to affect the range oopaence of electric vehicles, and
based on our own internal testing, we estimatedhavehicles may experience a material reductioinge when operated in extremely cold
temperatures. To the extent customers have conabmg such reductions or third party reports wisiahgest reductions in range greater thar
our estimates gain widespread acceptance, outyatoilmarket and sell our vehicles, particularlycolder climates, may be adversely impac
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Additionally, we will become subject to regulatiohsit require us to alter the design of our velickehich could negatively impact
consumer interest in our vehicles. For example gbectric vehicles make less noise than internailngstion vehicles. Due to concerns about
quiet vehicles and vision impaired pedestriandainuary 2011, Congress passed and the Presideetislie Pedestrian Safety Enhancement
Act of 2010. The new law requires NHTSA to estdblisinimum sounds for electric vehicles and hybtat®ic vehicles when travelling at Ic
speeds. NHTSA issued a notice of proposed rulergaki2013 and plans to finalize a rule as sooroasesime in 2015 with a potential
effective date for implementation as early as 2018s will begin a three year phase-in scheduleefiablishing these minimum sounds in all
electric and hybrid electric vehicles. Adding thisificial noise may cause current or potentiatomeers not to purchase our electric vehicles,
which would materially and adversely affect ouribass, operating results, financial condition armspects.

If we fail to manage future growth effectively asewapidly grow our company, especially internatidhyg we may not be able to produce,
market, sell and service our vehicles successfully.

Any failure to manage our growth effectively contéterially and adversely affect our business, potsp operating results and financ
condition. We continue to expand our operationasifigantly in North America as well as in Europedafssia. Our future operating results
depend to a large extent on our ability to manhgeexpansion and growth successfully. Risks thafage in undertaking this global expan:
include:

e finding and training new personnel, especially éwrmarkets such as Europe and A

e  controlling expenses and investments in anticipatibexpanded operatior

e  establishing or expanding sales, service and Shaeger facilities in a timely manne

e adapting our products to meet local requirementoimtries around the world; a

e implementing and enhancing manufacturing, logistiesd administrative infrastructure, systems andgsses

We intend to continue to hire a significant numbeadditional personnel, including manufacturinggo@nel, design personnel,
engineers and service technicians. Because ourggighrmance vehicles are based on a differenni@olyy platform than traditional internal
combustion engines, we may not be able to hireziddals with sufficient training in electric vehéd, and we will need to expend significant
time and expense training the employees we do Goepetition for individuals with experience desigy) manufacturing and servicing
electric vehicles is intense, and we may not be abhttract, assimilate, train or retain additidrighly qualified personnel in the future, the
failure of which could seriously harm our businge®spects, operating results and financial comaliti

If we are unable to adequately reduce the manufaitg costs of Model S, control manufacturing codisr Model X or otherwise control
the costs associated with operating our business, fmancial condition and operating results willufer.

Our production costs for Model S were high inifadlue to start-up costs at the Tesla Factory, naatuifing inefficiencies including low
absorption of fixed manufacturing costs, higheiidtigs costs due to the immaturity of our supplgichand higher initial prices for component
parts during the initial period after the launcld aamp of Model S. As we have gradually ramped petidn of Model S, manufacturing costs
per vehicle have decreased. While we expect fudbstreductions to be realized by both us andsoppliers during the next several quarters,
there is no guarantee we will be able to achiefiicgnt cost savings to reach our gross margin pnaditability goals.

We incur significant costs related to procuring ithe materials required to manufacture our higHfegparance electric cars, assembling
vehicles and compensating our personnel. We mayiradsir substantial costs or cost overruns in iasireg the production capability of Model
S and powertrain manufacturing facilities and theent launch in Asia. Furthermore, if we are unableroduce Model X pursuant to our plan
due to cost overruns or other unexpected costspayenot be able to meet our gross margin targets.

Furthermore, many of the factors that impact owrafing costs are beyond our control. For exantpiecosts of our raw materials and
components, such as lithium-ion battery cells amahum used to produce body panels, could incrdasdo shortages as global demand for
these products increases. Indeed, if the populafigfectric vehicles exceeds current expectatwitfsout significant expansion in battery cell
production capacity and advancements in battehteghnology, shortages could occur which wouldilteis increased material costs to us or
potentially limit our ability to expand productioAdditionally, we may be required to incur subsi@nnarketing costs and expenses to proi
our vehicles, including through the use of traditibmedia such as television, radio and print, élengh our marketing expenses to date hav
been relatively limited as we have to date relipdruunconventional marketing efforts. If we arehlaao keep our operating costs aligned "
the level of revenues we generate, our operatisigitse business and prospects will be harmed.
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We may fail to meet our publicly announced guidangeother expectations about our business, whichulkbcause our stock price to
decline.

We occasionally provide guidance regarding our etgukfinancial and business performance, suchasgtions regarding the number
of vehicles we hope to sell, produce or delivefuiire periods and anticipated future revenuessgnoeargins, profitability and cash flows.
Correctly identifying the key factors affecting Iness conditions and predicting future eventsh&iantly an uncertain process. Our guidance
is based in part on assumptions which includeabainot limited to, assumptions regarding:

e our ability to achieve anticipated production aatks volumes and projected average sales pricédddel S and Model X in Nor
America, Europe and Asi

e  supplier and commodi-related costs; an
e planned cost reduction

Such guidance may not always be accurate or mgyfn@n actual results due to our inability to meat assumptions and the impact or
our financial performance that could occur as alted the various risks and uncertainties to ousibess as set forth in these risk factors, or
because of the way that applicable accounting mglgsire us to treat new product and service aftgrithat we may offer. We offer no
assurance that such guidance will ultimately baigte, and investors should treat any such guidaitbeappropriate caution. If we fail to
meet our guidance or if we find it necessary toseguch guidance, even if such failure or revissoseemingly insignificant, investors and
analysts may lose confidence in us and the maddaevof our common stock could be materially andeaskly affected.

Our vehicles make use of lithiunen battery cells, which have been observed to kedie or vent smoke and flame, and such events &
raised concerns, and future events may lead to &ddal concerns, about the batteries used in autdive applications.

The battery pack in our vehicles and the battegkp#hat we sell to Toyota and Daimler make udé@latim-ion cells. On rare
occasions, lithiumen cells can rapidly release the energy they doribp venting smoke and flames in a manner thatgaite nearby materia
as well as other lithium-ion cells. Extremely raveidents of laptop computers, cell phones andteteeehicle battery packs catching fire have
focused consumer attention on the safety of thelie c

These events have raised concerns about the battexed in automotive applications. To addres®thesstions and concerns, a numbe
of cell manufacturers are pursuing alternativediti-ion battery cell chemistries to improve safétfe have designed the battery pack to
passively contain any single cell’s release of gnevithout spreading to neighboring cells. Howeweg, have delivered only a limited number
of our vehicles to customers and have limited festgerience with them. We have also only deliverdichited number of battery packs to
Toyota and Daimler. Accordingly, there can be neuaance that a field or testing failure of our wéds or other battery packs that we produce
will not occur, which could damage the vehicleead to personal injury or death and may subjett IBsvsuits. We may have to recall our
vehicles or participate in a recall of a vehiclattbontains our battery packs, and redesign otefygbacks, which would be time consuming
and expensive. Also, negative public perceptioganding the suitability of lithium-ion cells for tamotive applications or any future incident
involving lithium-ion cells such as a vehicle oheit fire, even if such incident does not involveaauld seriously harm our business.

In addition, we store a significant number of litimi-ion cells at our manufacturing facility. Any handling of battery cells may cause
disruption to the operation of our facilities. Whilve have implemented safety procedures relatdtetbandling of the cells, there can be no
assurance that a safety issue or fire relatedet@els would not disrupt our operations. Such dgava injury would likely lead to adverse
publicity and potentially a safety recall. Moreoveny failure of a competitor’s electric vehiclspecially those that use a high volume of
commodity cells similar to Tesla’s vehicles, maysaindirect adverse publicity for us and our elestehicles. Such adverse publicity would
negatively affect our brand and harm our busingsspects, financial condition and operating rasult

We have a history of losses and have to deliveni§igant cost reductions to achieve sustained, letegm profitability and long-term
commercial success.

We have had net losses on a GAAP basis in eaclegsance our inception, except for the first gaadf 2013. Even if we are able to
continue to increase Model S production and satdsoagin to produce and sell Model X and futureiclel, there can be no assurance that w
will be profitable. In order to achieve profitabjflias well as long-term commercial success, we wstinue to achieve our planned cost
reductions, control our operational costs whiledu@ing quality vehicles, increase our productide renaintain strong demand in North
America, and grow demand abroad in Europe and Asigure to do one or more of these things coué&ent us from achieving sustained,
long-term profitability.
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Foreign currency movements relative to the U.S.ldokcould harm our financial results.

Our revenues and costs denominated in foreign ciegs are not completely matched. As we have isegdlodel S deliveries in
markets outside of the United States, we have rhigiier revenues than costs denominated in otheerties such as the euro, Norwegian
kroner, and Chinese yuan. The recent strengthefitige U.S. dollar therefore has reduced, andfartiier strengthening of the U.S. dollar
would tend to further reduce, our revenues as mmedsn U.S. dollars. In addition, a portion of @asts and expenses have been, and we
anticipate will continue to be, denominated in fgrecurrencies, including the Japanese yen. If waat have fully offsetting revenues in these
currencies and if the value of the U.S. dollar dejfates significantly against these currenciescosts as measured in U.S. dollars as a perce
of our revenues will correspondingly increase androargins will suffer. As a result, our operatiegults could be adversely affected.

The introduction of our resale value guarantee atghsing programs may result in lower revenues andffis and exposes us to resale
risk to the extent many customers elect to retuheir vehicles to us and the residual values are égavthan our estimates.

In 2013 we began offering a resale value guaranta# customers who purchased a Model S in theddrfstates and Canada and
financed their vehicle through one of our specifiedhmercial banking partners. In April and Octobe2014, we started offering leasing to
business customers and individual customers, r&sphg including through Tesla Finance, our captfinance company. Both the resale value
guarantee program and leasing offered through TFésknce generate lower revenues in the perioddhés delivered as compared to cash
purchases and both expose us to the risk thatelmgles repurchased or returned to us under thgrammes may be resold by us for prices less
than we estimate.

Under the resale value guarantee program, Modek®mers have the option of selling their vehidekbto us during the period of 36
39 months following delivery for a pre-determinedale value. As a result of this resale value giieesand customers having the option of
selling their vehicles to us, we apply lease actingrto such purchases, which defers the recogndfdhe associated revenues over time
instead of full recognition at vehicle delivery.thbugh the resale value guarantee does not impadash flows and liquidity at the time of
vehicle delivery, a significant uptake under thisgram could have a significant adverse impactwmear term GAAP revenues and opera
results.

Under the leasing program offered through Teslamide, we lease vehicles directly to customers.dbuests have the option of
purchasing their vehicles at the stated valueérig¢hsing contract or returning their vehiclesgoWe apply lease accounting to such purch
Unlike the resale value guarantee program, we raegive only a very small portion of the price of trehicle from our customers at the tim
purchase, and instead will receive a stream otlpagyments. To the extent we expand this progratasmunable to secure appropriate
financing, our cash flow and liquidity, as well@as near term GAAP revenues and operating resudtdd be negatively impacted.
Furthermore, we are exposed to credit risk thatoeners may not pay their lease payments on timeaaodrding to the terms of our leasing
contracts.

Under both programs, we are exposed to the rigklieavehicles’ resale value may be lower thanestimates and the volume of
vehicles returned to us may be higher than oumesés, which could impact our future cash flows/angrofitability. Currently, there is only a
very limited secondary market for our electric s on which to base our estimates, and suchaadary market may not develop in the
future. Our residual value and return volume esémaould prove to be incorrect, either of whichlddharm our financial condition and
operating results.

Increases in costs, disruption of supply or shoréagf raw materials, in particular lithium-ion cellscould harm our business.

We may experience increases in the cost or a sestéterruption in the supply or shortage of raatenials. Any such increase or
supply interruption could materially and negativighpact our business, prospects, financial condiéind operating results. We use various
materials in our business including aluminum, steiekel and copper. The prices for these raw magefluctuate depending on market
conditions and global demand for these materiatscanld adversely affect our business and operagisglts. For instance, we are exposed to
multiple risks relating to lithium-ion cells. Thegsks include:

e the inability or unwillingness of current battananufacturers to build or operate battery cell mfacturing plants to supply the
numbers of lithium-ion cells required to suppor trowth of the electric or plug-in hybrid vehiatelustry as demand for such
cells increases

e  disruption in the supply of cells due to qualitguss or recalls by battery cell manufactur
e anincrease in the cost of raw materials, suchickelhused in lithiur-ion cells, or aluminum used in the body of Modebh&d

e fluctuations in the value of the Japanese yemagthe U.S. dollar as our battery cell purchasescurrently denominated in
Japanese ye
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Our business is dependent on the continued supgttery cells for our vehicles’ battery packsnadl as for the battery packs we
produce for other automobile manufacturers. Whigeb&lieve several sources of the battery cellsaadable for such battery packs, we have
fully qualified only one supplier for the cells asim such battery packs and have very limited Baity in changing cell suppliers. Any
disruption in the supply of battery cells from swemdors could disrupt production of our vehicled af the battery packs we produce for o
automobile manufacturers until such time as a diffesupplier is fully qualified. Furthermore, fluations or shortages in petroleum and othe
economic conditions may cause us to experiencéfisant increases in freight charges and raw makeosts. Substantial increases in the
prices for our raw materials or prices chargedstosuch as those charged by our battery cell matwréas, would increase our operating costs
and could reduce our margins if we cannot recoapribreased costs through increased electric \epiotes. There can be no assurance that
we will be able to recoup increasing costs of raatarials by increasing vehicle prices. Any attentptisicrease vehicle prices in response to
increased raw material costs could be viewed negsitby our customers, result in cancellations ffiele orders and reservations and could
materially and adversely affect our brand, imagssitess, prospects and operating results.

Our success could be harmed by negative publicggarding our company or our products, particulariodel S.

Occasionally, third parties evaluate or publishiisoregarding our vehicles. For example, in 20E3New York Times published a
negative review of the Model S and our Superchamgéxork on a route from Washington, D.C. to Bosfime story created a negative public
perception about Model S, its capabilities andShpercharger network. To the extent that negatimencents about us or our products are
believed by the public, this may cause currentateptial customers not to purchase our electriéolesd), including Model S and Model X,
which can materially and adversely affect our bess operating results, financial conditions amm$pects.

Our distribution model is different from the predamant current distribution model for automobile marfacturers, which makes
evaluating our business, operating results and feguyprospects difficult.

Our distribution model is not common in the autoiteomdustry today, particularly in the United &tst We plan to continue to sell our
performance electric vehicles in companyned Tesla stores and over the internet. Whiléelieve our approach is important to the succe
our technology and vehicles, this model of vehitigribution is relatively new and unproven, esplyiin the United States, and subjects us t
substantial risk as it requires, in the aggregatggnificant expenditure and provides for slowgramsion of our distribution and sales systems
than may be possible by utilizing a more traditiatealer franchise system. For example, we do tilitailong-established sales channels
developed through a franchise system to increaseades volume, which may harm our business, prtspfinancial condition and operating
results. Moreover, we compete with companies wighi-@stablished distribution channels.

We have opened Tesla stores in North America, Euanl the Asia Pacific Region, many of which haserbopen for only a short
period of time. We have relatively limited expexerdistributing and selling our performance velidlerough our Tesla stores, especially in
Asia. Our success will depend in large part onatility to effectively develop our own sales chasrand marketing strategies. Implementing
our business model is subject to numerous sigmifichallenges, including obtaining permits and apgls from local and state authorities, anc
we may not be successful in addressing these dlgale The concept and layout of our interactiveestonhich are typically located in high
profile retail centers, is different than what Ipasviously been used in automotive sales. We d&moiv whether our store strategy will
continue to be successful. We may incur additiaoats in order to improve or change our retailtstng

Other aspects of our distribution model also diffem those used by traditional automobile manufets. For example, we do not
anticipate that we will ever carry a significant@mt of vehicle inventory at our stores and custsmeay need to wait up to a few months
from the time they place an order until the timeytheceive their vehicle. This type of custom mawtifring is unusual in the premium sedan
market in the United States and it is unproven twiethe average customer will be willing to waistamount of time for such a vehicle. If
customers do not embrace this ordering and retpérence, our business will be harmed.
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We may become subject to product liability claiméyich could harm our financial condition and liquidy if we are not able to
successfully defend or insure against such claims.

We may become subject to product liability claimvbjch could harm our business, prospects, operagisglts and financial condition.
The automobile industry experiences significantpiai liability claims and we face inherent riskeofoosure to claims in the event our vehi
do not perform as expected or malfunction resulitingersonal injury or death. Our risks in thisaasge particularly pronounced given the
limited number of vehicles delivered to date anditiéd field experience of those vehicles. A sucegssoduct liability claim against us could
require us to pay a substantial monetary awardeb\@r, a product liability claim could generate stahtial negative publicity about our
vehicles and business and inhibit or prevent coroiakzation of other future vehicle candidates vhieould have material adverse effect on
our brand, business, prospects and operating seS\# self-insure against the risk of product ligbtlaims, meaning that any product liability
claims will have to be paid from company funds, bpinsurance. Any lawsuit seeking significant mamg damages may have a material
adverse effect on our reputation, business anddiahcondition. We may not be able to secure &mlthl product liability insurance coverage
on commercially acceptable terms or at reasonaidts evhen needed, particularly if we do face ligbfbr our products and are forced to m
a claim under such a policy.

We are currently expanding and improving our inforation technology systems. If these implementati@ns not successful, our
business and operations could be disrupted and operating results could be harmed.

We are currently expanding and improving our infation technology systems, including implementing ireternally developed
systems, to assist us in the management of oundsssi In particular, our volume production of Mo8elecessitates continued development,
maintenance and improvement of our information nedbgy systems in the U.S. and abroad, which irelieduct data management,
procurement, inventory management, production prenand execution, sales, service and logisticaledenanagement, financial, tax and
regulatory compliance systems. These systems suppooperations and enable us to produce ModeldSwture vehicles like Model X in
volume. The implementation, maintenance and impr@ré of these systems require significant managetimee, support and cost. Moreover,
there are inherent risks associated with develgpmgroving and expanding our core systems as agelinplementing new systems, including
the disruption of our data management, procurenmeabufacturing execution, finance, supply chain salds and service processes. These
risks may affect our ability to manage our data imwentory, procure parts or supplies or manufagtsell, deliver and service vehicles, or
achieve and maintain compliance with, or realizailable benefits under, tax laws and other applecatgulations.

We cannot be sure that these expanded systemsioretuired functionality will be effectively im@ented or sufficiently maintained.
If we do not successfully implement, improve or ntain these systems, our operations may be distupte ability to accurately and/or timely
report our financial results could be impaired; deficiencies may arise in our internal control ofilgancial reporting, which may impact our
ability to certify our financial results. If thesgstems or their functionality do not operate aswgect them to, we may be required to expend
significant resources to make corrections or filteraative sources for performing these functions.

We may not realize the benefits of our Superchargetwork, which could harm our business, brand anderating results.

We continue to deploy Tesla Superchargers in theedrstates, Europe and Asia. Tesla Superchargeis metwork of charging stations
designed to provide fast-charge capability to owrdModel S vehicles with the Supercharging optisie intend to expand the Tesla
Supercharger network throughout the U.S., Canadiade and Asia, but we may be unable to do so@aenumber of factors, including the
inability to secure, or delays in securing, suigdbications and permits, problems negotiating eagth landowners or obtaining required
permits for such locations, difficulties in intecfag with the infrastructures of various utilityrapanies and greater than expected costs and
difficulties of installing, maintaining and openagj the network.

We may also be unable to expand the Supercharg@oneas fast as we intend or as the public expect® place the charging stations
in places our customers believe to be optimal.Heurhore, even where Superchargers exist, the isiaggaumber of Model S vehicles as well
as future vehicles such as Model X may oversatuhgt@vailable charging bays at such Supercharigading to increased wait times and
dissatisfaction for customers. In addition, as weehannounced that we will not be charging ourarusts to access this network in addition to
what they have already paid for their vehicles, sigpificant unexpected costs that we encountdrentirely be borne by us and may harm ou
operating results. Although our Supercharger ndtisintended to address customer concerns regaholirg-distance travel, this network may
not result in increased reservations or sales addWi§ or future vehicles like Model X. If our Suplearger network is not expanded as curre
planned or as quickly as planned, we may not redliz benefits of our Supercharger network ancasiness and operating results could be
materially affected.
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If we are unable to design, develop, market and sel electric vehicles that address additional rker opportunities, our business,
prospects and operating results will suffer.

We may not be able to successfully develop newtrsdeschicles, address new market segments or dp\aekignificantly broader
customer base. In 2012, we publicly revealed aly gaototype of the Model X crossover as the firshicle we intend to develop by leverag
the Model S platform and are currently testing Bata Model X vehicles. We have also announcedment to develop Model 3 based on a
smaller platform than the Model S which we expeqtrioduce at the Tesla Factory after the introduactif Model X. Model 3 is currently
planned to be a lower cost, smaller sedan desifgmétle mass market. Therefore, we intend to martufa Model 3 in significantly higher
volumes than Model S and there can be no assuremcan successfully scale our business accordiirglddition, we have not yet finalized
the design, engineering or component sourcing dlanglodel 3 and there are no assurances that Wéevable to bring this vehicle to market
at the price point and in the volume that we cutyeintend, if at all. The market for vehicles imetprice range we expect for Model 3 is much
more competitive than for Model S and Model X, dmerefore margins are likely to be lower compacetbdel S and Model X margins. Our
efforts to manufacture and sell a sufficiently jiadfle Model 3 may not be as successful, and thezefur business, prospects and operating
results may suffer. Our failure to address add#ionarket opportunities would harm our businesgspects, financial condition and operating
results.

The automotive market is highly competitive, and mey not be successful in competing in this indyst¥We currently face competition
from new and established competitors and expedatte competition from others in the future.

The worldwide automotive market, particularly fdteanative fuel vehicles, is highly competitive tydand we expect it will become
even more so in the future. Other automobile mariufars entered the electric vehicle market aetiebof 2010 and we expect additional
competitors to enter this market. With respect wdel S, we face competition from existing and fatautomobile manufacturers in the
extremely competitive premium sedan market, inclgdhudi, BMW, Lexus and Mercedes.

Many established and new automobile manufacturre kntered or have announced plans to entertdreative fuel vehicle market.
BMW, Daimler, Nissan, Fiat, Ford and Mitsubishi,@rg others, have electric vehicles available totégreover, Porsche, Lexus, Audi,
Volkswagen and Volvo are also developing electehigles. In addition, several manufacturers, inclgdseneral Motors, Toyota, Ford, and
Honda, are each selling hybrid vehicles, and aexdfthese manufacturers have announced plug-siores of their hybrid vehicles. For
example, in December 2010, General Motors introddbe Chevrolet Volt, which is a plug-in hybrid vele that operates purely on electric
power for a limited number of miles, at which tizue internal combustion engine engages to rechhggbattery pack.

Moreover, it has been reported that many of therddrge OEMSs, such as Daimler, Lexus and Audiaése developing electric
vehicles. Several new start-ups have also entaradriunced plans to enter the market for perfoomatectric vehicles. Finally, electric
vehicles have already been brought to market im&hid other foreign countries and we expect a pumfithose manufacturers to enter the
United States market as well.

Most of our current and potential competitors hsigmificantly greater financial, technical, manutaeg, marketing and other resour
than we do and may be able to devote greater res®tw the design, development, manufacturingiloigion, promotion, sale and support of
their products. Virtually all of our competitorsueamore extensive customer bases and broader ceistord industry relationships than we do.
In addition, almost all of these companies havgéoroperating histories and greater name recogrtitian we do. Our competitors may be in ¢
stronger position to respond quickly to new tecbgis and may be able to design, develop, marldesalhtheir products more effectively.
Additionally, we have not in the past, and do natently, offer customary discounts on our vehidikes most of our competitors do.

We expect competition in our industry to intensifythe future in light of increased demand for raitaive fuel vehicles, continuing
globalization and consolidation in the worldwiddauotive industry. Factors affecting competitionlirde product quality and features,
innovation and development time, pricing, religjlsafety, fuel economy, customer service andiitiveg terms. Increased competition may
lead to lower vehicle unit sales and increasedritorg, which may result in a further downward praressure and adversely affect our
business, financial condition, operating result$ prospects. Our ability to successfully competeunindustry will be fundamental to our
future success in existing and new markets ananauket share. There can be no assurances thatlileevaible to compete successfully in our
markets. If our competitors introduce new carsesvises that compete with or surpass the qualigepr performance of our cars or services,
we may be unable to satisfy existing customerstoaic new customers at the prices and levelswald allow us to generate attractive rates
of return on our investment. Increased competitionld result in price reductions and revenue shlstfloss of customers and loss of market
share, which could harm our business, prospea@néial condition and operating results.
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Demand in the automobile industry is volatile, whiecnay lead to lower vehicle unit sales and adveysaffect our operating results.

Volatility of demand in the automobile industry mamaterially and adversely affect our business, pots, operating results and
financial condition. The markets in which we cuthgrrompete and plan to compete in the future Haen subject to considerable volatility in
demand in recent periods. Demand for automohikessdepends to a large extent on general, econpoiitical and social conditions in a
given market and the introduction of new vehicled gechnologies. As a low volume producer, we Hass financial resources than more
established automobile manufacturers to withstdnahges in the market and disruptions in demanaukdusiness grows, economic
conditions and trends in other countries and regjighere we currently or will sell our electric velels, such as Europe and Asia, will impact
our business, prospects and operating results lhsDeenand for our electric vehicles may also bfeeted by factors directly impacting
automobile price or the cost of purchasing and atreg automobiles, such as sales and financingtnes, prices of raw materials and parts
and components, cost of fuel and governmental atiguis, including tariffs, import regulation andhet taxes. Volatility in demand may leac
lower vehicle unit sales and increased inventotyictvmay result in further downward price pressamd adversely affect our business,
prospects, financial condition and operating rasdlhese effects may have a more pronounced inopaatir business given our relatively
smaller scale and financial resources as comparathhy incumbent automobile manufacturers.

If we are unable to establish and maintain confidesin our long-term business prospects among constsnanalysts and within our
industry, then our financial condition, operatingasults, business prospects and stock price mayesuffaterially.

Our vehicles are highly technical products thatiregmaintenance and support. If we were to ceasatdack operations, even years
from now, buyers of our vehicles from years eamigght have much more difficulty in maintaining theehicles and obtaining satisfactory
support. As a result, consumers may be less likkepurchase our vehicles now if they are not coreththat our business will succeed or that
our operations will continue for many years. Simylasuppliers and other third parties will be I&&ely to invest time and resources in
developing business relationships with us if theyreot convinced that our business will succeedelfare required to curtail our expansion
plans in the future as we have done in the pastnthy result in negative perceptions regardinglang-term business prospects and may leac
to cancellations of Model S or Model X orders aeservations.

Accordingly, in order to build and maintain our mess, we must maintain confidence among custoraepgliers, analysts and other
parties in our liquidity and long-term businessgmects. In contrast to some more established alktnsave believe that, in our case, the task
of maintaining such confidence may be particuladynplicated by factors such as the following:

e our limited operating histon

e unfamiliarity with or uncertainty about Model X afture Tesla vehicle:

e uncertainty about the lo-term marketplace acceptance of alternative fueiclkehgenerally, or electric vehicles specifica

e the perceived prospect that we will need ongoiffigsions of external capital to fund our plannedrafiens;

e the size of our expansion plans in comparison tcegisting capital base and scope and history efatons; an

e the prospect or actual emergence of direct, mestacompetitive pressure from more establishedraakers, which may be more
likely if our initial efforts are perceived to bermmercially successfu

Many of these factors are largely outside our @nénd any negative perceptions about our longr-tensiness prospects, even if
exaggerated or unfounded, would likely harm ouiitess and make it more difficult to raise additidisads when needed.

We have limited experience servicing our vehiclespecially in certain regions outside of the Unit&tiates, and we are using a different
service model from the one typically used in thelirstry. If we are unable to address the serviceuiegments of our existing and future
customers, our business will be materially and achady affected.

If we are unable to successfully address the sereiquirements of our existing and future custoraackmeet customer expectations
regarding service, our business and prospectdwithaterially and adversely affected. We have éthiéxperience servicing our vehicles,
especially in Europe and Asia. Servicing electabieles is different than servicing vehicles witkernal combustion engines and requires
specialized skills, including high voltage trainiagd servicing techniques. If we are unable tes&atiorily service our customers and the
various service related issues that they are famiigmay face in the future, our ability to genem@istomer loyalty, grow our business and sel
additional vehicles could be impaired.
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We service our performance electric vehicles thhooigr company-owned Tesla service centers, cesfadur stores, and through our
mobile service technicians known as the Tesla Rangtowever, certain service centers have been fgpesiort periods, such as those outsid
of the United States, and to date we have onlytdichéxperience servicing our performance vehidiésese locations. We will need to open
new standalone service centers in locations arthumevorld and hire and train significant numbersefv employees to staff these service
centers and act as Tesla Rangers in order to sfatigsnaintain our fleet of delivered performaralectric vehicles. We only implemented our
Tesla Rangers program in October 2009 and haveeliheixperience in deploying them to service outarusrs’ vehicles. There can be no
assurance that these service arrangements omatediexperience servicing our vehicles will addglyaaddress the service requirements of
our customers to their satisfaction, or that we adlve sufficient resources to meet these seregairements in a timely manner as the volume
of vehicles we are able to deliver annually incesas

We do not expect to be able to open Tesla serantecs in all the geographic areas in which oustang and potential customers may
reside. In order to address the service needssbdiers who are not in geographical proximity to service centers, we plan to either
transport those vehicles to the nearest Tesla stagervice center for servicing or deploy our ni®Biesla Rangers to service the vehicles a
customer’s location. These special arrangementsheaaxpensive and we may not be able to recoupasis of providing these services to oul
customers. In addition, a number of potential am&tis may choose not to purchase our vehicles beaduke lack of a more widespread
service network. If we do not adequately addressostomers’ service needs, our brand and reputatith be adversely affected, which in
turn, could have a material and adverse impactuorbosiness, financial condition, operating resaitd prospects.

Traditional automobile manufacturers in the UniBtdtes do not provide maintenance and repair sndrectly. Consumers must rat
service their vehicles through franchised dealgssbr through third party maintenance service plerd. We do not have any such
arrangements with third party service providers iaiglunclear when or even whether such thirdypservice providers will be able to acquire
the expertise to service our vehicles. At this poire anticipate that we will be providing substalhy all of the service for our vehicles for the
foreseeable future. As our vehicles are placedarenocations, we may encounter negative reacfimms our consumers who are frustrated
that they cannot use local service stations te#me extent as they have with their convention@raabiles and this frustration may result in
negative publicity and reduced sales, thereby hagraur business and prospects.

In addition, the motor vehicle industry laws in npastates require that service facilities be avédatith respect to vehicles physically
sold from locations in the state. Whether theseslamuld also require that service facilities beilabde with respect to vehicles sold over the
internet to consumers in a state in which we havphysical presence is uncertain. While we belmweTesla Ranger program and our prac
of transporting customers’ vehicles to our neafesia service center would satisfy regulators @s¢hcircumstances, without seeking formal
regulatory guidance, there are no assurancesdgalators will not attempt to require that we pdevphysical service facilities in their states.
Further, certain state franchise laws which prahitanufacturers from being licensed as a dealacting in the capacity of dealer also restrict
manufacturers from providing vehicle service. Huss arise in connection with these laws, certgpeets of Tesla's service program would
need to be restructured to comply with state lakictv may harm our business.

We may not succeed in maintaining and strengtheniig Tesla brand, which would materially and advelg affect customer acceptan
of our vehicles and components and our businessierues and prospects.

Our business and prospects are heavily dependemircability to develop, maintain and strengthen Tiesla brand. Any failure to
develop, maintain and strengthen our brand maynma#iyeand adversely affect our ability to sell thkodel S, Model X, Model 3 and other
future planned electric vehicles, and sell ourtelepowertrain components. If we do not contina@stablish, maintain and strengthen our
brand, we may lose the opportunity to build a caitimass of customers. Promoting and positioningoeand will likely depend significantly ¢
our ability to provide high quality electric canscamaintenance and repair services, and we haydikgted experience in these areas. Any
problems associated with the Toyota RAV4 EV anddddes-Benz Belass EV, both of which use a Tesla powertrairtherModel X may hu
the Tesla brand.

In addition, we expect that our ability to develaggintain and strengthen the Tesla brand will dipend heavily on the success of our
marketing efforts. To date, we have limited expgegewith marketing activities as we have reliedngarniilly on the internet, word of mouth and
attendance at industry trade shows to promote iandb To further promote our brand, we may be meglio change our marketing practices,
which could result in substantially increased atisiglg expenses, including the need to use traditimedia such as television, radio and print
The automobile industry is intensely competitived a&ve may not be successful in building, maintajrand strengthening our brand. Many of
our current and potential competitors, particulalyomobile manufacturers headquartered in Detiafian and the European Union, have
greater name recognition, broader customer relstiips and substantially greater marketing resout@swe do. If we do not develop and
maintain a strong brand, our business, prospéantmdial condition and operating results will betemglly and adversely impacted.
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If our vehicle owners customize our vehicles or ety the charging infrastructure with aftermarket pducts, the vehicle may not
operate properly, which could harm our business.

Automobile enthusiasts may seek to “haokit vehicles to modify its performance which coatdnpromise vehicle safety systems. A
we are aware of customers who have customizedwhhicles with after-market parts that may compsmmdriver safety. For example, some
customers have installed seats that elevate therdsuich that airbag and other safety systems dmittbmpromised. Other customers have
changed wheels and tires, while others have iestddirge speaker systems that may impact the ieldctlystems of the vehicle. We have not
tested, nor do we endorse, such changes or prodinetddition, customer use of improper externaliog or unsafe charging outlets can
expose our customers to injury from high voltagee#lcity. Such unauthorized modifications coulduee the safety of our vehicles and any
injuries resulting from such modifications couldué in adverse publicity which would negativelyezt our brand and harm our business,
prospects, financial condition and operating rasult

Our plan to expand our network of Tesla stores, \d@ee centers and Superchargers will require sigodint cash investments and
management resources and may not meet our expemtativith respect to additional sales of our electviehicles. In addition, we may
not be able to open stores or service centers mabe states or Superchargers in desired locations.

Our plan to expand our network of Tesla storesjisercenters and Superchargers will require sigaifi cash investments and
management resources and may not meet our exjpectatith respect to additional sales of our eleatehicles. This ongoing global expan:
may not have the desired effect of increasing sadelsexpanding our brand presence to the degregenanticipating. Furthermore, there can
be no assurances that we will be able to exparti@budget or timeline we have established. Wealslb need to ensure we are in complianc
with any regulatory requirements applicable togake and service of our vehicles in those jurigalist, which could take considerable time anc
expense. If we experience any delays in expandimgnetwork of Tesla stores, service centers an@®hpargers, this could lead to a decrease
in sales of our vehicles and could negatively inhpac business, prospects, financial condition @perating results. We have opened Tesla
stores and service centers in major metropolitaasathroughout North America, Europe and Asia,vamglan to open additional stores and
service centers worldwide to support our ongoingldwide Model S rollout. We have also rapidly exgad our Supercharger network in the
U.S., Europe and China. However, we may not betabéxpand at a sufficient rate and our plannedesgion will require significant cash
investment and management resources, as welliagpfly in the execution of establishing these tiocs and in hiring and training the
necessary employees to effectively sell and sexicesehicles.

Furthermore, certain states and foreign jurisdictilmay have permit requirements, franchise deales br similar laws or regulations
that may preclude or restrict our ability to opésres or sell vehicles out of such states anddigti®ns. Any such prohibition or restriction rr
lead to decreased sales in such jurisdictions, wbazild harm our business, prospects and openasuts. See Risk FactoM/e may face
regulatory limitations on our ability to sell velés directly or over the internet which could méd#y and adversely affect our ability to sell
our electric vehicles.”Additionally, we may face potential difficulties finding suitable Supercharger sites in desiredtions, negotiating
leases or obtaining required permits for such looat

We face risks associated with our international spgons and expansion, including unfavorable regutary, political, tax and labor
conditions and establishing ourselves in new maskedll of which could harm our business.

We face various risks associated with our inteamati operations and expansion. We currently hategriational operations and
subsidiaries in various countries and jurisdictionEurope and Asia that are subject to the lggalltical, regulatory and social requirements
and economic conditions in these jurisdictions. ifiddally, as part of our growth strategy, we vadintinue to expand our sales, maintenance,
repair and Supercharger services internationadigtiqularly in China. However, we have limited exipace to date selling and servicing our
vehicles internationally, as well as limited expece installing and operating Superchargers intiamelly, and international expansion requ
us to make significant expenditures, includingeb&ablishment of local operating entities, hirifidooal employees and establishing facilities
in advance of generating any revenue. We are suigjecnumber of risks associated with internatitmasiness activities that may increase our
costs, impact our ability to sell our electric velas and require significant management attenfibese risks include:

e conforming our vehicles to various internationgukatory and safety requirements where our vehiatesold, or homologatio
e  difficulty in establishing, staffing and managiraydign operations
e  difficulties attracting customers in new jurisdasis;

e foreign government taxes, regulations and peragtirements, including foreign taxes that we matylbe able to offset against
taxes imposed upon us in the United States, amigiotax and other laws limiting our ability to e¢pate funds to the United
States

e fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates imterest rates, including risks related to artgnest rate swap or other hedging
activities we undertake
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e  our ability to enforce our contractual and irgetual property rights, especially in those foreiguntries that do not respect and
protect intellectual property rights to the samtepkas do the United States, Japan and Europestries, which increases the ri
of unauthorized, and uncompensated, use of ountdady;

e  United States and foreign government trade reigtrisf customs regulations, tariffs and price othaxge controls
e foreign labor laws, regulations and restrictic

e  preferences of foreign nations for domesticallyduaed vehicles

e changes in diplomatic and trade relationsh

e  political instability, natural disasters, war oreets of terrorism; an

e the strength of international economi

Additionally, as we have expanded into new intaamatl markets, we have faced challenges with enguhat our charging equipment
works successfully with the charging infrastructirsuch markets. For example, we have encoungereld challenges in Norway and
China. If customers experience problems with thg aur charging equipment works with the local givag infrastructure, or we are unable to
adapt our equipment to resolve such problems, ttheeriability and acceptance of our vehicles inhsmarkets could be materially and
adversely affected.

If we fail to successfully address these risks,lmginess, prospects, operating results and finhoandition could be materially harme

Developments in alternative technologies or improwents in the internal combustion engine may matdiyaadversely affect the demand
for our electric vehicles.

Significant developments in alternative technolegiich as advanced diesel, ethanol, hydrogencélislor compressed natural gas, or
improvements in the fuel economy of the internahbastion engine, may materially and adversely affec business and prospects in way:
do not currently anticipate. Any failure by us &vdlop new or enhanced technologies or processésyeact to changes in existing
technologies, could materially delay our develophaemd introduction of new and enhanced electridoles, which could result in the loss of
competitiveness of our vehicles, decreased revande loss of market share to competitors.

The unavailability, reduction or elimination of, ouncertainty regarding, government and economic @rtives in the U.S. and abroad
could have a material adverse effect on our busisiefinancial condition, operating results and prosgts.

Any reduction or elimination of government and emmic incentives due to policy changes the redu@sirior such incentives as the
customer base of our electric vehicles expandsalftightening or other reasons may result in th@rdshed competitiveness of the alternative
fuel vehicle industry generally or our electric s in particular. Such reduction or eliminatimiincentives could materially and adversely
affect our growth as well because our businesspacts, financial condition and operating resalsspur growth depends, in part, on the
availability and amounts of government incentivies. example, we currently benefit from certain egéions in the United States, such as the
California state sales and use taxes. Similarlyegument programs in Europe favor the purchaséectréc vehicles, including through
disincentives that discourage the use of gas-pawezhicles. In Norway, for example, the purchaseleétric vehicles is not currently subject
to import taxes, taxes on non-recurring vehicles félee 25% value added tax or the purchase taaesiply to the purchase of gas-powered
vehicles. If such government programs are reducetiminated, or the available benefits thereuraterexhausted earlier than anticipated,
sales of all electric vehicles, including our Mo&elcould be adversely affected. In addition, cugis in certain markets may delay taking
delivery of their Tesla vehicles if they believatitertain electric vehicle incentives will be dable at a later date, which may negatively al
our ability to achieve our planned delivery targets

Our strategic relationships with third parties, sh@s Panasonic, are subject to various risks whiduld adversely affect our business
and future prospects.

Our strategic relationships third parties, sucPasasonic which supplies us with battery cellsuf® in Model S and Model X and is our
partner in the Gigafactory, pose various risksgpincluding potential loss of access to importanhnology and vehicle parts, potential loss of
business and adverse publicity. In addition, thksd parties may not perform as expected undeagueements with them, such as with
respect to vehicle parts quality of timeliness, amdmay have disagreements or disputes with théskgarties. The occurrence of any of the
foregoing could adversely affect our business, peots, financial condition and operating results.
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The operation of our vehicles is different from iatnal combustion engine vehicles and our customeray experience difficulty
operating them properly, including difficulty traridoning between different methods of braking.

We have designed our vehicles to minimize incormece and inadvertent driver damage to the powaerthaicertain instances, these
protections may cause the vehicle to behave in Wetsare unfamiliar to drivers of internal combastvehicles. For example, we employ
regenerative braking to recharge the battery packdst modes of vehicle operation. Our customenslmaome accustomed to using this
regenerative braking instead of the wheel braketow the vehicle. However, when the vehicle imakimum charge, the regenerative braking
is not needed and is not employed by the vehiabeoAdingly, our customers may have difficulty shidt between different methods of braki
In addition, we use safety mechanisms to limit médoque when the powertrain system reaches elévateperatures. In such instances, the
vehicle’s acceleration and speed will decreaseallyinf the driver permits the battery pack to stamtially deplete its charge, the vehicle will
progressively limit motor torque and speed to pres¢éhe charge that remains. The vehicle will Isgeed and ultimately coast to a stop.
Despite several warnings about an imminent losshafge, the ultimate loss of speed may be unexgecte

There can be no assurance that our customerspeithte the vehicles properly, especially in thésmsons. Any accidents resulting
from such failure to operate our vehicles propeduyld harm our brand and reputation, result in estveublicity and product liability claims,
and have a material adverse effect on our busipesspects, financial condition and operating rtsstih addition, if consumers dislike these
features, they may choose not to buy additional fram us, which could also harm our business aosgpects.

If we are unable to keep up with advances in eléctrehicle technology, we may suffer a decline iar@ompetitive position.

We may be unable to keep up with changes in eteettiicle technology and, as a result, may suffé&dine in our competitive
position. Any failure to keep up with advances liectric vehicle technology would result in a deelin our competitive position which would
materially and adversely affect our business, ot operating results and financial conditiont @gearch and development efforts may nof
be sufficient to adapt to changes in electric Vehtiechnology. As technologies change, we plarpgrade or adapt our vehicles and introduce
new models in order to continue to provide vehiglh the latest technology, in particular battegji technology. However, our vehicles may
not compete effectively with alternative vehiclese are not able to source and integrate thetlédebnology into our vehicles. For example,
we do not currently manufacture battery cells, Whitakes us dependent upon other suppliers of hattdirtechnology for our battery packs.

If we are unable to attract and/or retain key empkes and hire qualified management, technical, v@giengineering and
manufacturing personnel, our ability to compete ddbe harmed and our stock price may decline.

The loss of the services of any of our key empleyamild disrupt our operations, delay the develagraad introduction of our vehicles
and services, and negatively impact our busingsspgcts and operating results as well as causst@ek price to decline. In particular, we are
highly dependent on the services of Elon Musk,©hief Executive Officer, Product Architect and Ghaan of our Board of Directors, and JB
Straubel, our Chief Technical Officer. None of &ey employees is bound by an employment agreemeiinfy specific term. There can be no
assurance that we will be able to successfullnéttind retain senior leadership necessary to guovusiness. Our future success depends
upon our ability to attract and retain our execritbificers and other key technology, sales, mangetngineering, manufacturing and support
personnel and any failure to do so could advelisghact our business, prospects, financial condiiod operating results. We have in the pas
and may in the future experience difficulty in iatag members of our senior management team asasaéchnical, vehicle engineering and
manufacturing personnel due to various factorsh sigca very competitive labor market for talentetiviiduals with automotive experience. In
addition, we do not have “key person” life insuramolicies covering any of our officers or othey leenployees.

Currently in Northern California, there is increagicompetition for talented individuals with theesfalized knowledge of electric
vehicles, software engineers, manufacturing engsnaed other skilled employees and this competaidects both our ability to retain key
employees and hire new ones. Our continued sudegEnds upon our continued ability to hire new @ygés in a timely manner and retain
current employees. Additionally, we compete withnjanature and prosperous companies in NortherridBailh that have far greater financial
resources than we do and thus can offer currepe@pective employees more lucrative incentive pgek than we can. Any difficulties in
retaining current employees or recruiting new omesld have an adverse effect on our performance.

We are highly dependent on the services of Elon Musur Chief Executive Officer.

We are highly dependent on the services of Elonkylosr Chief Executive Officer, Product Archite€hairman of our Board of
Directors and largest stockholder. Although Mr. Mgpends significant time with Tesla and is hightyive in our management, he does not
devote his full time and attention to Tesla. Mr.$¥walso currently serves as Chief Executive Offanaat Chief Technical Officer of Space
Exploration Technologies, a developer and manufactf space launch vehicles, and Chairman of Sithara solar equipment installation
company.
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We are subject to various environmental and safletys and regulations that could impose substantiakts upon us and negatively
impact our ability to operate our manufacturing féties.

As an automobile manufacturer, we are subject tomal, state, provincial and/or local environméntealth and safety laws and
regulations, including laws relating to the useydimg, storage, disposal and human exposure tardaas materials, both in the United States
and abroad. Environmental and health and safety &wl regulations can be complex, and we expecbthidbusiness and operations will be
affected by new, or future amendments to, such thasmay require us to change our operationsnpiatly resulting in a material adverse
effect on our business. These laws can give ridialidity for administrative oversight costs, ctes costs, property damage, bodily injury and
associated fines and penalties. Capital and opgratipenses needed to comply with environmentalfthand safety laws and regulations can
be significant, and violations of those laws magutein substantial fines and penalties, third pdemages, suspension of production or a
cessation of our operations. These expenses cauleldimaterial adverse effect on our financial @é@rdor operating results.

Contamination at properties formerly owned or ofetdy us, as well as at properties we will own apdrate, and properties to which
hazardous substances were sent by us, may resiability for us under environmental laws and rkegions, including, but not limited to the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensatidhiability Act (CERCLA). The government can ioge liability on us under
CERCLA for the full amount of remediatiaelated costs of a contaminated site without re¢@fdult. Such costs can include those assoc
with the investigation and cleanup of contaminateiti ground water and buildings as well as to regémpacts to human health and damages
to natural resources.

We may also face unexpected delays in obtainingi¢itessary permits and approvals required by emviental laws in connection with
our manufacturing facilities that could requirersfigant time and financial resources and negagivlpact our ability to operate these
facilities, which would adversely impact our busisg@rospects and operating results. As the owntliecf esla Factory and surrounding land,
we may be responsible under federal and statedadsegulations for the entire investigation armdadiation of any environmental
contamination at the Tesla Factory, whether it aezlibefore or after the date we purchased thegptpp/NVhen Tesla purchased the property,
the previous owner and operator of the Tesla Fachbew United Motor Manufacturing, Inc. (NUMMI), éntified environmental conditions at
the Tesla Factory that could adversely affectaod groundwater, and agreed to remediate thesétiomsd Although NUMMI stated that it
fully documented and managed all environmentakissu the Tesla Factory, we cannot determine weittaimty the truth of this statement, nor
the total costs to remediate any pre-existing cuoirtation that may eventually be found. We haveted an agreement with NUMMI under
which, over a ten year period, we will pay thetf§45.0 million of any costs of any governmentakyguired remediation activities for
contamination that existed prior to the closinghaf purchase for any known or unknown environmesdabditions (Remediation Activities),
and NUMMI has agreed to pay the next $15.0 milflensuch Remediation Activities. Our agreement fdes, in part, that NUMMI will pay
up to the first $15.0 million on our behalf if suekpenses are incurred in the first four yearsunfagreement, subject to our reimbursement of
such costs on the fourth anniversary date of thgirad).

On either the ten-year anniversary of the closingteenever $30.0 million has been spent on Remediétctivities, whichever comes
first, NUMMI’s liability to us with respect to Rendé@tion Activities ceases, and we are responsiiefiy and all environmental conditions at
the Fremont site. At that point in time, we haveeag to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless NUM#din all liability, including attorney
fees, or any costs or penalties it may incur agisiat of or in connection with any claim relatimgenvironmental conditions and we have
released NUMMI for any known or unknown claims excier NUMMI’s obligations for representations awdrranties under the agreement.

There are no assurances that NUMMI will perfornofigations under our agreement and NUMMI's failto perform would require us to
undertake these obligations at a potentially degnit cost. Such performance may also adverdelgtdifie production capacity of, and our ability to
operate, the Tesla Factory. Any Remediation A@ior other environmental conditions at the Frarsite could harm our operations and the future use
and value of the Fremont site and could delay mduztion plans for Model S.

Our business may be adversely affected by uniornvitas.

Although none of our employees are currently regméed by a labor union, it is common throughoutat®mobile industry generally
for many employees at automobile companies to lgelora union, which can result in higher employests and increased risk of work
stoppages. Our employees may join or seek recogrtiti form a labor union, or we may be requiredgoome a union signatory. Our
automobile production facility in Fremont, Califearnwas purchased from NUMMI. Prior employees of NMMvere union members and our
future work force at this facility may be inclinéalvote in favor of forming a labor union. We atson and operate another component
manufacturing facility in Lathrop, California. Rbhermore, we are directly or indirectly dependgmarucompanies with unionized work forces,
such as parts suppliers and trucking and freighitpamies, and work stoppages or strikes organizesibly unions could have a material
adverse impact on our business, financial condiiooperating results. If a work stoppage occurspuld delay the manufacture and sale o
performance electric vehicles and have a matediatige effect on our business, prospects, operagsgts or financial condition. The mere
fact that our labor force could be unionized magnhaur reputation in the eyes of some investorsthatkby negatively affect our stock price.
Consequently, the unionization of our labor foroeld negatively impact the company’s health.
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We are subject to substantial regulation, whichegolving, and unfavorable changes or failure by tescomply with these regulations
could substantially harm our business and operatirgsults.

The production and sale of motor vehicles, in gahand specifically related to electric vehicles subject to substantial regulation
under international, federal, state, and local lalWe have incurred, and expect to continue to ingignificant costs in complying with these
regulations.

Regulations related to the electric vehicle induatrd alternative energy are currently evolving enedface risks associated with chan
to these regulations. In the United States, tHeiohg are examples of regulatory and statutorydssfacing us:

e the imposition of a carbon tax or the introductidra caj-anc-trade system on electric utilities could incredsedost of electricity

e increasingly stringent Clean Air Act emissionukegions affecting power plants used to generatetetity could increase the cost
of electricity;

e changes to the regulations governing the asseamulytransportation of lithium-ion battery packsstsas the UN
Recommendations of the Safe Transport of DangeBmasls Model Regulations or regulations adoptechbyu.S. Pipeline and
Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (PHMSAbId increase the cost of lithit-ion battery packs or restrict their transp

e the amendment or rescission of the federal lawragdlations mandating increased fuel economy irlthiged States, referred to
the Corporate Average Fuel Economy (CAFE) standamdd reduce new business opportunities for ouweptrain sales and
development activities

e the amendment or rescission of federal greenhgaséailpipe emission regulations administere@By under the authority of the
Clean Air Act could reduce new business opportesifor our powertrain sales and development aiets;

e the amendment or rescission of California’s zarossion vehicle (ZEV) regulations administeredtsy California Air Resources
Board under the California Health & Safety Codeldaeduce new business opportunities for our pawgrisales and developmi
activities, as well as our ability to monetize ZEkedits not only in California, but also in thewwda additional states that have
adopted the California prograi

e increased sensitivity by regulators to the neddsstablished automobile manufacturers with langgloyment bases, high fixed
costs and business models based on the interndlustion engine could lead them to pass regulativaiscould reduce the
compliance costs of such established manufactorarstigate the effects of government efforts tomote alternative fuel
vehicles;

e changes to the vehicle-specific Federal MotoridlelSafety Standards, which govern how all moghigles are made within the
United States, could result in costly changes tw borrent vehicles are produced; ¢

e changes to regulations governing the export ofppaducts could increase our delivery costs teidetthe United States or force us
to charge consumers in such jurisdictions a highiee for our vehicles

In addition, as the automotive industry moves talgagreater use of electronics in vehicle systerhS[ 8)A and other regulatory bodies
may regulate these electronic systems more strilyggrarticularly as concerns about distractedidgvincrease. Such concerns could affect
of electronic systems in Model S, such as the &f @fisplay screen, which could reduce the appellarfel S or require adjustments to the
display screen’s functionality.

As we are currently delivering vehicles in Europe &sia, we are subject to laws and regulationdieadge to the import, sale and
service of automobiles in those regions. For exampe are required to meet vehicle-specific segepdards that are often materially differen
from U.S. requirements, thus resulting in additidnaestment into the vehicles and systems to ensegulatory compliance. Unlike in the U
where we self-certify our vehicles’ compliance wstiandards, we must obtain advanced approval fegulatory agencies regarding the prope
certification or homologation of our vehicles ta@minto these markets. This process necessitaa¢$areign regulatory officials review and
certify our vehicles prior to market entry. In atitoti, we must comply with regulations applicablevéticles after they enter the market,
including foreign reporting requirements and regainagement systems.

To the extent U.S. or international laws changeesor all of our vehicles may not comply with argmwnapplicable international,
federal, state or local laws, which would have dwease effect on our business. Compliance with gimgnregulations could be burdensome,
time consuming, and expensive. To the extent canpé with new regulations is cost prohibitive, business, prospects, financial condition
and operating results will be adversely affected.

33




We retain certain personal information about our stomers and may be subject to various privacy aodsumer protection laws.

Our collection, use, retention, security and transf personal information of our customers is sabjo federal, state, and international
laws. These laws continue to be enacted and maycbasistent from jurisdiction to jurisdiction. Cphging with changing international laws
may cause us to incur substantial costs, expotelagal liability or require us to change our Imesis practices. Our privacy policy is postec
our website, and any failure by us or our vendastber business partners to comply with it or vi@tleral, state or international privacy, data
protection or security laws or regulations coulsutein regulatory or litigation-related actionsaagst us, legal liability, fines, damages and
other costs. Although we take steps to protectéwueirity of our customers’ personal information,may be required to expend significant
resources to comply with data breach requireménitérd parties improperly obtain and use the peasinformation of our customers or we
otherwise experience a data loss with respectstomers’ personal information. A major breach aof metwork security and systems could
have serious negative consequences for our busgassl future prospects, including possible fipegalties and damages, reduced customel
demand for our vehicles, and harm to our reputaitsh brand.

We may be compelled to undertake product recallsadte other actions, which could adversely affectr dorand image and financial
performance.

Any product recall in the future may result in acbeepublicity, damage our brand and adversely affecbusiness, prospects, operating
results and financial condition. We previously exgeced product recalls in May 2009, October 20d@ 2une 2013, none of which was rele
to our electric powertrain. In April 2009, we detened that a condition caused by insufficient t&igg of the rear inner hub flange bolt exis
in some of our Tesla Roadsters, as a result okaadiprocess during the manufacture of the Tesd@$®er glider. In October 2010, we initia
a product recall after the 12 volt, low voltage iliary cable in a single vehicle chafed againstedge of a carbon fiber panel in the vehicle
causing a short, smoke and possible fire behindighe front headlamp of the vehicle. In June 2048, initiated a recall of slightly more than
one thousand Model S vehicles to inspect and repairseat strikers that may have been comprondisedg the assembly process. Rear seat
strikers are used to retain the rear seat backs irpright position. Failure of this component rhaye resulted in collapse of the rear seat bac
during a crash. Finally, in January 2014, we impdated a firmware update to address issues withinddniversal Mobile Connector NEMA
14-50 adapters, which are part of the chargingsiant are not part of the vehicles themselvesngiatly overheating during charging. In the
future, we may at various times, voluntarily orahwntarily, initiate a recall if any of our vehidgincluding Model S, or our electric powertrain
components prove to be defective or noncompliatit efpplicable federal motor vehicle safety stanslaBaich recalls, voluntary or involunte
involve significant expense and diversion of mamaget attention and other resources, and could adlyeaffect our brand image in our target
markets, as well as our business, prospects, fialarandition and results of operations.

Our current and future warranty reserves may be ufBcient to cover future warranty claims which cdd adversely affect our financial
performance.

If our warranty reserves are inadequate to coverréuvarranty claims on our vehicles, our businpesspects, financial condition and
operating results could be materially and adveraffscted. Warranty reserves include managemenssdstimate of the projected costs to
repair or to replace items under warranty. Theiemates are based on actual claims incurred to-@ladean estimate of the nature, frequency
and costs of future claims. These estimates aerémily uncertain and changes to our historicgrojected experience may cause material
changes to our warranty reserves in the futurejeStito separate limited warranties for the supjgletal restraint system and battery, we
provide a four year or 50,000 mile New Vehicle Liieai Warranty for the purchasers of Model S. The Nehicle Limited Warranty for
Model S also covers the drive unit for eight yemrd the battery for a period of eight years or @28 ,miles or unlimited miles, depending on
the size of the vehicle’s battery; although thadygts charging capacity is not covered under tie&Nehicle Limited Warranty or any
Extended Service plan.

In addition, customers have the opportunity to pase an Extended Service plan for the period #feeend of the New Vehicle Limited
Warranty for Model S to cover additional servicesdn additional four years or 50,000 miles, predidt is purchased within a specified per
of time. The New Vehicle Limited Warranty and Exded Service plans for the Tesla Roadster and M®dee subject to certain limitations,
exclusions or separate warranties, including aestagar items, such as tires, brake pads, paingandral appearance, and battery performs
and is intended to cover parts and labor to regefiects in material or workmanship in the vehial@uding the body, chassis, suspension,
interior, electronic systems, powertrain and brajkgem. We have previously provided our Tesla Readsistomers with a battery replacen
option to replace the battery in their vehicleamy time after the expiration of the New Vehiclenitied Warranty but before the tenth
anniversary of the purchase date of their vehiddslitionally, in 2013, as part of our ongoing etto improve the customer ownership
experience, we expanded the battery pack warramtyakso eliminated the annual service requirenteitwas needed to keep the New Vehicle
Limited Warranty in effect. Should this change iaranty coverage lead to an increase in warraaiyns, we may need to record additional
warranty reserves which would negatively affect prafitability.
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Our insurance strategy may not be adequate to pecotes from all business risks.

We may be subject, in the ordinary course of bissin® losses resulting from products liabilitygidents, acts of God and other claims
against us, for which we may have no insurancerege While we currently maintain general liabiliautomobile, property, workers’
compensation, and directors’ and officers’ insueapolicies, as a general matter, we do not mairsimuch insurance coverage as many oth
companies do, and in some cases, we do not maamgiat all. Additionally, the policies that we Have may include significant deductibles,
and we cannot be certain that our insurance coeesdlybe sufficient to cover all future claims agst us. A loss that is uninsured or which
exceeds policy limits may require us to pay suliEdbamounts, which could adversely affect our ficial condition and operating results.

Our financial results may vary significantly from griod-to-period due fluctuations in our operatingosts and the seasonality of our
business.

We expect our period-to-period operating resultgaiy based on our operating costs which we artieipiill increase significantly in
future periods as we, among other things, desigveldp and manufacture Model X and future productsease the production capacity at oul
manufacturing facilities to produce vehicles atheigvolumes, develop the Gigafactory, open newarsstvice centers with maintenance and
repair capabilities, open new Supercharger locatimtrease our sales and marketing activities,jreréase our general and administrative
functions to support our growing operations. Agsuit of these factors, we believe that quartegttarter comparisons of our operating results
especially in the shoterm, are not necessarily meaningful and that thesgarisons cannot be relied upon as indicatofstofe performanc
Moreover, our operating results may not meet exgtiects of equity research analysts or investoranyf of this occurs, the trading price of our
common stock could fall substantially, either sudger over time.

Additionally, sales of new cars in the automobilduistry typically decline over the winter seasod are generally higher during the
spring and summer months. We anticipate that dessd Model S and future models may have simigassnality, but our limited operating
history makes it difficult for us to judge the ekaature or extent of the seasonality of our bussn®ur operating results could also suffer if
do not achieve revenue consistent with our expecsfor this seasonal demand because many ofxpenses are based on anticipated levels
of annual revenue.

Unauthorized control or manipulation of our vehict systems may cause them to operate improperigairat all, or compromise their
safety and data security, which could result in $osf confidence in us and our vehicles and harm dursiness.

There have been reports of vehicles of other aubdmmanufacturers being “hacked” to grant accesksaperation of the vehicles to
unauthorized persons and would-be thieves. Ourclehiand in particular Model S, are technologjcatlvanced machines requiring the
interoperation of numerous complex and evolvinglhare and software systems. Subject to our cussrakility to opt out pursuant to our
privacy policy, Model S is designed with built-iatd connectivity to accept and install periodic o&grupdates from us to improve or update
the functionality of these systems. Although weéhdesigned, implemented and tested security mesaBuprevent unauthorized access to oul
vehicles and their systems, our information techggplinetworks and communications with our vehicles e vulnerable to interception,
manipulation, damage, disruptions or shutdownstdwtacks by hackers or breaches due to erropeisonnel who have access to our
networks and systems. Any such attacks or breamhéd result in unexpected control of or changesuiovehiclesfunctionality, user interfac
and performance characteristics. Hackers may asaimilar means to gain access to data storedgarerated by the vehicle, such as its
current geographical position, previous and stolestination address history and web browser “fagesi Any such unauthorized control of
vehicles or access to or loss of information caakllt in legal claims or proceedings and negativgicity, which would negatively affect our
brand and harm our business, prospects, finanaaiton and operating results.

The range and power of our electric vehicles oniagde charge declines over time, and this may négally influence potential
customers’ decisions whether to purchase our vebicl

The range and power of our electric vehicles oimgles charge declines principally as a functiousdge, time and charging patterns as
well as other factors. How a customer uses thestaleshicle, the frequency of recharging the bpfpack at a low state of charge and the
means of charging can result in additional detation of the battery pack’s ability to hold a creamyer the long term. For example, we
currently expect that our battery pack for the adsbadster will retain approximately 70% of itsliépto hold its initial charge after
approximately 100,000 miles or seven years, whiithr@sult in a decrease to the vehicle’s initiahge and power. Preliminary internal testing
and customer results of Model S to date suggettittarioration of the Model S battery pack to dsslthan the Roadster, however, such b
pack deterioration and the related decrease irerand power over time as well as any perceivedidettion or fluctuation in range may
negatively influence potential customer decisiofmetier to purchase our vehicles, which may harmability to market and sell our vehicles.
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We may need or want to raise additional funds aheése funds may not be available to us when we rtbed. If we cannot raise
additional funds when we need or want them, our ogons and prospects could be negatively affected.

The design, manufacture, sale and servicing ofraolbdles is a capital intensive business. We exihettour principal sources of
liquidity will provide us adequate liquidity based our current plans. However, until we are corsiy generating positive free cash flows, if
the costs for developing and manufacturing ModelbdX&eed our expectations or if we incur any sigaiftcunplanned expenses or embark on c
accelerate new significant strategic investmentsh @s the Gigafactory, we may need to raise aditifunds through the issuance of equity,
equity-related or debt securities or through oltajreredit from government or financial institutBrThis capital will be necessary to fund our
ongoing operations, continue research and developprejects, including those for our planned Modelrossover and Model 3 vehicle,
establish sales and service centers, build andgé&lperchargers and to make the investments limgoand manufacturing capital required to
introduce Model X. We cannot be certain that addal funds will be available to us on favorablertewhen required, or at all. If we cannot
raise additional funds when we need them, our firmrondition, results of operations, business mudpects could be materially adversely
affected.

If we fail to effectively manage the residual, finaing and credit risks for our recently launched Mel S leasing program, our business
may suffer.

We recently introduced a leasing program in thetéthStates and Canada through our captive finamopany, Tesla Finance. The
profitability of the leasing program depends on ability to accurately project residual values,usecadequate financing and/or business
partners to fund and grow this program, and macag®mer credit risk. If actual residual valuedafdel S vehicles are below our estimates,
we may suffer lower profitability or potentially v losses. If we are unable to adequately fundemsing program with either internal funds
external financing sources, we may be unable tovgrar sales. Additionally, if we do not properlyraen customers for ability to pay their
leases on time, we may be exposed to excessivi deld and associated losses. Furthermore, ifeaging business grows substantially, our
business may suffer if we cannot effectively manthgegreater levels of residual and credit rislssiitetng from growth. Finally, if we do not
successfully monitor and comply with federal aratesfinancial regulations and consumer protectovslgoverning lease transactions, we |
become subject to enforcement actions or penaéiidger of which may harm our business.

Any failure to execute on the Daimler B-Class EVgqgram could hurt our reputation as well as our piitdbility on this program.

We have worked with Daimler to develop a full etecpowertrain for a Daimler Mercedes-Benz B-CIBs&vehicle. We have
substantially completed our development servicefeuthis B-Class program and commenced producfi@tectric powertrains and battery
packs for Daimler. The supply agreement for thesedycts contemplates customary obligations of e s timely deliveries, warranty and
product defect obligations. If we fail to meet thebligations, or if we exceed our current cosfgmiions for producing these products, our
profitability on this program will suffer and tht®uld have a negative impact on our operating t&sul

We may face regulatory limitations on our abilitp sell vehicles directly or over the internet whicbuld materially and adversely affect
our ability to sell our electric vehicles.

We sell our vehicles from our Tesla stores as a®lbver the internet. We may not be able to selehicles through this sales model in
each state in the United States as many stateddasdhat may be interpreted to prohibit intersedes by manufacturers to residents of the
state or to impose other limitations on this saheslel, including laws that prohibit manufacturerni selling vehicles directly to consumers
without the use of an independent dealership drawit a physical presence in the state. In certailesin which we are not able to obtain de
licenses, we have worked with state regulatorgpenaalleries, which are locations where potewctigtomers can view our vehicles but are nc
full retail locations. It is possible that a staggulator could later determine that the actividesur gallery constitute unlicensed sales of moto
vehicles.

In many states, the application of state motoraleHaws to our specific sales model is largelyested under state motor vehicle
industry laws and is being determined by a fact#jgeanalysis of numerous factors, including wheattve have a physical presence or
employees in the applicable state, whether we édeesr conduct other activities in the applicadtkte, how the sale transaction is structured,
the volume of sales into the state, and whethestidite in question prohibits manufacturers fronmgcas dealers. As a result of the fact spe
and largely untested nature of these issues, anfath that applying these laws intended for thditional automobile distribution model to our
sales model allows for some interpretation andrdt@m by the regulators, the manner in which thgliaable authorities are applying their
state laws to our distribution model continuesedlfificult to predict. Laws in some states haweitied our ability to obtain dealer licenses
from state motor vehicle regulators and may comtittudo so.
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In addition, decisions by regulators permittingasell vehicles may be subject to challenges aghtether such decisions comply with
applicable state motor vehicle industry laws. Barmaple, vehicle dealer associations in New YorkioGimnd Massachusetts have filed lawsuits
to revoke dealer licenses issued to us. These IWgve been dismissed, and in one recent couaigide, the Supreme Court of Massachut
held that state franchise laws like the one in Mekasetts do not restrict a manufacturer, likedablt does not use franchised dealers from
selling its vehicles directly to consumers. Sudules have reinforced our continuing belief thatesiaws were not designed to prevent our
distribution model. Similar lawsuits have beendila Georgia and Missouri. Possible additional ldmges in other states, if successful, could
restrict or prohibit our ability to sell our vehéd to residents in such states. In some states, lhge also been regulatory and legislative effor
by vehicle dealer associations to propose billsragdlations that, if enacted, would prevent usifibtaining dealer licenses in their states
given our current sales model. Such events recentiyrred in New Jersey, where the Motor Vehiclen@ussion, at the behest of the local
automobile dealer lobby, passed a new regulatiaohwburported to invalidate our sales licensehdtate, and in Michigan, where the state’
automobile dealer association managed to add lgegingo an unrelated bill that had the effect gpaining our right to sell vehicles through
Tesla stores in Michigan. We have brought a lanisuew Jersey to invalidate that regulation, whighbelieve to be unlawful, and we are
evaluating legislative and litigation solutionsréanedy the situation in Michigan. Other stateshsagNew York, Ohio and Pennsylvania, have
passed legislation that clarifies our ability teagte, but at the same time limits the number efatdicenses we can obtain or stores that we
can operate.

We are also registered as both a motor vehicle faaturer and dealer in Canada, Australia, and Japahhave obtained licenses to sel
vehicles in other places such as Hong Kong andaCkiarthermore, while we have performed an anabfsise principal laws in the European
Union relating to our distribution model and bekewe comply with such laws, we have not performedraplete analysis in all foreign
jurisdictions in which we may sell vehicles. Accimigly, there may be laws in jurisdictions we haee yet entered or laws we are unawar
in jurisdictions we have entered that may restigt sales or other business practices. Even faethgisdictions we have analyzed, the laws ir
this area can be complex, difficult to interpretlanay change over time.

We may need to defend ourselves against patentaatemark infringement claims, which may be time-camming and would cause us to
incur substantial costs.

Companies, organizations or individuals, including competitors, may hold or obtain patents, traaishor other proprietary rights tl
would prevent, limit or interfere with our abilitp make, use, develop, sell or market our vehigtesomponents, which could make it more
difficult for us to operate our business. From timdéime, we may receive communications from had#rpatents or trademarks regarding t
proprietary rights. Companies holding patents beptntellectual property rights may bring suiteging infringement of such rights or
otherwise assert their rights and urge us to tak@i$es. In addition, if we are determined to hiafringed upon a third party’s intellectual
property rights, we may be required to do one orentd the following:

e cease selling, incorporating or using vehicleefering goods or services that incorporate orthgechallenged intellectual
property;
e  pay substantial damage

e obtain a license from the holder of the infringeillectual property right, which license may betavailable on reasonable terms
or at all;

e redesign our vehicles or other goods or service
e  establish and maintain alternative branding formmaducts and service

In the event of a successful claim of infringemagdinst us and our failure or inability to obtailicense to the infringed technology or
other intellectual property right, our businessgmects, operating results and financial conditiounld be materially adversely affected. In
addition, any litigation or claims, whether or malid, could result in substantial costs and diver®f resources and management attention.

We may also face claims that our use of technolicgysed or otherwise obtained from a third pamfyinges the rights of others. In st
cases, we may seek indemnification from our licestsappliers under our contracts with them. Howgwelemnification may be unavailable
insufficient to cover our costs and losses, dependn our use of the technology, whether we chtmsetain control over conduct of the
litigation, and other factors.

37




Our patent applications may not result in issuedteats, which may have a material adverse effectoom ability to prevent others from
interfering with our commercialization of our prodcis.

The status of patents involves complex legal aotlifd questions and the breadth and effectivenfgsatented claims is uncertain. We
cannot be certain that we are the first creaténwdntions covered by pending patent applicatiarthe first to file patent applications on these
inventions, nor can we be certain that our pengignt applications will result in issued patentthat any of our issued patents will afford
sufficient protection against someone creating@ckoff of our products, or as a defense againstnapetitor who claims that we are infringing
its patents. In addition, patent applications filedoreign countries are subject to laws, ruled procedures that differ from those of the Unitec
States, and thus we cannot be certain that forgaggent applications related to issued U.S. patgititsesult in issued patents in those foreign
jurisdictions. In addition, others may obtain paseihat we need to license or design around, eithehich would increase costs and n
adversely affect our business, prospects, finawoiatlition and operating results.

Our trademark applications in certain countries ream subject to outstanding opposition proceedings.

We currently sell and market our products and sesvin various countries under our Tesla marksheie filed trademark applications
for our Tesla marks and opposition proceedingsadeimark applications of third parties in variongamtries in which we currently sell and p
to sell our products and services. Certain of addmark applications are subject to outstandin@psition proceedings brought by owners or
applicants alleging prior applications for or useimilar marks. If we cannot resolve these oppoiset and thereby secure registered rights in
these countries, our ability to challenge thirdtypaisers of the Tesla marks will be reduced and/éthee of the marks representing our exclu
brand name in these countries will be diluted.ddition, there is a risk that the prior rights owsieould in the future take actions to challenge
our use of the Tesla marks in these countries. &atitbns could have a severe impact on our positidhese countries and may inhibit our
ability to use the Tesla marks in these countifese were prevented from using the Tesla markanyn or all of these countries, we would n
to expend significant additional financial and nmegtikg resources on establishing an alternativedoidentity in these markets.

Our facilities or operations could be damaged onauisely affected as a result of disasters or ungctable events.

Our corporate headquarters in Palo Alto, Tesladfgéh Fremont and additional component manufactufacilities in Lathrop are
located in Northern California, a region known $aismic activity. If major disasters such as earétkgs, fires, floods, hurricanes, wars,
terrorist attacks, computer viruses, pandemicdhweraevents occur, or our information system or mmmications network breaks down or
operates improperly, our headquarters and produéicilities may be seriously damaged, or we maxetia stop or delay production and
shipment of our products. In addition, our leageoiar Palo Alto facility permits the landlord tateinate the lease following a casualty event i
the needed repairs are in excess of certain thidsshad we do not agree to pay for any uninsuresuats. We may incur expenses relating to
such damages, which could have a material advensacdt on our business, operating results and finhoandition.

If our suppliers fail to use ethical business pramts and comply with applicable laws and regulatsgrour brand image could be harmed
due to negative publicity.

Our core values, which include developing the haglygiality electric vehicles while operating withiégrity, are an important compon
of our brand image, which makes our reputationi@aerly sensitive to allegations of unethical mgesis practices. We do not control our
independent suppliers or their business practisesordingly, we cannot guarantee their compliandé ethical business practices, such as
environmental responsibility, fair wage practicagspropriate sourcing of raw materials, and compkawith child labor laws, among others. A
lack of demonstrated compliance could lead us ¢& séternative suppliers, which could increaseamsts and result in delayed delivery of our
products, product shortages or other disruptiorsuofoperations.

Violation of labor or other laws by our supplierstioe divergence of an independent supplier's laivather practices from those
generally accepted as ethical in the United Statedher markets in which we do business could atsact negative publicity for us and our
brand. This could diminish the value of our bramé&ge and reduce demand for our performance elegthicles if, as a result of such violati
we were to attract negative publicity. If we, on@t manufacturers in our industry, encounter singitablems in the future, it could harm our
brand image, business, prospects, financial camdénd operating results.
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Servicing our convertible senior notes requiresigrsficant amount of cash, and we may not have saiént cash flow from our business
to pay our substantial debt.

We incurred $660.0 million, $920.0 million and $4 illion, respectively, in aggregate principal ambof senior indebtedness when
issued pursuant to registered public offerings % ®@nvertible senior notes due 2018 (2018 NotegpitB, and 0.25% convertible senior nc
due 2019 (2019 Notes) and 1.25% convertible serdtes due 2021 (2021 Notes) in 2014. Our abilitsnake scheduled payments of the
principal when due, to make quarterly interest payts or to make payments upon conversion or toaefie the Notes, depends on our future
performance, which is subject to economic, finalncampetitive and other factors beyond our cont@lr business may not continue to
generate cash flow from operations in the futufécent to satisfy our obligations under the Notesl any future indebtedness we may incur
and to make necessary capital expenditures. Ifree@@able to generate such cash flow, we may heéreztito adopt one or more alternatives,
such as reducing or delaying investments or capipénditures, selling assets, refinancing or abtgiadditional equity capital on terms that
may be onerous or highly dilutive. Our ability &finance the Notes or future indebtedness will ddpmn the capital markets and our financial
condition at such time. We may not be able to eaga@ny of these activities or engage in theseites on desirable terms, which could
result in a default on the Notes or future indebéess.

Pursuant to their terms, holders may convert tRetes at their option at any time prior to the Fithaee-month period of the scheduled
term of the respective Notes only under certaiourirstances. For example, holders may generallyerbtheir Notes at their option during a
quarter (and only during such quarter), commenuiitly the fourth quarter of 2013 in the case of 2088 Notes and the third quarter of 201
the case of the 2019 Notes and the 2021 Notdw Ifatst reported sale price of our common stoclafdeast 20 trading days (whether or not
consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutiveitigadays ending on the last trading day of the imlisitely preceding quarter is greater tha
equal to 130% of the conversion price for sucheseof Notes on each applicable trading day. Asaltref this conversion feature, the 2018
Notes have been convertible at their hol’ option during each quarter commencing with therflo quarter of 2013, except the first quarter of
2014. Neither this nor any other conversion feahas been met with respect to the 2019 Notes @2t [Sotes, and consequently the 2019
Notes and 2021 have not been convertible at thoddteln’ option Upon conversion of the Notes, we will Haigated to make cash payments in
respect of the principal amounts thereof, and we atso have to deliver cash and, if applicablereshaf our common stock, in respect of suct
Notes. Any conversion of the Notes prior to theaturity, or acceleration of the repayment of thagsar future indebtedness after :
applicable notice or grace periods could have @rn#ziadverse effect on our business, results efains and financial condition.

In addition, holders of the Notes will have thehtigp require us to purchase their Notes upon teeimwence of a fundamental change
purchase price equal to 100% of the principal amhofithe Notes, plus accrued and unpaid intertanhy, to, but not including, the
fundamental change purchase date. However, we otdyawe enough available cash or be able to ofitencing at the time we are required
to make purchases of Notes surrendered therefdotas being converted. In addition, our abilityptarchase the Notes or to pay cash upon
conversions of the Notes may be limited by lawrdgulatory authority or by agreements governingfoture indebtedness. Our failure to
purchase Notes at a time when the purchase isreghby the indenture or to pay cash payable ondutanversions of the Notes as required b
the indenture would constitute a default underinidenture. If the repayment of the related indeiésg were to be accelerated after any
applicable notice or grace periods, we may not lsaNficient funds to repay the indebtedness andimse the Notes or make cash payments
upon conversions thereof.

We may still incur substantially more debt or takéher actions, which would intensify the risks disgsed above.

We and our subsidiaries are not restricted undeteims of the indenture governing the Notes, eiirildenture, from incurring additior
debt, securing existing or future debt, recapitadjzour debt or taking a number of other actiorsd Hre not limited by the terms of the inden
that could have the effect of diminishing our ahito make payments on the Notes when due.

The classification of our Notes may have a mater&fect on our reported financial results.

As described in the Risk Facto6ervicing our convertible senior notes requiresgmiicant amount of cash, and we may not have
sufficient cash flow from our business to pay albrstantial debt,"Notes have been historically, and may become iriuthee, convertible at
the option of their holders prior to their schedilerms under certain circumstanceg&ven if holders do not elect to convert their Notas
Notes become convertible prior to their scheduledunity dates, we would be required to reclassiighsNotes and the related debt issue
costs as current liabilities and certain portiohswr equity outside of equity to mezzanine equithjch would have an adverse impact on our
reported financial results for such quarter, andldbhave an adverse impact on the market pricesoEommon stock.
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Risks Related to the Ownership of our Common Stock

Concentration of ownership among our existing exase officers, directors and their affiliates maygvent new investors from
influencing significant corporate decisions.

As of December 31, 2014, our executive officersgators and their affiliates beneficially ownedtlie aggregate, approximately 28.0%
of our outstanding shares of common stock. In paldr, Elon Musk, our Chief Executive Officer, Puatl Architect and Chairman of our Boi
of Directors, beneficially owned approximately 2. 6f our outstanding shares of common stock asezeinber 31, 2014. As a result, these
stockholders will be able to exercise a signifidantl of control over all matters requiring stookder approval, including the election of
directors, amendment of our certificate of incogtimn and approval of significant corporate tratisas. This control could have the effect of
delaying or preventing a change of control of campany or changes in management and will makeghegal of certain transactions
difficult or impossible without the support of tleestockholders.

The trading price of our common stock is likely tmntinue to be volatile.

Our shares of common stock began trading on thea@dp&lobal Select Market in 2010 and, therefore tthding history for our
common stock has been limited. In addition, thditrg price of our common stock has been highly tileland could continue to be subject to
wide fluctuations in response to various factoosns of which are beyond our control. Our commoglsttas experienced an intra-day trading
high of $291.42 per share and a low of $177.2%hpare over the last 52 weeks.

In addition, the stock market in general, and tlekat for technology companies in particular, hgsegienced extreme price and volu
fluctuations that have often been unrelated orrdizprtionate to the operating performance of ttamapanies. Broad market and industry
factors may seriously affect the market price ahpanies’ stock, including ours, regardless of datparating performance. These fluctuations
may be even more pronounced in the trading madkeddr stock during the period following a secestoffering. In addition, in the past,
following periods of volatility in the overall magk and the market price of a particular comparsgcurities, securities class action litigatios
often been instituted against these companieseXample, a shareholder litigation like this wasdilgainst us in 2013. While the trial court
recently dismissed the plaintiffs’ complaint witrejudice, this litigation (if the trial coud’order is successfully appealed) or others likeuid
result in substantial costs and a diversion ofroanagement’s attention and resources.

A substantial portion of our total outstanding shas are held by a small number of insiders and inees and may be sold in the near
future. The large number of shares eligible for plidsale or subject to rights requiring us to regés them for public sale could depress
the market price of our common stock.

The market price of our common stock could declisa result of sales of a large number of sharesrofommon stock in the market in
the future, and the perception that these saldsl cmeur may also depress the market price of ommaon stock. Stockholders owning a
substantial portion of our total outstanding sharesentitled, under contracts providing for ragison rights, to require us to register shares o
our common stock owned by them for public saldhmWnited States, subject to the restrictions déRd44. In addition, we have registered
shares previously issued or reserved for futurgaisse under our equity compensation plans and mgrs, a portion of which are related to
outstanding option awards. Subject to the satigfiaaf applicable exercise periods and the sharesramon stock issued upon exercise of
outstanding options will be available for immediegsale in the United States in the open markdesS# our common stock as restrictions enc
or pursuant to registration rights may make it ndificult for us to sell equity securities in tifiture at a time and at a price that we deem
appropriate. These sales also could cause our ptarkto fall and make it more difficult to selares of our common stock.

Conversion of the Notes may dilute the ownershipeirest of existing stockholders, including holdesho had previously converted their
Notes, or may otherwise depress the price of ounowmn stock.

The conversion of some or all of the Notes willitil the ownership interests of existing stockhaderthe extent we deliver shares u
conversion of any of the Notes. As described inRisk Factor “Servicing our convertible senior notes requiresgaificant amount of cash,
and we may not have sufficient cash flow from ausiress to pay our substantial debtyotes have been historically, and may become in the
future, convertible at the option of their holdpror to their scheduled terms under certain cirstamces. Any sales in the public market of the
common stock issuable upon such conversion cowdradly affect prevailing market prices of our coomstock. In addition, the existence of
the Notes may encourage short selling by markeiczants because the conversion of the Notes doelldsed to satisfy short positions, or
anticipated conversion of the Notes into sharesuofcommon stock could depress the price of oumsomstock.
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The convertible note hedge and warrant transactiome entered into in connection with the issuanceMdtes may affect the value of the
Notes and our common stock.

In connection with each issuance of the Notes, mtered into convertible note hedge transactionk thi¢ hedge counterparties. The
convertible note hedge transactions cover, subjectistomary anti-dilution adjustments, the numifeshares of our common stock that
initially underlay the applicable Notes. The coril®e note hedge transactions are expected to esthecpotential dilution and/or offset
potential cash payments we are required to mak&dass of the principal amount upon conversiomefapplicable Notes. We also entered
warrant transactions with the hedge counterparéiesing to the same number of shares of our comstmek, subject to customary adilution
adjustments. However, the warrant transactionsdceegparately have a dilutive effect on our comnionksto the extent that the market price
per share of our common stock exceeds the appticaibike price of the warrants on the applicablgiration dates.

In addition, the hedge counterparties or theiliatés may modify their hedge positions by enteiittg or unwinding various derivatives
with respect to our common stock and/or purchasimgglling our common stock or other securitieswfs in secondary market transactions
prior to the maturity of the applicable Notes (amd likely to do so during any observation perieldted to a conversion of Notes). This acti
could also cause or prevent an increase or a deriedhe market price of our common stock or theekl.

We do not make any representation or predictioio &ise direction or magnitude of any potential effinat the transactions described
above may have on the prices of the Notes or threstof our common stock. In addition, we do nokerany representation that the hedge
counterparties have engaged or will engage in tlrassactions or that these transactions, once emoed, will not be discontinued without
natice.

Mr. Musk borrowed funds from affiliates of certainnderwriters in our public offerings and/or privatplacements and has pledged
shares of our common stock to secure these borr@sinThe forced sale of these shares pursuant toaagin call could cause our stock
price to decline and negatively impact our business

Beginning in June 2011, banking institutions that afiliated with certain underwriters of our colefed public offerings of common
stock and Notes made extensions of credit to Eloskvand the Elon Musk Revocable Trust dated Ju)y2@@3, or the Trust, a portion of
which Mr. Musk used to purchase shares of commmeksh our public offering in May 2013 and privatlecements in June 2011 and June
2013. Interest on such loans accrues at market aaet the banking institutions received customeeg fand expense reimbursements in
connection with these loans.

We are not a party to these loans, which are éalburse against Mr. Musk and the Trust and areredday pledges of a portion of the
Tesla common stock currently owned by Mr. Musk #relTrust and other shares of capital stock oflated entities owned by Mr. Musk and
the Trust. The terms of these loans were negotitedtly between Mr. Musk and the applicable bagknstitutions.

If the price of our common stock declines, Mr. Musky be forced by one or more of the banking instits to provide additional
collateral for the loans or to sell shares of Teslammon stock in order to remain within the maigiitations imposed under the terms of his
loans. The loans between these banking institutonthe one hand, and Mr. Musk and the Trust other hand, prohibit the non-pledged
shares currently owned by Mr. Musk and the Trusinfibeing pledged to secure any other loans. Tlaesers may limit Mr. Musk’s ability to
either pledge additional shares of Tesla commaotksto sell shares of Tesla common stock as a nmeaasoid or satisfy a margin call with
respect to his pledged Tesla common stock in tleatesf a decline in our stock price that is largewgh to trigger a margin call. Any sales of
common stock following a margin call that is natisfeed may cause the price of our common stoaletcline further.

Anti-takeover provisions contained in our certifita of incorporation and bylaws, the provisions otl@aware law, and the terms of our
convertible notes could impair a takeover attempt.

Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws, Delaw#ae and the terms of our Notes contain provisiohgctv could have the effect of
rendering more difficult, delaying or preventingasquisition deemed undesirable by our board @fctlirs. Our corporate governance
documents include provisions:

e creating a classified board of directors whose mamberve staggered th-year terms

e authorizing “blank checkpreferred stock, which could be issued by the beatitout stockholder approval and may contain va
liquidation, dividend and other rights superiootar common stock

e limiting the liability of, and providing indemnifation to, our directors and officel
e limiting the ability of our stockholders to call@bring business before special meetit

e requiring advance notice of stockholder propo&aidusiness to be conducted at meetings of mekbblders and for nominations
of candidates for election to our board of direst
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e  controlling the procedures for the conduct and dalieg of board and stockholder meetings;

e  providing the board of directors with the exprpesver to postpone previously scheduled annualimgseand to cancel previously
scheduled special meeting

These provisions, alone or together, could delgyrevent hostile takeovers and changes in controhanges in our management.

As a Delaware corporation, we are also subjectdgigions of Delaware law, including Section 203l Delaware General
Corporation law, which prevents some stockholdetdihg more than 15% of our outstanding commonlksfomm engaging in certain business
combinations without approval of the holders ofsgahtially all of our outstanding common stock.

Any provision of our certificate of incorporatiom bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect ohgiglg or deterring a change in cont
could limit the opportunity for our stockholdersraxeive a premium for their shares of our comntonks and could also affect the price that
some investors are willing to pay for our commatkt

In addition, the terms of the convertible notesuiegjus to repurchase the convertible notes irettemt of a fundamental change. A
takeover of our company would trigger an optiorthaf holders of the convertible notes to requiréougpurchase the convertible notes. This
may have the effect of delaying or preventing &tader of our company that would otherwise be berafio our stockholders or investors in
the convertible notes.

The fundamental change repurchase feature of thetBl® may delay or prevent an otherwise beneficid¢atpt to take over our compar

The terms of the Notes require us to repurchasalthes in the event of a fundamental change. Aaageof our company would trigger
options by the respective holders of the applichliges to require us to repurchase such Notes.iaishave the effect of delaying or
preventing a takeover of our company that woulantlise be beneficial to our stockholders or invessio the Notes.

If securities or industry analysts publishing resezn or reports about us, our business or our marlatange their recommendations
regarding our stock adversely or cease to publissearch or reports about us, our stock price anading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will bduehced by the research and reports that industsgaurities analysts may publish
about us, our business, our market or our compstitbany of the analysts who may cover us chahge& recommendation regarding our st
adversely, or provide more favorable relative resmndations about our competitors, our stock prioalt/likely decline. If any analyst who
may cover us were to cease coverage of our compmaiayl to regularly publish reports on us, we abldse visibility in the financial markets,
which in turn could cause our stock price or trgdimlume to decline.

| TEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

| TEM 2. PROPERTIES
The following table sets forth the location, appnoate size and primary use of our principal leaaed owned facilities:

Approximate Lease
Size (Building) Expiration
Location in Square Feet Primary Use Date
Fremont, California 5,400,00( Manufacturing, administration, engineering servjests Owned building
warehousing, and vehicle serv
Palo Alto, California 350,00 Corporate headquarters, administration, engineesngices January 2020
and powertrain development servic
Tilburg, Netherlands 203,77: Administration, engineering services, powertrainalepment November 2023
services, parts warehousing, final vehicle asserabty/vehicle
service
Lathrop, Californic 430,77C Manufacturing Owned building®
Amsterdam, Netherlanc 71,14z Administration February 202:
Hawthorne, Californi: 132,25( Vehicle engineering and design servi December 202
Maidenhead, United Kingdol 8,87C Administration, sales, service and marketing ses November 201!
Beijing, China 8,19C Administration, sales and marketing servi November 201’
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(1) As of December 31, 2014, the Lathrop property widnest to a lease agreement. In January 2015, €gsela@ised its option to purchase the Latt
property under the terms of the lease agreer

In addition to the properties included in the tadib®ve, we also lease a number of properties ithNamerica, Europe and Asia for our
retail and service locations as well as Superchaiges.

We currently intend to add new facilities or expanul existing facilities as we add employees amher our network of stores and

galleries, service locations and Supercharger. dMesbelieve that suitable additional or alternatpace will be available in the future on
commercially reasonable terms to accommodate gaséeable future expansion.

| TEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
See Item 8 of Part Il, Financial Statements andhfaupentary Data—Note 11-€ommitments and Contingencies

| TEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART Il

| TEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock has traded on The NASDAQ Globldd#larket under the symbol “TSLA” since it begaading on June 29, 2010.
Our initial public offering was priced at $17.00r ghare on June 28, 2010. The following table feth, for the time period indicated, the high
and low closing sales price of our common stociegsrted on The NASDAQ Global Select Market.

2014 2013
High Low High Low
First Quartel $ 254.8¢ $ 139.3¢ $ 39.4¢ $ 32.91
Second Quarte 240.0¢ 178.5¢ 110.3¢ 40.5C
Third Quartel 286.0¢ 215.4(C 193.3i 109.0t
Fourth Quarte 260.62 197.81 193.0C 120.5C

Holders

As of January 31, 2015, there were 769 holdere@dnd of our common stock. A substantially greatenber of holders of our common
stock are “street name” or beneficial holders, vehsisares are held by banks, brokers and othercielanstitutions.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividends ona@umon stock. We currently do not anticipate pgyany cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. Any future determination tol@ieccash dividends will be made at the discretibour board of directors, subject to
applicable laws, and will depend on our financ@hdition, results of operations, capital requireteggeneral business conditions and other
factors that our board of directors may deem releva

Stock Performance Graph

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filéaf’ purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exghakct of 1934, as amended (the
Exchange Act), or incorporated by reference intg iling of Tesla Motors, Inc. under the Securithes of 1933, as amended, or the Excha
Act, except as shall be expressly set forth byispeeference in such filing
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The following graph shows a comparison from June2Pa0 through December 31, 2014, of the cumulagtted return for our common
stock, the NASDAQ Composite Index, and a groupligiiblic companies sharing the same SIC code aghith is SIC code 3711, “Motor
Vehicles and Passenger Car Bodies” (Motor Vehiates Passenger Car Bodies Public Company Grouph i&tierns are based on historical
results and are not intended to suggest futur@peence. Data for The NASDAQ Composite Index amdMiotor Vehicles and Passenger Car
Bodies Public Company Group assumes an investniéita® on June 29, 2010 and reinvestment of diddeVe have never declared or paic
cash dividends on our capital stock nor do we ggte paying any such cash dividends in the fosdseduture.
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Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
None.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Afiated Purchasers
None.
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| TEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
The following selected consolidated financial dgttauld be read in conjunction with “Management’sddission and Analysis of

Financial Condition and Results of Operatioast our consolidated financial statements andetaed notes included elsewhere in this An

Report on Form 10-K.

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Total revenue $ 3,198,351 $ 2,013,449 $ 413,25¢ $ 204,24 $ 116,744
Gross profit 881,67 456,26 30,067 61,59¢ 30,731
Loss from operation (186,689 (61,287) (394,287) (251,48%) (146,83¢)
Net loss $ (294,040 $ (74,019 $ (396,219 $ (254,41) $ (154,32%)
Net loss per share of common stock, basic a

diluted (1) $ (2.36) $ (062 $ (369 $ (253 $ (3.09)

Weighted average shares used in computing

(1)

net loss per share of common stock,
basic and diluted (: 124,573,41 119,421,41. 107,349,18 100,388,81 50,718,30:

Diluted net loss per share of common stock is cdebaxcluding common stock subject to repurchase, idilutive, potential shares
common stock outstanding during the period. Paiésliares of common stock consist of stock optionmirchase shares of our commor
stock, the conversion of our convertible senioesdusing the treasury stock method), warrantsitohase shares of our common stock
issued in connection with our 2018 Notes, 2019 Blaed 2021 Notes (using the treasury stock methvatyants to purchase shares of
our convertible preferred stock (using the treastiogk method) and the conversion of our convertreferred stock and convertible
notes payable (using the if-converted method).deoposes of these calculations, potential sharesmfmon stock have been excluded
from the calculation of diluted net loss per shafreommon stock as their effect is antidilutivecgirwe generated a net loss in each
period.

As of December 31

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital (deficit $ 1,091,449 $ 590,77¢ $ (14,340 $ 181,49¢ $ 150,32
Total asset 5,849,25: 2,416,93( 1,114,191 713,44¢ 386,08:
Total lon¢-term obligations (1)(2 2,772,17¢ 1,074,65( 450,38: 298,06« 93,46¢

1)

(2)

In May 2013, we issued $660.0 million aggregatincipal amount of 2018 Notes in a public offigriln accordance with accounting
guidance on embedded conversion features, we valudifurcated the conversion option associatekl thie 2018 Notes from the host
debt instrument and initially recorded the comargption of $82.8 million in equity. During theuidh quarter of 2014, the closing price
of our common stock exceeded 130% of the applicatmeersion price of our 2018 Notes on at leashf2Be last 30 consecutive trading
days of the quarter; therefore, holders of 2018&Kabay convert their notes during the first quasfe2015. As such, we classified the
$601.6 million carrying value of our 2018 Notescasrent liabilities on our condensed consolidateldibce sheet as of December 31,
2014.

In March 2014, we issued $800.0 million prin¢igmount of 0.25% convertible senior notes due 2@049 Notes) and $1.20 billion
principal amount of 1.25% convertible senior natas 2021 (2021 Notes) in a public offering. In AR914, we issued an additional
$120.0 million aggregate principal amount of 201&eé¢ and $180.0 million aggregate principal amafi2021 Notes, pursuant to the
exercise in full of the overallotment options o thnderwriters of our March 2014 public offering.dccordance with accounting
guidance on embedded conversion features, we valugtifurcated the conversion option associatéh thie notes from the host debt
instrument and recorded the conversion option 88$IL million for the 2019 Notes and $369.4 million the 2021 Notes in stockholders’
equity.

As of August 31, 2012, we had fully drawn doeur $465.0 million under our DOE loan facility. May 2013, we used a portion of the
Notes offering proceeds to repay all outstandiragnlamounts under the DOE Loan Facil
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| TEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should belri@aconjunction with our consolidated financiahtments and the related notes that
appear elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Overview and 2014 Highlights

We design, develop, manufacture and sell high-pexdioce fully electric vehicles, advanced electabiele powertrain components and
stationary energy storage applications. We aresatly producing and selling our second vehicle Muoglel S sedan. Model S is a four door,
five-passenger premium sedan that offers exceptaréormance, functionality and attractive stylifidne Model S inherited many of the
electric powertrain innovations we introduced watlr first vehicle, the Tesla Roadster. We commeémtsdiveries of Model S in June 2012 i
have delivered 56,768 vehicles through Decembe2@14. We recently announced the availability af AlrWheel Drive Dual Motor Model
S and began delivery, starting with a performangtitzed version, in December 2014.

We are continuing to develop our Model X crossoxadricle and intend to commence customer delivéniéise third quarter of 2015.
After the Model X, our goal is to introduce ModelaBlower priced sedan designed for the mass mark2017.

Our primary source of revenue is from the salewsfuehicles. During the year ended December 314 20& recognized total revenues
of $3.20 billion, an increase of $1.19 billion otetal revenues of $2.01 billion for the year en@estember 31, 2013, primarily driven by
growth of Model S deliveries worldwide.

Gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2@E42%.6%, a significant increase from 22.7% forytsa ended December 31, 2C
Higher vehicle production volume, supply chain@éicies and component cost reductions, partidfsebby one-time manufacturing
inefficiencies associated with transitioning to aemw final assembly line and introduction of Allheel Drive Dual Motor Model S, contribut
to higher gross margin in 2014.

Research and development (R&D) expenses for thegreled December 31, 2014 were $464.7 millionparease from $232.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2013. R&D expens2@14 reflected our engineering work on Modelsdnll as development work on our
dual motor powertrain and other development programoluding localization efforts for foreign markeR&D expenses in 2013 reflected our
activities on manufacturing process improvementsgd® S cost reductions, the right-hand drive M&lehd localization efforts for foreign
markets, as well as development work on Model X.

During 2014, we significantly increased our saled service footprint worldwide, entered several mearkets including China, as well
as accelerated the rollout of our Superchargingoit With the continued global expansion of oustomer support infrastructure and the
business in general in 2014, selling, general @mdiistrative expenses were $603.7 million forykar ended December 31, 2014, comparec
to $285.6 million for the year ended December 1,32

Management Opportunities, Challenges and Risks
Orders, Production and Deliveries

Our orders for Model S in 2014 significantly incsed from the prior year as we expanded our op@sitigernationally and introduced
Model S product enhancements. In October 2014ewealed our All-Wheel Drive Dual Motor Model S aowalr Autopilot system. This
version of Model S proved very popular, leadingter 10,000 unfulfilled orders as of January 1,20%We expect that demand for Model S
will continue to increase worldwide as more peapiige and become aware of our vehicles, as we gnovwcustomer support infrastructure,
and as we broaden the appeal of our products.

As of December 31, 2014, we had received almo§i0®0reservations for Model X in advance of its pkeahintroduction later this
year. We are continuing to test the Beta Moderdtqtypes, and plan to begin building and testisgnall fleet of release candidate Mode
vehicles later in the first quarter of 2015. Ohility to launch the Model X program on time andtefficiently is dependent upon a variety of
factors, including completion of production tooljrempplier readiness, engineering completion aadstitcessful completion of our validation
testing.

In order to meet this anticipated demand for bothidM S and Model X, we are executing a plan toeiase our combined Model S and
Model X production capacity to over 2,000 units peek by the end of 2015. In August 2014, we begarproduction ramp by transitioning
to our new final assembly line and upgrading ouhbecenter. We are planning further investmentsradpction capacity during 2015,
including building a new paint shop and a new bsldgp for Model X. We expect our annual productiathincrease by over 50% each year
for the next several years.
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Our recent production capacity expansion contrithtiveseveral weeks of production in excess of 1\@)tcles per week during the last
few months of 2014. However, the changeover tonew final assembly line during the third quarte264 and the introduction of All-Wheel
Drive Dual Motor Model S onto this line during tfaurth quarter of 2014 took longer than we expect€dnsequently, we delivered fewer
vehicles than we had planned in 2014. During 2@&b5plan to achieve significant efficiencies in Mb& production and begin production of
Model X with the intent of achieving a significanfaster initial production ramp than we achievathwlodel S. Any unexpected issues with
the expansion of our production capacity or theatduand ramp of Model X production could affect ability to meet future delivery targets.

In addition to expanding our production, we exgeatontinue to lower the cost of manufacturing eeicles and improve our gross
margin. Significant cost improvements for Modek&re achieved in 2013 and 2014, including part mdtictions as well as manufacturing
efficiencies. We expect that this trend will congnas we execute on our roadmap. We expect thatisyorovements, when combined with a
favorable mix of vehicles, will allow us to achieae80% gross margin on Model S by the end of 28$8uming no further deterioration in
foreign currencies. However, we expect theseiogstovements will be partially offset by productioefficiencies during the introduction of
Model X. During our product introductions in 20ide incurred manufacturing inefficiencies which atégely impacted our gross
margin. When we introduce Model X, we expect thath production inefficiencies and supply chairfficencies typical of a new product
introduction will suppress Model X margins for ahst a few quarters after its introduction. Ifave not able to achieve the planned cost
reductions from our various cost savings and pgaprovement initiatives or introduce Model X eféintly, our ability to reach our gross
margin goals would be negatively affected.

We expect to deliver approximately 55,000 Modeh8 X vehicles worldwide in 2015, approximately 74%re deliveries than we
achieved in 2014. To support this growth, we ptanontinue to expand our Supercharger, storesarvice infrastructure worldwide as well
as to provide better service in areas with a higicentration of Model S customers. As we now dffedel S in countries throughout North
America, Europe and Asia, our expansion will prittiyamccur in geographic areas in which we alreadyéha presence. Based on our current
projections, we expect our long-term sales outsfddorth America will increase to almost half oframorldwide automotive sales. Despite
initial challenges in China, we plan to continuerteest in our infrastructure in China as we bddid¢ivat the country could be one of our largest
markets within a few years. However, as compaseddrkets in the United States and Europe, we telaévely limited experience in Asian
markets; thus, we may face continuing difficultieseting our future expansion plans in Asia.

Trends in Capital Expenditures and Operating Expsns

Our capital expenditures and operating expensesfisantly increased in 2014. As we continue tedst in the long term growth of
Tesla, capital spending and operating expenseswrilinue to increase, but at a more moderate thacein 2014. During 2015, capital
expenditures are expected to be about $1.5 bi#tlfowe expand production capacity, complete Modéé¥elopment, and invest in the
Gigafactory, our stores and service centers. \&f alan to grow our Supercharger network by ovés His year as well as continue other
product development programs, including Model 3.

Our operating expenses will continue to grow in20ddut at less than half the pace of growth in 2@t4pproximately 45% to 50%
annualized. Our R&D expenses in particular wilhttoue to increase as we complete the developraaldation, and testing of Model X and
accelerate design and engineering work on Mod@ér8wth of sales, general and administrative expenskebe more modest as we will be
particularly focused on increasing operationalogficy while we continue to expand our customer@nrgorate infrastructure. Over time, we
expect overall operating expenses to decreas@eacantage of revenue.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 the net book v@leair Supercharger network was $107.8 million $88.6 million and currently
includes 380 locations globally. We plan to condiriovesting in our Supercharger network for the$eeable future, including in North
America, Europe and Asia and expect such spendibg tpproximately 5% of total capital spendingrdtie next 12 months. We allocate
Supercharger related expenses to cost of revent@sative sales and selling, general, and admatisé expenses. These costs were
immaterial for all periods presented.

Customer Financing Options

We offer loans and leases in North America, Eurame Asia primarily through various financial ingtibns. In 2013, we began offeri
a resale value guarantee in connection with celtains offered by financial institutions and haires provided this guarantee to
approximately 10,400 Model S customers. Model $/dgks with the resale value guarantee currerdlyak impact our cash flows and
liquidity, since we receive the full amount of cdshthe vehicle sales price at delivery. Howeweis program requires the deferral of revenue
and costs into future periods under lease accayirithough lease accounting will continue to imipawr revenues and operating results as
and similar programs initially ramp up, as timegess the amortization of existing deferred reveramnescosts will begin to partially offset this
adverse impact. Furthermore, while we do not assamyecredit risk related to the customer, we apoegd to the risk that the vehicles’ resale
value may be lower than our estimates and the wlofhwvehicles returned to us may be higher tharestimates which could adversely impact
our gross margin.
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We currently offer leases in the U.S. directly frdmsla Finance, our captive financing entity, ali aethrough a bank partner. Leasing
through Tesla Finance is now available in 37 stdkesDistrict of Columbia and in 4 provinces ofnf@da. We leased approximately 1,150
vehicles through Tesla Finance during 2014 and tadymproximately 200 vehicles through our bankingme. Leasing through both Tesla
Finance and our banking partner exposes us touasidlue risk and will adversely impact our neznt revenues and operating results by
requiring the deferral of revenues and costs intoré periods under lease accounting. In addifmmieases offered directly from Tesla Fina
(but not for those offered through our bank paitnge will not receive the full amount of the cdshthe vehicle price at delivery and will
assume customer credit risk. We expect to increaséeasing activities during 2015.

We have set the residual values given to our custenmder our resale value guarantee program atwenastimate will be the trade-in
value of these vehicles at the end of the ternh@foption. Based on current market demand focars, we estimate the resale prices for our
vehicles will continue to be above our resale vgluarantee amounts. Should market values or cestdemand decrease, these estimates
be impacted materially.

The Tesla Gigafactory

We are developing the Tesla Gigafactory, a faciliyere we intend to work together with our suppglir integrate battery precursor
material, cell, module and battery pack productioone location. In June 2014, we broke groundhenGigafactory outside of Reno, Nevada.
Construction continued during the end of 2014 aaegelerated pace with first cells expected torbdyced in 2016 for use in Model S and
Model X.

While our plan is to produce lithium-ion cells dfimished battery packs at the Gigafactory, our gl such production are at a very
early stage. We have no experience in the produdiidithium-ion cells, and accordingly we interaléngage partners with significant
experience in cell production. We recently formadiour agreement with Panasonic to partner on ihaf&tory. Panasonic will invest in
production equipment that it will use to manufaetand supply us with battery cells. We will prepanel provide the land, buildings and
utilities for the Gigafactory, invest in productieguipment for battery module and pack productiwh lae responsible for the overall
management of the Gigafactory. We anticipate bniggin additional partners for the Gigafactory teate a fully integrated industrial compli
Although planning discussions with production angdy chain partners continue to progress weltjate we have not formalized any
agreements with any other partners. In additiom cthst of building and operating the Gigafactoryldexceed our current expectations anc
Gigafactory may take longer to bring online thanamécipate.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparadcordance with accounting principles generatigepted in the United States. The
preparation of these consolidated financial statdsequires us to make estimates and assumpliahaffect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses anceckldisclosures. We base our estimates on histaniqedrience, as appropriate, and on various
other assumptions that we believe to be reasommler the circumstances. Changes in the accouesiiipates are reasonably likely to occur
from period to period. Accordingly, actual resutsild differ significantly from the estimates mageour management. We evaluate our
estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basifieTextent that there are material differences batvtieese estimates and actual results, our
future financial statement presentation, financaidition, results of operations and cash flow$ gl affected. We believe that the following
critical accounting policies involve a greater dagof judgment and complexity than our other actingrpolicies. Accordingly, these are the
policies we believe are the most critical to untierding and evaluating our consolidated finanadaldition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition
Automotive Sales

We recognize automotive sales revenue from sal®todl S, including vehicle options, accessories d@stination charges, vehicle
service and sales of regulatory credits, such as &itfl greenhouse gas emission (GHG) credits. Weratognize automotive sales revenue
from the sales of electric vehicle powertrain comgats and systems, such as battery packs andudhitge to other manufacturers. Revenue is
recognized when (i) persuasive evidence of an geraent exists; (ii) delivery has occurred and tlaeeeno uncertainties regarding customer
acceptance; (iii) fees are fixed or determinabhet @v) collection is reasonably assured.

Car sales include certain standard features artdroes selected options and configurations that rimeetiefinition of a deliverable unc
multiple-element accounting guidance, includinginet connectivity, Supercharging access, and fipecioftware updates for cars equipped
with Autopilot hardware. These deliverables araigdlon a stand-alone basis and we recognize tHated revenue over our performance
period which is generally the eight-year life oétbar or, for software upgrades, as they are delivdf we sell a derivable separately, we use
that pricing to determine its fair value; otherwisge use our best estimated selling price by cemsid third party pricing of similar options,
costs used to develop and deliver the servicep#met information which may be available.
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Resale Value Guarantee

We offer a resale value guarantee program to custmho purchase a Model S and finance their veltitbugh one of our commerc
banking partners in the US, Canada and Europe. ithideprogram, Model S customers have the optfaeling their vehicle back to us
during the period from 36 to 39 months after delper a specified value determined at time of hase. Because we offer a resale value
guarantee, we account for these transactions aatopeleases. Accordingly, we recognize reventréatable to the lease on a straight-line
basis over the guarantee period to automotive salesnue. Similarly, we capitalize the cost of feesed vehicle and depreciate its value, less
expected salvage value, to cost of automotive salesthe same period.

At the end of the guarantee period, which is thiexaof 39 months or the pay-off date of the ilitioan, the resale value guarantee and
deferred revenue balances are settled to autonmsdies revenue and the net book value of the lead@dle is expensed to costs of automotive
sales if our customer retains ownership of the ¢aicases where a customer returns the vehicle tioags between months 36 and 39, we issu
a check to the customer in the amount of the resdles guarantee and settle any remaining defeensghue balance to automotive sales
revenue.

At least annually, we assess the estimated madteés of vehicles under our resale value guargntegam. As we accumulate more
data related to the resale values of Model S, therg be significant changes to their estimatede&lu

Maintenance and Service Plans

We offer a prepaid maintenance program for Modell8ch includes plans covering maintenance foraugight years or up to 100,000
miles, provided these services are purchased watisipecified period of time. The maintenance ptamver annual inspections and the
replacement of wear and tear parts, excluding &inesthe battery, with either a fixed fee per VisitTesla Ranger service or unlimited Tesla
Ranger visits for a higher initial purchase prieayments collected in advance of the performansemice are initially recorded in deferred
revenues on the consolidated balance sheets amghnieed in automotive sales as we fulfill our perfance obligations.

We also offer an extended service plan, which cotles repair or replacement of Model S parts foadditional four years or up to an
additional 50,000 miles, after the end of our alitilew Vehicle Limited Warranty, provided they gu&rchased within a specified period of
time. For customers that are not covered by our Mehicle Limited Warranties or our extended senptans, we offer Tesla Ranger servic
a higher cost. Payments collected in advance gbénfdrmance of service are initially recorded @fedred revenues on the consolidated
balance sheets and recognized in automotive satigisly over the service coverage periods.

We provided Tesla Roadster customers with the dppity to purchase an extended warranty plan ferperiod after the end of our
initial New Vehicle Limited Warranty to cover addibal services for an additional three years 0086 miles. We refer to this program as our
Extended Service plan. Amounts collected on thakssre initially recorded in deferred revenueshenconsolidated balance sheets and
recognized in automotive sales over the extendecawty period.

Additionally, we have previously provided customef®ur Tesla Roadsters with a one-time optiorefdace the battery packs in their
vehicles at any time after the expiration of theMNéehicle Limited Warranty but before the tenth imensary of the purchase date of their
vehicles. We refer to this program as our BattegplRcement program. Amounts collected on thesas sateinitially recorded in deferred
revenues on the consolidated balance sheets amghieed in automotive sales as we fulfill our obtign to replace the battery packs.

Inventory Valuation

We value our inventories at the lower of cost orketn Cost is computed using standard cost, whighiaximates actual cost on a first-
in, first-out basis. We record inventory write-dosfior estimated obsolescence or unmarketable iovestbased upon assumptions about
future demand forecasts. If our inventory on hanith iexcess of our future demand forecast, thessxamounts are written off.

We also review inventory to determine whether #gying value exceeds the net amount realizabla tipe ultimate sale of the
inventory. This requires us to determine the edtiahaelling price of our vehicles less the estigaiast to convert inventory on hand into a
finished product.

Once inventory is written-down, a new, lower-caasik for that inventory is established and subsgiqeleanges in facts and
circumstances do not result in the restoratiomorease in that newly established cost basis.

Should our estimates of future selling prices adpiction costs change, material changes to theseves may be required. A small
change in our estimates may result in a materiatgento our reported financial results.
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Warranties

We provide a warranty on all vehicles, productionvprtrain components and systems sales, and weeaa@rranty reserves upon
delivery to customer. Warranty reserves include agament’s best estimate of the projected costspair or to replace any items under
warranty. These estimates are based on actuallagurred to-date and an estimate of the nattequéncy and costs of future claims. We
review our reserves at least quarterly to enswuredbr accruals are adequate in meeting expectecefwarranty obligations, and we will adj
our estimates as needed. These estimates areritijienecertain and changes to our historical ojgued experience may cause material
changes to our warranty reserves in the future.ptngon of the warranty provision expected to feurred within 12 months is classified as
current within accrued liabilities, while the remizig amount is classified as long-term within otleerg-term liabilities. During the third
quarter of 2014, we extended the warranty on oud@& drive unit to eight years from four and reased our overall powertrain and vehicle
warranty reserves which resulted in an additioharge of approximately $14.0 million.

Our warranty reserves do not include projected avdyr costs associated with our operating leaseckeshiincluding those sold with
resale value or similar guarantee terms. In sases actual warranty costs are expensed as in@mcedre recorded as a component of cost ¢
revenues.

Valuation of Stock-Based Awards
Stock-Based Compensation

We use the fair value method of accounting forsiack options and restricted stock units (RSUshtgiito employees and our
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) to measuoashef employee services received in exchangthtostockbased awards. The fair val
of stock options and ESPP are estimated on the dede and offering date using the Black-Scholg®ogoricing model. The fair value of
RSUs is measured on the grant date based on thiegl@ir market value of our common stock. Theultgsy cost is recognized over the per
during which an employee is required to provideviserin exchange for the awards, usually the vggtieriod which is generally four years for
stock options and RSUs and six months for the ESRIgk-based compensation expense is recognizadstaight-line basis, net of estimated
forfeitures.

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model requiresuispsuch as the risk-free interest rate, expeetad and expected volatility. Further,
the forfeiture rate also affects the amount of aggte compensation. These inputs are subjectivgemetally require significant judgment.

We estimate our forfeiture rate based on an arsabfsbur actual forfeiture experience and will ¢oué to evaluate the appropriateness
of the forfeiture rate based on actual forfeituxperience, analysis of employee turnover behavidra@her factors. Quarterly changes in the
estimated forfeiture rate can have a significafgatfon reported stock-based compensation expasghe cumulative effect of adjusting the
rate for all expense amortization is recognizetheperiod the forfeiture estimate is changed.rthased forfeiture rate is higher than the
previously estimated forfeiture rate, an adjustmg&made that will result in a decrease to thekstzased compensation expense recognized ir
the consolidated financial statements. If a revisefktiture rate is lower than the previously estied forfeiture rate, an adjustment is made th:
will result in an increase to the stock-based camp#ion expense recognized in the consolidateddinhstatements.

As we accumulate additional employee stock-baseatdswdata over time and as we incorporate markatrdiated to our common
stock, we may calculate significantly different atilities, expected lives and forfeiture rates, eth¢ould materially impact the valuation of our
stock-based awards and the stock-based compensapense that we will recognize in future peridgteck-based compensation expense is
recorded in our cost of revenues, research andajgwent expenses, and selling, general and admaitiigt expenses.

In August 2012, our Board of Directors granted 8,201 stock options to our CEO (2012 CEO Grant)e 2012 CEO Grant consists
of ten vesting tranches with a vesting scheduledastirely on the attainment of both performarmaditions and market conditions, assuming
continued employment and service to us through easting date.

Each of the vesting tranches requires a combinati@me of the ten pre-determined performance faitess outlined below and an
incremental increase in our market capitalizatib40 billion, as compared to the initial markeaptalization of $3.2 billion measured at the
time of the 2012 CEO Grant.

« Successful completion of the Model X Alpha Protatyp
» Successful completion of the Model X Beta Prototype
« Completion of the first Model X Production Vehicle;

« Successful completion of the Model 3 Alpha Protetyp
» Successful completion of the Model 3 Beta Prototype

51




« Completion of the first Model 3 Production Vehicle;

« Gross margin of 30% or more for four consecutivartgrs;
« Aggregate vehicle production of 100,000 vehicles;

« Aggregate vehicle production of 200,000 vehicles a

« Aggregate vehicle production of 300,000 vehicles.

The term of the 2012 CEO Grant is ten years, samamghes that remain unvested at the expiraticthe2012 CEO Grant will be
forfeited. In addition, unvested options will lefeited if our CEO is no longer in that role, winet for cause or otherwise.

We measured the fair value of the 2012 CEO Grangus Monte Carlo simulation approach with thedaling assumptions: risk-free
interest rate of 1.65%, expected term of ten yeagsected volatility of 55% and dividend yield &0

Stock-based compensation expense associated wi0t2 CEO Grant is recognized for each pair dioperance and market
conditions over the longer of the expected achiergmeriod of the performance and market conditibeginning at the point in time that the
relevant performance condition is considered prghabbeing met.

As of December 31, 2014, the market conditionsioiesting tranches and the following performamilestone were achieved and
approved by our Board of Directors:
« Successful completion of the Model X Alpha Protatyp

As of December 31, 2014, the following performantkestone was achieved and subject to our Boaireictors’ approval at the upcoming
board meeting:

» Successful completion of the Model X Beta Prototype

As of December 31, 2014 the following three perfance milestones were considered probable of aahiene
« Completion of the first Model X Production Vehicle;
« Successful completion of the Model 3 Alpha Protetygnd
« Aggregate vehicle production of 100,000 vehicles.

As the above three performance milestones werddenes! probable of achievement, we recorded stasledh compensation expense o
$25.0 million, $14.5 million and $1.3 million fon¢ years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2Gh&atévely.

Additionally, no cash compensation has ever beegived by our CEO for his services to the Company.

Income Taxes

We record our provision for income taxes in oursmwitlated statements of operations by estimatimgaxes in each of the jurisdictions
in which we operate. We estimate our actual cuti@nexposure together with assessing temporafgrdiices arising from differing treatment
of items recognized for financial reporting versas return purposes. In general, deferred tax assptesent future tax benefits to be received
when certain expenses previously recognized irconsolidated statements of operations become dbtluekpenses under applicable income
tax laws, or loss or credit carryforwards are m¢iti. Valuation allowances are recorded when negesseeduce deferred tax assets to the
amount expected to be realized.

Significant management judgment is required in heitéing our provision for income taxes, our defdrtax assets and liabilities and :
valuation allowance recorded against our net dedetaix assets. We make these estimates and judgatenit our future taxable income that
are based on assumptions that are consistent witfuture plans. As of December 31, 2014, we hadnded a full valuation allowance on our
net U.S. deferred tax assets because we expedt ithatore likely than not that our U.S. defertad assets will not be realized in the
foreseeable future. Should the actual amountsrdiffen our estimates, the amount of our valuatiboweance could be materially impacted.

52




Furthermore, significant judgment is required ilexating our tax positions. In the ordinary courfbusiness, there are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultenatx settlement is uncertain. As a result, wegeize the effect of this uncertainty on our tax
attributes based on our estimates of the eventuuiabme. These effects are recognized when, despitbelief that our tax return positions are
supportable, we believe that it is more likely thmar that those positions may not be fully sustdingon review by tax authorities. We are
required to file income tax returns in the Uniteet8s and various foreign jurisdictions, which rieggius to interpret the applicable tax laws
and regulations in effect in such jurisdictionscBueturns are subject to audit by the variousrfdstate and foreign taxing authorities, who
may disagree with respect to our tax positions.bBaleeve that our accounting consideration is adexjfox all open audit years based on our
assessment of many factors, including past experiand interpretations of tax law. We review andaie our estimates in light of changing
facts and circumstances, such as the closingaf audit, the lapse of a statute of limitations@naterial change in estimate. To the extent th:
the final tax outcome of these matters differs fraum expectations, such differences may impactriretax expense in the period in which ¢
determination is made. The eventual impact on memme tax expense depends in part if we still lzavaluation allowance recorded against
our deferred tax assets in the period that sudriakation is made.

Results of Operations
Revenues
Automotive Sales

Automotive sales, which include vehicle, optiond aslated sales, and powertrain component ancecekales, consisted of the
following for the periods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Vehicle, options and related sa $ 3,079,41' $ 1,952,68: $ 354,34«
Powertrain component and related s 113,30¢ 45,10z 31,35¢
Total automotive sale $ 3,192,72: $ 1,997,78¢ $ 385,69¢

Vehicle, options and related sales primarily repn¢sevenues related to deliveries of Model S uidiclg vehicle options, accessories ant
destination charges, vehicle service and salesguflatory credits to other automotive manufactuéasvertrain component and related sales
represent the sales of electric vehicle powerttamponents and systems, such as battery packsiaedidits, to other manufacturers.

Vehicle, options and related sales during the yeaded December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 were $8lio®, $1.95 billion, and $354
million. The significant increases in vehicle, @pts and related sales was primarily driven by #megrin Model S deliveries, including the
commencement of deliveries to Europe in August 28@ China in April 2014. Deliveries of Model S vebs were 31,655 in 2014, 22,477 in
2013, and 2,636 in 2012 following the commenceno¢oiur Model S deliveries in June 2012. The inceeaso resulted from higher sales of
regulatory credits year-over-year. During the yeamded December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 regulatedjt sales were $216.3 million,
$194.4 million, and $40.5 million.

In April 2013, we launched our resale value guaamrogram. During the year ending December 314,20& delivered 5,224 cars and
recognized $128.2 million revenue under this prograuring 2013 we delivered 5,179 under this progead recognized $29.1 million of
revenue. As of December 31, 2014, we recorded $3#8lion in deferred revenues and $487.9 millianmésale value guarantee related to
Model S deliveries with the resale value guaranteeof December 31, 2013, we recorded $230.9 miliodeferred revenues and $236.3
million in resale value guarantee related to Mdleleliveries with the resale value guarantee

Powertrain component and related sales for th@gepresented were related to powertrain compa@@as to Daimler under the
Mercedes-Benz B-Class Electric Drive program witiocimmenced in April 2014 and to Toyota under the RAY program. Powertrain
component and related sales for the years endeenizsr 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 were $113.3 milds,1 million and $31.4 million.
During the third quarter of 2014, we completed®#v4 EV program.
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Development Services

Development services represent arrangements whedewvelop electric vehicle powertrain componentsarstems for other automot
manufacturers, including the design and developrokbattery packs, drive units and chargers to mestomers’ specifications. We provided
development services to Daimler and Toyota to ssibie development of electric powertrains fax Mercedes Benz B-Class EV and the
Toyota RAV4. During the years ended December 81422013 and 2012, we recognized revenue undse greangement in the amounts of
$5.6 million, $15.7 million, $27.6 million. We damhexpect any significant development servicesitore periods.

Beginning in the first quarter of 2015, we will ¢fige the caption of this to be Services and OtheeRee. This will include other
revenues related to powertrain component saleabmier and other OEMs, vehicle service and sale® fused Model S cars.

Cost of Revenues and Gross Profit
Cost of revenues includes cost of automotive saelscosts related to our development services.

Cost of automotive sales for the year ended DeceBthe2014, 2013, and 2012 were $2.31 billion, $h#lion, and $371.7 million.
Cost of automotive sales includes direct partsenedtand labor costs, manufacturing overheaduitinly amortized tooling costs, royalty fees,
shipping and logistic costs and reserves for eséichevarranty expenses. Cost of automotive salesimtéudes adjustments to warranty
expense, charges to write down the carrying valumioinventory when it exceeds its estimated patizable value and to provide for obsolete
and on-hand inventory in excess of forecasted ddraad charges related to write down of fixed asseti®onger in use for the production of
Model S or our powertrain component sales. Thee@®e in cost of automotive sales was driven priynyi the ramp in Model S deliveries.

In the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013cegmized $66.1 million and $19.4 million, respeelyy in cost of automotive sales
related to vehicle depreciation for cars accoufite@ds operating leases. For cars accounted flaaass our warranty reserves do not include
projected warranty costs as such actual warrargts@re expensed as incurred. For the years enelmehiber 31, 2014 and 2013, warranty
costs incurred for our lease vehicles were $7.0aniand $1.6 million.

Gross profit for the years ended December 31, 20043, and 2012 were $881.7 million, $456.3 milleord $30.1 million Gross margin
for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, ah? ®@re 27.6%, 22.7%, and 7.3%. The increase issgooofit from 2013 to 2014 was
primarily due to manufacturing and supply chainoé$hcies as well as component cost reductionshégtter regulatory credit sales, partially
offset by one-time manufacturing inefficienciesasated with transitioning to our new final asseynble and launch of AlWheel Drive Dua
Motor Model S. The increase in gross profit fromi2@o 2013 was primarily due to higher vehicle pretibn volumes, cost reduction efforts
including process efficiencies in manufacturing aogply chain, design improvements, as well asagaiu of waste in the supply chain.

Research and Development Expen:

Research and development (R&D) expenses consisaply of personnel costs for our teams in engiimgeand research, supply chain,
quality, manufacturing engineering and manufactutest organizations, prototyping expense, contaiadtprofessional services and amortizec
equipment expense. Overhead costs related to ttla Factory prior to the start of production of Mb& are also included in R&D expenses.
Also included in R&D expenses are development ses/costs that we incur, if any, prior to the firation of agreements with our
development services customers as reaching adgrabment and revenue recognition is not assumeklBpment services costs incurred afte
the finalization of an agreement are recorded &t obrevenues.

R&D expenses for the year ended December 31, 2@td $464.7 million, an increase from $232.0 millfonthe year ended
December 31, 2013. The increase in R&D expensesisted primarily of an $85.3 million increase ingayee compensation expenses, a
$60.7 million increase in expensed materials prilnéw support our Model X, dual motor powertraimceright-hand drive Model S
development, a $50.9 million increase in costgedl#o Model X, dual motor powertrain and right-datrive Model S engineering, design and
testing activities, a $28.1 million increase incktdased compensation expense related to incré@seftount and increasing values of awards
granted, a $4.1 million increase in office, infotina technology and facilities-related costs ar&8z8 million increase in shipping charges for
Model X, dual motor powertrain and right-hand drMedel S development.

R&D expenses for the year ended December 31, 2@1t8 $232.0 million, a decrease from $274.0 milfianthe year ended
December 31, 2012. R&D expenses decreased dugnificint development, prototyping and testing exges related to the Model S launch ir
2012, partially offset by an increase in similastsoin 2013 for Model X and right-hand drive Mo&eand other programs. The $42.0 million
decrease in R&D expenses during the year endedniimre31, 2013 consisted primarily of an $18.2 wmilldecrease in expensed materials, al
$8.5 million decrease in employee compensationresgm a $7.8 million decrease in costs relatedddelS engineering, design and testing
activities, a $6.6 million decrease in shippingrges for Model S prototype materials and a $4.%anildecrease in office, information
technology and facilities-related costs. The desgemas partially offset by a $5.0 million incre@sstock-based compensation expense relate
to a larger number of outstanding equity awardstdwealditional headcount and generally an increggsommon stock valuation applied to n
grants.
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Selling, General and Administrative Expens

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expermassist primarily of personnel and facilities costlated to our Tesla stores,
marketing, sales, executive, finance, human regguinformation technology and legal organizati@ssyell as litigation settlements and fees
for professional and contract services.

SG&A expenses for the year ended December 31, 2@td $603.7 million, an increase from $285.6 millfor the year ended
December 31, 2013. SG&A expenses increased priyrfasiin higher headcount and costs to support aaredgd retail, service and
Supercharger footprint as well as the general drafthe business. The $318.1 million increaseun¥G&A expenses consisted primarily «
$141.1 million increase in employee compensatigreages related to higher sales and marketing heatitmsupport sales activities
worldwide and higher general and administrativedeeant to support the expansion of the busine$438.9 million increase in office,
information technology and facilities-related castsupport the growth of our business as welladesssand marketing activities to handle our
expanding market presence, a $35.8 million incr@astock-based compensation expense related ftiadd headcount and increasing value
of awards granted and a $27.2 million increaseafiggsional and outside services costs.

SG&A expenses for the year ended December 31, @18 $285.6 million, an increase from $150.4 millfor the year ended
December 31, 2012. SG&A expenses increased priyrfasiin higher headcount and costs to support aardgd retail, service and
Supercharger footprint as well as the general dgrmfthe business. The $135.2 million increaseun3G&A expenses during the year ended
December 31, 2013 consisted primarily of a $62 /aniincrease in employee compensation expendateceto higher sales and marketing
headcount to support sales activities worldwide laigtier general and administrative headcount tparighe expansion of the business, a
$36.8 million increase in office, information tecogy and facilities-related costs to support thengh of our business as well as sales and
marketing activities to handle our expanding magkesence, a $17.8 million increase in stock-basatpensation expense related to
additional headcount and increasing value of ag/grdnted and a $17.2 million increase in profesdiand outside services costs.

Interest Expenst

Interest expense for the years ended Decembei034, 2013, and 2012 was $100.9 million, $32.9 oilland $0.3 million. The increa
in interest expense from 2013 to 2014 was dueddastuance of $920.0 million aggregate principabamnt of 2019 Notes and $1.38 billion
aggregate principal amount of 2021 Notes durinditsehalf of 2014. The increase in interest exgeefrom 2012 to 2013 was due to $17.8
million of interest expense incurred upon repaynafrihe Department of Energy (DOE) loan in May 2@dBearly repayment fees, accrued
interest and the amortization of the remaining loggination costs as well as interest associati#l tve $660.0 million aggregate principal
amount of 2018 Notes issued in May 2013.

Other Income (Expense), Net

Other income (expense), net, consists primarilthefchange in the fair value of our DOE commonlstearrant liability and foreign
exchange gains and losses related to our foreigerey-denominated assets and liabilities. We expeacforeign exchange gains and losses
will vary depending upon movements in the undegyéxchange rates. Prior to the expiration of theED@rrant in May 2013, the DOE
warrant had been carried at its estimated fairesalith changes in its fair value reflected in otimeome (expense), net.

Other income (expense), net, for the years endegiber 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $1.8 milliog,6aillion and ($1.8) million.
The other income, net of $22.6 million in 2013 vpasnarily due to the reduction in fair value of ddOE common stock warrant liability of
$10.7 million during the year. In March 2013, weezad into a fourth amendment to the DOE Loan Fgeilhich, among other things,
accelerated the maturity date of our DOE loanseodmber 15, 2017; therefore, the DOE warrant wasmger expected to vest. The other
income, net, also includes the favorable foreigmency exchange impact from our foreign currencyedeinated liabilities during the year
ended December 31, 2013, especially related tdapanese yen.

Provision for Income Taxe:!

Our provision for income taxes for the years enbedember 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 was $9.4 milarg million, and $0.1 million.
The increases in the provision for income taxesevaere primarily to the increase in taxable incomedr international jurisdictions, following
the commencement of European Model S deliveridsugust 2013 and Model S deliveries in Asia in ARGI14.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2014, we had $1.91 billion imgpal sources of liquidity available from our basnd cash equivalents including
$1.27 billion of money market funds. Amounts heldareign currencies had a US dollar equivaler&2i5 million as of December 31, 2014,
and consisted primarily of Chinese yuan, Japaneseguro and Norwegian krone.

Sources of cash are predominately from our dekgeoi Model S, as well as customer deposits fordi&dand Model X, sales of
regulatory credits, cash from the provision of depment services, and sales of powertrain comperamd systems. We expect that our cu
sources of liquidity, including cash and cash ealgints, together with our current projections aftcflow from operating activities, will
provide us with adequate liquidity over the nextmi@nths based on our current plans. These cask fimable us to fund our ongoing
operations, research and development projectsuioplanned Model X, Model 3, and certain other fatproducts; purchase tooling and
manufacturing equipment required to introduce Mdtleind to continue to ramp up production of Modet&nstruct our Gigafactory; and
establish and expand our stores, service centdrSapercharger network. We currently anticipateingaggregate capital expenditures of
about $1.5 billion over the next 12 months.

When market conditions are favorable, we may evalalernatives to pursue liquidity options to fugapital intensive initiatives.
Should prevailing economic, financial, businesstbier factors adversely affect our ability to meet operating cash requirements, we cou
required to obtain funding though traditional adeatative sources of financing. We cannot be aettzt additional funds would be available
us on favorable terms when required, or at all.

Summary of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi $ (57,337) $ 264,80« $ (263,81%
Net cash used in investing activiti (990,444 (249,41°) (206,93()
Net cash provided by financing activiti 2,143,13( 635,42: 419,63

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Our cash flows from operating activities are sigpaiftly affected by our cash investments to supih@igrowth of our business in areas
such as manufacturing, research and developmergediing, general and administrative. Our operatiagh flows are also affected by our
working capital needs to support growth and flutare in inventory, personnel related expendituagspunts payable and other current asset
and liabilities.

Our operating cash inflows include cash from safesur Model S, customer deposits for Model S arati X, sales of regulatory
credits, cash from the provision of developmentises, and sales of powertrain components andragst€hese cash inflows are offset by
payments we make to our suppliers for productiotenels and parts used in our manufacturing prqarsployee compensation, operating
leases and interest expense on our financings.

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities {#&¥.3) million, $264.8 million and ($263.8) mdh in 2014, 2013 and 2012. The
decrease in operating cash flows in 2014 as cordgar2013 was due to an increase in finished goodstory primarily due to cars whose
delivery slipped from Q4 of 2014 to the followingar, an increase in raw material inventory balaatgear end necessary to meet our pla
production requirements for Model S in Q1 of thikof@ing year, higher operating expenses in R&D &@&A, and use of cash for vehicles
directly leased by us, partially offset by incretsash receipts from customer payments on vehatés sincluding an increase in customer
deposits.

The increase in operating cash flows in 2013 aspawed to 2012 was due to an increase in cash tedejn customer payments on
vehicles deliveries, including for cars sold under Resale Value Guarantee program, increasedategylicredits sold and increased customel
deposits from orders for Model S and X. This wadiglly offset by an increase in inventory balaneéyearend necessary to meet our plan
production requirements for Model S in Q1 of thikofeing year.

Customer Deposits

We collect deposits from customers at the time filage an order for a vehicle and, in some locatiancertain additional milestones
to the point of delivery. Customer deposit amowmd timing vary depending on the vehicle model @mghtry of delivery. Customer deposits
related to Model X still represent fully refundabéservations. Amounts are included in currentlités until refunded or until they are appli
to a customer’s purchase balance at time of dglivias of December 31, 2014, we held $257.6 miliiocustomer deposits.
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Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash flows from investing activities primarily redato capital expenditures to support our growtbperations, including investments in
Model S manufacturing equipment and tooling andstares, service centers and Supercharger netwiidstructure. Cash used in investing
activities was $990.4 million, $249.4 million ana®.9 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012. Cash flovesrfrinvesting activities and variability
between each year related primarily to capital edgares, which were $969.9 million, $264.2 milljand $239.2 million in 2014, 2013, and
2012. Expenditures in all years consisted primarflpurchases of capital equipment, tooling, amilifees to support our Model S and Mode
manufacturing.

In 2014, we began construction of our Gigafactagility in Nevada. Tesla’s contribution to totalpital expenditures are expected to b
about $2.0 billion over the next 5 years. In 204d,used cash of $62.2 million towards the consznf the first stage of this project and
expect to spend up to $300 million over the nextritihths.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities was $2ildon, $635.4 million, and $419.6 million in 2812013 and 2012, respectively. The
increase in cash provided from financing in 2014 eompared to 2013 was primarily due to $2.1 hilinet proceeds from the issuance of our
2019 and 2021 Notes, including the associated haddevarrant transactions, representing a $1.iomilhcrease in debt financing as comp:
to 2013. Cash flows from financing in 2013 that dat recur in 2014 included proceeds of $415.0iomlfrom the issuance of common stoc
public and private offerings and $452.3 million dse repay our DOE loans.

The increase in cash provided from financing in2@fd compared to 2012 was primarily due to $585l8n net proceeds from the
issuance of our 2018 Notes, including the assatia¢eige and warrant transactions, and a $193.Bmiticrease in proceeds from public and
private equity issuances. In 2013 we used $452Bmto repay our DOA loans as compared to prosedds188.8 million received during
2012 under these loans.

0.25% and 1.25% Convertible Senior Notes and Boedgd and Warrant Transactions

In 2014, we issued $920.0 million principal amooh©.25% convertible senior notes due 2019 (201&8)cand $1.38 billion principal
amount of 1.25% convertible senior notes due 2@P21 Notes) in a public offering. The total netqeeds from these offerings, after
deducting transaction costs, were approximately®asllion from 2019 Notes and $1.36 billion frod2L Notes, respectively. The interest
rates are fixed at 0.25% and 1.25% per annum ®R@19 and 2021 Notes, respectively, and are payahi-annually in arrears on March 1
and September 1 of each year, commencing on SepteimB014.

In connection with the offering of these notes @12, we purchased a convertible note hedges fd8.864illion and sold warrants
$389.2 million. Taken together, the purchase ofcirevertible note hedges and the sale of warraetsméended to offset any actual dilution
from the conversion of the 2019 Notes and 2021 &lote

During the fourth quarter of 2014, the closing erad our common stock did not meet or exceed 13D#heoapplicable conversion price
of our 2019 Notes and 2021 Notes on at least 2Beofast 30 consecutive trading days of the qudidethermore, no other conditions allowing
holders of these notes to convert have been nat@scember 31, 2014. Therefore, the 2019 Notes282d Notes are not convertible during
the first quarter of 2015 and are classified agitarm debt. Should the closing price conditionsrzg in the first quarter of 2015 or a future
quarter, the Notes will be convertible at theirdesk’ option during the immediately following quent

1.50% Convertible Senior Notes and Bond Hedge aadaht Transactions

In May 2013, we issued $660.0 million aggregatagpal amount of 1.50% convertible senior notes 28 (the Notes) in a public
offering. The net proceeds from the offering, afteducting transaction costs, were approximateA\8&Bmillion. The interest under the Notes
is fixed at 1.50% per annum and is payable semnigally in arrears on June 1 and December 1 &f w@a&r, commencing on December 1, 2(

In connection with the offering of the 2018 Note®, purchased a convertible note hedge for $177l®mand sold warrants for $120.3
million. Taken together, the purchase of the cotilviernote hedges and the sale of warrants aradetdto offset any actual dilution from the
conversion of the 2018 Notes.
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During the fourth quarter of 2014, the closing praf our common stock exceeded 130% of the appécainversion price of our 2018
Notes on at least 20 of the last 30 consecutivtirtgadays of the quarter; therefore, holders of@Rbtes may convert their notes during
first quarter of 2015. Upon conversion of 2018 Notge will be obligated to pay cash for the priatimount of the converted notes and we
may also have to deliver shares of our common stookspect of such converted notes. Any conversfdhe notes prior to their maturity or
acceleration of the repayment of the notes coule lramaterial adverse effect on our cash flowsinless, results of operations and financial
condition. Should the closing price conditions bet in the first quarter of 2015 or a future quarBf18 Notes will be convertible at their
holders’ option during the immediately followingarter. Under current market conditions, we do xpieet the 2018 Notes will be converted
in the short term.

For more information on the 2018 Notes, 2019 Naies, 2021 Notes see Item 8. of Part I, Finandialednents and Supplementary
Data, Note 6 Convertible Notes and Long-Term Debt Obligatiorour Consolidated Financial Statements includetthiis Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Common Stock Offering and Concurrent Private Plaz@m

Concurrent with the execution of the Notes andteeldaransactions in May 2013, we also completedidipoffering of common stock
and sold a total of 3,902,862 shares of our comstock for total cash proceeds of approximately $B5&llion (which includes 487,857
shares or $45.0 million sold to our Chief Executféicer (CEQ)), net of underwriting discounts awftering costs. We also sold 596,272
shares of our common stock to our CEO and receivadicash proceeds of $55.0 million in a privaecpment at the public offering price.

Contractual Obligations

We are party to contractual obligations involvirggramitments to make payments to third parties, wticly certain debt financing
arrangements and leases, primarily for storesjcepenters, certain manufacturing and corpordteest These also include, as part of our
normal business practices, contracts with suppl@rpurchases of certain raw materials, componemnts services to facilitate adequate suppl
of these materials and services and capacity rasemnvcontracts. We have the following contractualgations, including firm purchase
obligations. A purchase obligation is defined asgreement to purchase goods or services thafasceable and legally binding on us and
specifies all significant terms. For obligationgiwtancellation provisions, the amounts includethatable below were limited to the non-
cancelable portion of the agreement terms. Theaggdiming of payments of the obligations in tmeqeding table is estimated based on
current information. Timing of payments and actmlounts paid may be different, depending on the tifireceipt of goods or services, or
changes to agreed-upon amounts for some obligatimsn purchase orders are generally cancellalfidl iar in part at our discretion and are
therefore not considered firm purchase obligations.

The following table sets forth, as of DecemberZ114 certain significant obligations that will affeour future liquidity (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2019 and
Total 2015 2016 2017 2018 thereafter
Operating lease obligatiol $ 406,78 $ 56,522 $ 60,13¢ $ 56,56¢ $ 48,95¢ $ 184,60(
Capital lease obligations, including inter 22,42( 10,152 8,112 3,592 563
Purchase obligatior()(2) 562,97¢ 529,551 20,05t 13,37( — —
2018 Notes, including intere®) 694,40( 694,40( — — — —
2019 Notes, including intere 930,35( 2,30C 2,30C 2,30C 2,30C 921,15(
2021 Notes, including intere 1,492,12! 17,25( 17,25( 17,25( 17,25C 1,423,12!
Total $4,109,05« $1,310,17¢ $107,85¢ $ 93,07¢ $ 69,072 $2,528,87!

(1) Amounts do not include future cash paymentptochase obligations which were recorded in Actepayable or Accrued liabilities at
December 31, 2014

(2) These totals represent aggregate purchase itorants with all vendors. Some of the commitmentduded are our agreements with
Panasonic Corporation, to the extent quantitiestiamidg of such purchases are fixed. Should we itgate the Panasonic contracts prior
to purchasing certain minimum quantities, we waubte an additional $81 million under the terms & #yreement as of December 31,
2014.

(3) During the fourth quarter of 2014, the closprige of our common stock exceeded 130% of thdicgipe conversion price of our 2018
Notes on at least 20 of the last 30 consecutivtirtgadays of the quarter; therefore, holders of@2Rbtes may convert their notes dur
the first quarter of 2015. As such, we classifieel $601.6 million carrying value of our 2018 No#eascurrent liabilities on our condensed
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, &td fave included related contractual paymentsar2015 category in the table
above.
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In connection with our Tesla Factory located inrkoat, California, we are obligated to pay for tkenediation of certain environmental
conditions existing at the time we purchased tlop@rty from New United Motor Manufacturing, Inc.NIMI). As of December 31, 2014 a
2013, we accrued a total of $4.0 million and $5ilian, respectively, related to these environméhhilities. NUMMI is responsible for
remediation costs between $15 million and $30 arillior up to 10 years from the closing date.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

During the periods presented, we did not haveicglahips with unconsolidated entities or finangattnerships, such as entities often
referred to as structured finance or special pwemugities, which would have been establishediferpurpose of facilitating off-balance sheet
arrangements or other contractually narrow or fhipurposes.

| TEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK
Foreign Currency Risk

Our revenues and costs denominated in foreign recies are not completely matched. We commencedatiads of Model S in June
2012 to customers in North America and to Europmestomers in August 2013. We recently introducedl®& to China, Hong Kong, Japan,
and Australia. Through December 31, 2014, a mgjofibur revenues have been denominated in U.$ardoHowever, we have materially
greater revenues than expenses denominated irhihege yuan and Norwegian krona, and materiallgtgreexpenses than revenues
denominated in the Japanese yen. December 31, 20&drdingly, if the value of the U.S. dollar degpiates significantly against currencies
where we have a net short exposure, our costs asurel in U.S. dollars as a percent of our revemilesorrespondingly increase which may
adversely impact our operating results. Conversaythe value of the U.S. dollar appreciates sicamtly against currencies where revenues
exceed expenses, our revenues as measured indllé®s dnay be reduced.

As a result of a favorable foreign currency excleimgpact from foreign currency-denominated lialafit especially related to the
Japanese yen, we recorded gains of $2.0 milliofoi@ign exchange transactions in other income (es@g net, for the year ended
December 31, 2014.

Interest Rate Risk

We had cash and cash equivalents totaling $1.9arbds of December 31, 2014. A significant portafrour cash and cash equivalents
were invested in money market funds. Cash and easivalents are held for working capital purpo$®s.do not enter into investments for
trading or speculative purposes. We believe thatlavaot have any material exposure to change<ifeih value as a result of changes in
interest rates due to the short term nature otash equivalents.

As of December 31, 2014, we had $2.96 billion aggte principal amount of convertible senior notest@anding and capital lease

obligations of $21.8 million, all of which are fideate instruments. Therefore, our results of dpera are not subject to fluctuations in interes
rates.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Téétdors, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated badasheets and the related consolidated statenfeopeiations, of comprehensive loss, of
stockholders’ equity and of cash flows presentyfain all material respects, the financial positiof Tesla Motors, Inc. and its subsidiaries at
December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the results ofdperations and their cash flows for each of kined years in the period ended
December 31, 2014 in conformity with accountingipiples generally accepted in the United Statesnoérica. Also in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, éffednternal control over financial reporting dsDeecember 31, 2014, based on criteria
established imnternal Control - Integrated Framework (2013%sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafrthe Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company’s management ionssiple for these financial statements, for maiiteyj effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of fifreciveness of internal control over financial ogjing, included in Management’'s Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting appeatimgler Item 9A. Our responsibility is to expresgams on these financial statements and
on the Company’s internal control over financigloging based on our integrated audits. We conduste audits in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Ovetdiglard (United States). Those standards requatevtk plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether thecfalatatements are free of material misstatemeahiehether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all matergdpects. Our audits of the financial statememisiited examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the iahstatements, assessing the accounting prirscyed and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financé&éstent presentation. Our audit of internal cordxa@r financial reporting included obtain
an understanding of internal control over finanogdorting, assessing the risk that a material wesk exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internalrcbibiased on the assessed risk. Our audits altadiext performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. Wayé¢hat our audits provide a reasonable basiedo opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (fppeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsofdimpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readwaassurance regarding prevention or timely detectf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
February 26, 2015
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Assets
Current assel
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cash and marketable secur
Accounts receivabl
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Total current asse
Operating lease vehicles, t
Property, plant and equipment, |
Restricted cas
Other asset
Total asset

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenu
Capital lease obligations, current port
Customer deposi
Convertible senior note
Total current liabilities
Capital lease obligations, less current por
Deferred revenue, less current port
Convertible senior notes, less current por
Resale value guarant
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Convertible senior notes (Notes
Stockholders' equity

Tesla Motors, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Preferred stock; $0.001 par value; 100,000,000eshauthorized; no shares

issued and outstandil

Common stock; $0.001 par value; 2,000,000,000 steurthorized as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively; B/HaD7 and 123,090,990
shares issued and outstanding as of Decemb@034,and 2013, respective

Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated defici
Total stockholders' equi
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ

December 31,

December 31,

2014 2013
$ 1,905,71: $ 845,88¢
17,947 3,012
226,60¢ 49,10¢
953,67t 340,35¢
94,71¢ 27,57
3,198,65° 1,265,93¢
766,74¢ 382,42t
1,829,26 738,49:
11,37¢ 6,43¢
43,20¢ 23,631
$ 5,849,25: 2,416,93(
$ 777,94¢ 303,96¢
268,88¢ 108,25:
191,65 91,887
9,532 7,722
257,581 163,15:
601,56¢ 182
2,107,16! 675,16(
12,267 12,85¢
292,27: 181,18(
1,806,51 586,11¢
487,87¢ 236,29¢
173,24 58,197
4,879,34! 1,749,81(
58,19¢ —
126 123
2,345,26( 1,806,61°
(1,433,685 (1,139,620
911,71( 667,12(
$ 5,849,25. $ 2,416,93(

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Revenues
Automotive sale:
Development service
Total revenue
Cost of revenues
Automotive sale:
Development service
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Research and developmt
Selling, general and administrati
Total operating expens
Loss from operation
Interest incom
Interest expens
Other income (expense), r
Loss before income tax
Provision for income taxe
Net loss

Tesla Motors, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Net loss per share of common stock, basic andedi
Weighted average shares used in computing nep&rsshare of

common stock, basic and dilut

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ 3,192,720 $ 1,997,78¢ $  385,69¢
5,632 15,71( 27,551
3,198,35( 2,013,49( 413,25¢
2,310,01; 1,543,87¢ 371,65¢
6,674 13,35¢ 11,531
2,316,68! 1,557,23« 383,18¢
881,677 456,267 30,067
464,70 231,97¢ 273,97¢
603,66( 285,56¢ 150,37
1,068,36( 517,54¢ 424,35(
(186,689 (61,289 (394,28))
1,12€ 18¢ 288
(100,886) (32,93 (254)
1,81¢ 22,60z (1,828)
(284,636) (71,426) (396,07)
9,404 2,58¢ 136
$ (294,040 $ (74,019 $ (396,219
$ (2.36) $ (0.62) $ (3.69)
124,539,34  119,421,41  107,349,18

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Tesla Motors, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Net loss $ (294,040 $ (74,019 $ (396,217
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of

Unrealized net loss on sh-term marketable securitit (22) — —

Reclassification adjustment for gain included ihloss — — 3

Other comprehensive income (lo (22) — 3

Comprehensive los $ (294,062 $ (74,019 $ (396,21()

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Tesla Motors, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Balance as of December 31, 2011
Issuance of common stock in October 2012 publieroff
at $28.25 per share, net of issuance costs&f
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkmpt
net of repurchase
Issuance of common stock under employee stock paech
plan
Stocl-based compensatic
Comprehensive los
Net loss
Unrealized loss on short-term marketable securities
net
Total comprehensive lo:
Balance as of December 31, 2012
Issuance of common stock in May 2013 public offgré
$92.20 per share, net of issuance costs of $t
Issuance of common stock in May 2013 concurrenapei
placements at $92.20 per sh
Conversion feature of convertible senior notes 208
Purchase of bond hedg
Sales of warrar
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkmg
Issuance of common stock upon release of restritterk
units, net of shares withheld for employee tz
Issuance of common stock under employee stock paech
plan
Stocl-based compensatic
Net loss
Balance as of December 31, 2013
Conversion feature of convertible senior notes due
2019 and 202
Purchase of bond hedg
Sales of warrar
Reclass from equity to mezzanine eq
Issuance of common stock upon exercise of stodkmg
Issuance of common stock upon release of restritterk
units, net of shares withheld for employee tz
Issuance of common stock under employee stock paech
plan
Stocl-based compensatic
Comprehensive los
Net loss
Unrealized gain on short-term marketable securities
net
Total comprehensive lo:
Balance as of December 31, 2014

Accumulated

Common Stock Additional Other Total
Paid-In Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders'

Shares Amount Capital Deficit Loss Equity
104,530,30 $ 104 $ 893,337 $ (669,397 $ (3) $ 224,04t
7,964,60: 8 221,48: — — 221,491
1,345,84. 2 16,49¢ — — 16,50(
373,52¢ 1 8,38¢ — — 8,38¢
— — 50,48t — — 50,48t
— — — (396,217 — (396,217)
— — — — 3 3
— — — — — (396,21()
114,214,27. 115 1,190,19: (1,065,60f) — 124,70(
3,902,86: 3 353,62¢ — — 353,63
596,27: 1 55,00( — — 55,001
— — 82,84z — — 82,84:
— — (177,540 — — (177,540
— — 120,31¢ — — 120,31¢
3,852,67: 3 82,57( — — 82,57¢
6,16€ — (1,11¢) — — (1,11€)
518,74 1 13,84¢ — — 13,84¢
— — 86,87¢ — — 86,87t
— — — (74,014 — (74,014
123,090,99 123 1,806,61°  (1,139,62() — 667,12(
— — 548,60: — — 548,60:
— — (603,429 — — (603,429
— — 389,16( — — 389,16(
— — (58,199 — — (58,199
2,266,69¢ 2 72,053 — — 72,05t
166,31¢ 1 (190) — — (189)
163,60( — 28,571 — — 28,571
— — 162,07¢ — — 162,07¢
(294,040 (294,04()
— — — — (22) (22
(294,067)
125,687,60 $ 126 $2,345,26¢ $(1,433,66() $ (22) $ 911,71(

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Tesla Motors, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash piexviby (used in)
operating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic
Stocl-based compensatic
Amortization of discount on convertible de
Inventory write-downs
Amortization of Department of Energy (DOE) loangimation cost:
Change in fair value of DOE warrant liabili
Fixed asset dispos
Other nor-cash operating activitie
Foreign currency transaction (gain) I«
Changes in operating assets and liabili
Accounts receivabl
Inventories and operating lease vehi
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenu
Customer deposi
Resale value guarant
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activ
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchases of property and equipment excluding aldpase:
Withdrawals out of our dedicated DOE account,
(Increase) decrease in other restricted «
Purchases of shterm marketable securitit
Maturities of shorterm marketable securitit
Net cash used in investing activiti
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance of convertible ¢
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in pubferiof
Proceeds from issuance of warre
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and otloek sssuance
Proceeds from issuance of common stock in priviaeemen
Principal payments on DOE loa
Purchase of convertible note hed
Common stock and convertible debt issuance «
Principal payments on capital leases and other
Collateralized lease borrowir
Proceeds from DOE loal
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and caslatnts
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equiy
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of pe
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe

Supplemental Disclosures

Interest paic

Income taxes pai

Supplemental noncash investing activitie

Acquisition of property and equipment included ateunts payable
and accrued liabilitie

Estimated fair market value of facilities underlf-to-suit lease

(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
$ (294,040 $ (74,019 $ (396,219
231,93 106,08: 28,82t
156,49¢ 80,737 50,14¢
69,73¢ 9,14z —
15,60¢ 8,91¢ 4,92¢

— 5,55¢ —

— (10,692) 1,854

14,17¢ 1,79€ 154
7,471 1,81F 1,40€
(1,891) (13,49¢) 143
(183,65¢) (21,705) (17,309
(1,050,26)) (460,567) (194,726)
(60,637) (17,539 1,121
(4,499) (434) (482)
252,781 20,99t 189,941
162,07t 66,41¢ 9,60z
209,681 268,00¢ (526)
106,23( 24,35¢ 47,05¢
249,49; 236,29¢ —
61,06¢ 33,027 10,25¢
(57,337) 264,80« (263,81F)
(969,88¢) (264,229 (239,229)
— 14,75z 8,62C
(3,849 55 (1,330)
(205,847) — (14,992)
189,131 — 40,000
(990,442 (249,41°) (206,930)
2,300,00( 660,00 —
— 360,00 221,49¢
389,16( 120,31¢ —
100,45¢ 95,307 24,88¢
— 55,00( —
— (452,33 (12,710
(603,429) (177,540 —
(35,149) (16,901) —
(11,179 (8,425) (2,832)
3,271 — —

— — 188,79¢
2,143,13( 635,42: 419,63
(35,525) (6,810) (2,266)
1,059,82 643,99¢ (53,376)
845,88¢ 201,89( 255,26¢

$ 1,90571. $ 84588 $ 201,89(
$ 20,53¢ $ 9,041 $ 6,93¢
3,12C 257 117
254,39: 38,78¢ 44,89(
50,07¢ — —

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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Tesla Motors, Inc.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Overview of the Company

Tesla Motors, Inc. (Tesla, we, us or our) was ipooated in the state of Delaware on July 1, 2008.désign, develop, manufacture and
sell high-performance fully electric vehicles amtvanced electric vehicle powertrain components.hHate whollyoewned subsidiaries in Nor
America, Europe and Asia. The primary purpose es¢hsubsidiaries is to market, manufacture, sdlioarservice our vehicles.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include te®ants of Tesla and its wholly owned subsidiardksignificant inter-company
transactions and balances have been eliminateshsotidation.

During the year ended December 31, 2014, we begparately presenting the effect of exchange raaegés on our cash and cash
equivalents in our consolidated statements of @asls due to our growing operations in foreign emcy environments. Prior period amounts
have been reclassified to conform to the curreribggresentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptethi@ United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assas it affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities and disclosure of contingent
liabilities at the date of the financial statementsd reported amounts of expenses during thetieggreriod, including revenue recognition,
residual value of operating lease vehicles, inugmialuation, warranties, fair value of financiaktruments, valuation allowances for deferred
tax assets, uncertain tax positions, and stockebe@mpensation. Given the inherent uncertainthe$¢ estimates, actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@assued an accounting update which amends tlséirgxiaccounting standards for
revenue recognition. The new guidance providesifiedmmodel to determine when and how revenuedsgaized. Under the new model,
revenue is recognized as goods or services angedati in an amount that reflects the consideratierexpect to collect. The guidance is
effective for fiscal years beginning after Decembgy 2016; early adoption is prohibited. The neandard is required to be applied
retrospectively to each prior reporting period preed or retrospectively with the cumulative effetcinitially applying it recognized at the d:
of initial application. We have not yet selectelamnsition method and are currently evaluatingittygact of adopting this guidance on our
consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenues from sales of Model S anddlséa Roadster, including vehicle options and samees, vehicle service and sales
of regulatory credits, such as zero emission veHi€EV),greenhouse gas emission (GHG) credits GHNEE credits, as well as sales of elec
vehicle powertrain components and systems, sublatisry packs and drive units and sales of servlaged to the development of these
systems. We recognize revenue when: (i) persuasidence of an arrangement exists; (ii) delivery becurred and there are no uncertainties
regarding customer acceptance; (iii) fees are foredeterminable; and (iv) collection is reasonaisgured.

For multiple deliverable revenue arrangements, Meeate revenue to each element based on a selliog hierarchy. The selling price
for a deliverable is based on its vendor speciiiective evidence (VSOE) if available, third pagtyidence (TPE) if VSOE is not available, or
estimated selling price if neither VSOE nor TPBvsilable.

Automotive Sales

We recognize automotive sales revenue from sal&todkl S, including vehicle options, accessories @estination charges, vehicle
service. We also recognize automotive sales revinoethe sales of electric vehicle powertrain comgnts and systems, such as battery
and drive units, to other manufacturers. Revenuedsgnized when (i) persuasive evidence of amgament exists; (ii) delivery has occurred
and there are no uncertainties regarding custoooepsance; (iii) fees are fixed or determinablel éw) collection is reasonably assured.
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Car sales include certain standard features artdroes selected options and configurations that rieetlefinition of a deliverable unc
multiple-element accounting guidance, includinginet connectivity, Supercharging access, and fspegcioftware updates for cars equipped
with Autopilot hardware. These deliverables araigdlon a stand-alone basis and we recognize tlated revenue over our performance
period which is generally the eight-year life o ttar or, for software upgrades, as they are delivdf we sell a derivable separately, we use
that pricing to determine its fair value; otherwisge use our best estimated selling price by camiid third party pricing of similar options,
costs used to develop and deliver the servicep#tmat information which may be available.

As of December 31, 2014, we had deferred $25.6anilkelated to access to our Supercharger netwaikba 4.4 million related to
connectivity.

At the time of revenue recognition, we record @res against revenue for estimated future prodetarms. Such estimates are based or
historical experience and are immaterial in aliqes presented.

Resale Value Guarantee

We offer a resale value guarantee program to cuetmho purchase a Model S and finance their veliitbugh one of our commerc
banking partners in the US, Canada and Europe. ithideprogram, Model S customers have the optfaeling their vehicle back to us
during the period from 36 to 39 months after delper a specified value determined at time of haise. Because we offer a resale value
guarantee, we account for these transactions aatomeleases. Accordingly, we recognize reventrébatable to the lease on a straight-line
basis over the guarantee period to automotive salesue. Similarly, we capitalize the cost of lesed vehicle and depreciate its value, less
expected salvage value, to cost of automotive salesthe same period.

At the end of the guarantee period, which is thexaof 39 months or the pay-off date of the ilitioan, the resale value guarantee and
deferred revenue balances are settled to automssies revenue and the net book value of the lead@dle is expensed to costs of automotive
sales if our customer retains ownership of the tmicases where a customer returns the vehicle toaes between months 36 and 39, we issu
a check to the customer in the amount of the resdles guarantee and settle any remaining defeensghue balance to automotive sales
revenue.

At least annually, we assess the estimated madteés of vehicles under our resale value guargrtagram. As we accumulate more
data related to the resale values of Model S, thexg be significant changes to their estimatede&lu

Beginning in 2014, Tesla began offering resale @guarantees in connection with automobile salesit@in financing institutions. As
Tesla has guaranteed the value of these vehictbasathe vehicles are expected to be leased towstdmers, we account for them as
collateralized borrowings. At December 31, 2014 hage $19.6 million of such borrowings recordedesale value guarantee liability of
which a portion will be accreted to revenue anedipn may be distributed to the financing insiitas should we decide to repurchase the
vehicles at the end of the term or should the firaninstitution sell the car to a third party aredeive proceeds less than the value we have
guaranteed. The maximum cash payment to re-puedhase vehicles under these arrangements at Dec&hb2014, is $11.2 million. Cash
received upon the sale of such cars is classiSetbHateralized lease borrowing within cash fldvesn financing activities in our Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows.
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Account activity related to our resale value gusgarprogram consisted of the following for the pérpresented (in thousands):

Year ended Year ended
December 31, December 31,
2014 2013

Operating lease vehicles under the resale valuegtee

progran—beginning of periot $ 376,97¢ $ —
Increase in operating lease vehicles under thdereatue

guarantee progra 380,627 396,361
Depreciation expense recorded in cost of automstles 63,10¢ 17,171
Additional depreciation expense recorded in cost of

automotive sales as a result of early cancetiaf resale

value guarante 9,911 2,211
Operating lease vehicles under the resale valuegtese

progran—end of perioc $ 684,59( $  376,97¢
Deferred revenue related to the resale value gtesgan

progran—beginning of periot $ 230,85¢ $ —
Increase in deferred revenue related to Model Betés

with resale value guarant 278,397 259,96:
Amortization of deferred revenue recorded in auttivecsales 118,56 27,654
Additional revenue recorded in automotive salea as

result of early cancellation of resale valuergngee 9,59C 1,452
Deferred revenue related to the resale value gtegan

progran—end of perioc $ 381,09¢ $  230,85¢
Resale value guarantee liabi—beginning of perioc $ 236,29¢ $ —
Increase in resale value guarar 260,13¢ 237,62(
Additional revenue recorded in automotive salea as

result of early cancellation of resale valuergngee 8,557 1,322
Resale value guarantee liabi—end of perioc $ 487,87¢ $  236,29¢

Model S Leasing Program

In April 2014, we began offering a leasing progrianthe United States and Canada for Model S. Quatifcustomers are permitted to
lease a Model S for 36 months, after which time tii@ve the option of either returning the vehideai$ or purchasing it for a pre-determined
residual value. We account for these leasing ti@ise as operating leases and accordingly, wegréze leasing revenues over the contrac
term of the individual leases and depreciate ttst abthe respective operating lease vehiclesdgpected salvage value to cost of automotive
sales over the same period. As of December 31,,204 sad deferred $9.4 million of lease-relatedapf payments which will be recognized
on a straight-line basis over the contractual tefitine individual leases. Lease revenues are reddrdautomotive sales and for the year ende
December 31, 2014, we recognized $4.4 million.

Regulatory Credits Sales

California and certain other states have laws atglrequiring vehicle manufacturers to ensureahmdrtion of the vehicles delivered for
sale in that state during each model year areamission vehicles. These laws and regulations geothiat a manufacturer of zero emission
vehicles may earn regulatory credits, and mayesaless credits to other manufacturers who applly stedits to comply with these regulatory
requirements. Similar regulations exist at the fabtlievel that require compliance related to GHGssions and also allow for the sale of ex
credits by one manufacturer to other manufactufessa manufacturer solely of zero emission vehjaleshave earned emission credits, such
as ZEV and GHG credits on vehicles, and we exmecbhtinue to earn these credits in the future.aMer into contractual agreements with
third parties to purchase our regulatory credits.

We recognize revenue on the sale of these credite dime legal title to the credits is transferte the purchasing party. Revenue from
the sale of regulatory credits totaled $216.3 wmilli$194.4 million, and $40.5 million for the yearsded December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.
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Maintenance and Service Plans

We offer a prepaid maintenance program for Modetl8ch includes plans covering maintenance foraugight years or up to 100,000
miles, provided these services are purchased watlsipecified period of time. The maintenance ptanver annual inspections and the
replacement of wear and tear parts, excluding &ingsthe battery, with either a fixed fee per VisitTesla Ranger service or unlimited Tesla
Ranger visits for a higher initial purchase prieayments collected in advance of the performansemvice are initially recorded in deferred
revenues on the consolidated balance sheets anghieed in automotive sales as we fulfill our periance obligations.

We also offer an extended service plan, which cotlee repair or replacement of Model S parts foaddhitional four years or up to an
additional 50,000 miles, after the end of our alitiew Vehicle Limited Warranty, provided they gu&rchased within a specified period of
time. For customers that are not covered by our Nehicle Limited Warranties or our extended seryitans, we offer Tesla Ranger servici
a higher cost. Payments collected in advance gbénarmance of service are initially recorded @fadred revenues on the consolidated
balance sheets and recognized in automotive sati@isly over the service coverage periods.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had defel38dr$nillion and $24.9 million, respectively, raldtto our maintenance and sen
plans. During the years ended December 31, 201£@18, we recognized revenue of $3.0 million and $6illion related to these plans,
respectively.

We provided Tesla Roadster customers with the dppity to purchase an extended warranty plan ferpbriod after the end of our
initial New Vehicle Limited Warranty to cover addital services for an additional three years 0086 miles. We refer to this program as our
Extended Service plan. Amounts collected on thakes sre initially recorded in deferred revenueshenconsolidated balance sheets and
recognized in automotive sales over the extendedawty period. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013had:deferred $0.7 million and
$1.4 million, respectively. During the years en@mtember 31, 2014 and 2013, we recognized reveib@ D million and $0.4 million related
to this program, respectively.

Additionally, we have previously provided customef®ur Tesla Roadsters with a one-time optiorefdace the battery packs in their
vehicles at any time after the expiration of theMNéehicle Limited Warranty but before the tenth mensary of the purchase date of their
vehicles. We refer to this program as our BattegplRcement program. Amounts collected on these saeinitially recorded in deferred
revenues on the consolidated balance sheets anghieed in automotive sales as we fulfill our ohtign to replace the battery packs. As of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had deferred $1lidmand $1.3 million, respectively, related tetBattery Replacement program and hav
not yet recognized any related revenues.

Development Services Revenue

Revenue from development services arrangementsstafisevenue earned from the development of eteeehicle powertrain
components and systems for other automobile maturas, including the design and development diebapacks, drive units and sample
vehicles to meet a customer’s specifications. Regés recognized as the performance requiremergaalf development arrangement are me:
and collection is reasonably assured. Where dewedop arrangements include substantiveisk- milestones, revenue is recognized based
the achievement of the contractually-defined miless. Amounts collected in advance of meetingfah® revenue recognition criteria are not
recognized in the consolidated statement of opmratind are instead recorded as deferred reventire @onsolidated balance sheets. Costs ¢
development services are expensed as incurred. @harlopment services arrangements have multipfaesits, we evaluate the separability
of the various deliverables to ensure appropriemue recognition. Costs of development servitasried in periods prior to the finalization
of an agreement are recorded as research and geaib expenses; once an agreement is finalizesk #hwsts are recorded in cost of rever

Cash and Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid investments with an original matty of three months or less at the date of purelas considered to be cash
equivalents. We currently invest excess cash piiynarmoney market funds.
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Marketable Securities

Marketable securities have historically been cosgatiof commercial paper and corporate debt andlladesignated as available-feale
and reported at estimated fair value, with unrealigains and losses recorded in accumulated abhegprehensive loss which is included wit
stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and lossethersale of available-for-sale marketable secgriie recorded in other income (expense),
net. The cost of available-for-sale marketable sges sold is based on the specific identificatinathod. Interest, dividends, amortization and
accretion of purchase premiums and discounts omawketable securities are included in other incéexpense), net. Available-for-sale
marketable securities with maturities greater timae months at the date of purchase and rematnatgrities of one year or less are classifiec
as short-term marketable securities. Where tempaieclines in fair value exist, we have the abiityd the intent to hold these securities for a
period of time sufficient to allow for any antictea recovery in fair value.

When held, we regularly review all of our marketabécurities for other-thaemporary declines in fair value. The review in@dsdut i
not limited to (i) the consideration of the cau$¢he impairment, (ii) the creditworthiness of thecurity issuers, (iii) the length of time a
security is in an unrealized loss position, andl ¢giwr ability to hold the security for a periodtohe sufficient to allow for any anticipated
recovery in fair value.

Restricted Cash and Deposits

We maintain certain cash amounts restricted adttalvawal or use. We maintained total restricteshoaf $29.3 million and $9.4 millic
as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectivelyre@uand noncurrent restricted cash as of DeceBhe2013 was comprised primarily of
security deposits held by vendors as part of telees’ standard credit policies, security depasitated to lease agreements and equipment
financing, and certain refundable customer depssiggegated in accordance with state consumergimigegulations.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Acamnts

Accounts receivable primarily include amounts redetio sales of powertrain systems, receivables fioamcial institutions and leasing
companies offering various financing products to @ustomers, and regulatory credits to other autm@onanufacturers (OEMSs). In
circumstances where we are aware of a specifiomests inability to meet its financial obligatiotsus, we provide an allowance against
amounts receivable to reduce the net recognizesivadue to the amount we reasonably believe wiltéected.

We typically do not carry accounts receivable edab our vehicle and related sales as customengaig are due prior to vehicle
delivery, except for the amounts due from comméfeiancial institutions for approved financing angements between our customers and tt
financial institutions.

Concentration of Risk
Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subjectas toncentration of credit risk consist of castshcequivalents, restricted cash and
accounts receivable. Our cash equivalents are pghniavested in money market funds with high ctegliality financial institutions in the
United States. At times, these deposits and sézuritay be in excess of insured limits. We invashaot required for use in operations in |
credit quality securities based on our investmetitp. Our investment policy provides guidelinegldimits regarding credit quality,
investment concentration, investment type, and ritgtthat we believe will provide liquidity whileeducing risk of loss of capital. Our
investments are currently of a short-term natugtinolude commercial paper and U.S. treasury bills.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, our accountsvauae were derived primarily from sales of regatgtcredits, as well as funds to
received from financial institutions and leasingnganies offering various financing products to customers, the development and sales of
powertrain components and systems to OEMs. Accaentsivable also included amounts to be receivet tommercial financial institutions
for approved financing arrangements between ouomess and financial institutions.

The following summarizes the accounts receivaldenfour OEM customers in excess of 10% of our @tabunts receivable:

December 31 December 31

2014 2013
Customer A 19% —
Customer E 14% 30%
Customer C 13% 4%
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Supply Risk

Although there may be multiple suppliers availabbany of the components used in our vehicles arehased by us from a single
source. If these single source suppliers fail tsBaour requirements on a timely basis at contpetiprices, we could suffer manufacturing
delays, a possible loss of revenues, or incur higbst of sales, any of which could adversely dféer operating results.

Inventories and Inventory Valuation

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or mtaiRost is computed using standard cost, whichoxppates actual cost on a first-in,
first-out basis. We record inventory write-downséa on reviews for excess and obsolescence detdtmpiimarily by future demand
forecasts. We also adjust the carrying value ofiougntories when we believe that the net realizablue is less than the carrying value. Tt
write-downs are measured as the difference bettfeenost of the inventory, including estimated sastcomplete, and estimated selling
prices. Once inventory is written down, a new, lowest basis for that inventory is established, sutobsequent changes in facts and
circumstances do not result in the restoratiomorgase in that newly established cost basis.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recognized atiess accumulated depreciation. Depreciation megsly computed using the straight:
line method over the estimated useful lives ofrtated assets as follows:

Machinery, equipment and office furnitt 3to 12 year:
Building and building improvemen 30 years
Computer equipment and softw 3 years

Depreciation for tooling is computed using the shtf-production method whereby capitalized costsaamortized over the total
estimated productive life of the related assetsof3ecember 31, 2014, the estimated productieefdf tooling was 200,000 vehicles based ol
our current estimates of production.

Leasehold improvements are amortized on a stréiigitasis over the shorter of their estimateduldiafes or the term of the related
lease.

Upon the retirement or sale of our property, plmd equipment, the cost and related accumulategdagion are removed from the
balance sheet and the resulting gain or loss lisatefl in operations. Maintenance and repair exipgned are expensed as incurred, while m
improvements that increase functionality of theeasse capitalized and depreciated ratably to esgener the identified useful life. Land is
depreciated.

Interest expense on outstanding debt is capitatizeiohg the period of significant capital assetstaunction. Capitalized interest on
construction in progress is included in propertgnpand equipment, and is amortized over thedlifftne related assets.

Operating Lease Vehicles

Vehicles delivered under our resale value guargmtegram, vehicles that are leased as part ofeasihg program as well as any
vehicles that are sold with a significant buy-bgclarantee are classified as operating lease vetasl¢he related revenue transactions are
treated as operating leases. Operating lease gstdok recorded at cost less accumulated depogciBXepreciation is computed using the
straightline method over the expected operating lease f€hm total cost of operating lease vehicles reabidéhe consolidated balance sh
as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $849.8 mélimh$401.9 million. Accumulated depreciation rdeto leased vehicles as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013 was $83.1 million ar@dSsillion.

Long-lived Assets

We evaluate our long-lived assets, including iniblegassets, for indicators of possible impairmehén events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount of aeta®r asset group) may not be recoverable. Inmggit exists if the carrying amounts of
such assets exceed the estimates of future netamudited cash flows expected to be generated thyamsets. Should impairment exist, the
impairment loss would be measured based on thesgxagrying value of the asset over the asseimat®d fair value. As of December 31,
2014 and 2013, we did not record any material immpait losses on our long-lived assets.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are expensed azthdResearch and development expenses consisryi of payroll, benefits and
stock-based compensation of those employees endgageskarch, design and development activitiestsalated to design tools, license
expenses related to intellectual property, suppifesservices, depreciation and other occupandsg.cos
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Advertising and Promotion Costs

Advertising and sales promotion costs are expeasédcurred. During the years ended December 34,2013 and 2012, advertising,
promotion and related marketing expenses were $48li&n, $9.0 million and $3.9 million, respectiye

Shipping and Handling Costs

Amounts billed to customers related to shipping baddling are classified as revenue, and relatggbisty and handling costs are
included in cost of revenues.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are computed using the asset antitliabethod, under which deferred tax assets aatullities are determined based on
the difference between the financial statementtardases of assets and liabilities using enaetedates in effect for the year in which the
differences are expected to affect taxable incoraduation allowances are established when necessaegduce deferred tax assets to the
amount expected to be realized.

We record liabilities related to uncertain tax piosis when, despite our belief that our tax refuositions are supportable, we believe
that it is more likely than not that those positanay not be fully sustained upon review by taxiarties. Accrued interest and penalties
related to unrecognized tax benefits are classégethcome tax expense.

Stock-based Compensation

We recognize compensation expense for costs refataiti share-based payments, including stock ogticestricted stock units (RSUS)
and our employee stock purchase plan (the ESPR)falthvalue of stock options and the ESPP arenestid on the grant date and offering «
using an option pricing model, respectively. Thie ¥alue of RSUs is measured on the grant datecbas¢he closing fair market value of our
common stock. Stock-based compensation expenseagiized on a straight-line basis over the regussrvice period, net of estimated
forfeitures.

We account for equity instruments issued to nonleyges based on the fair value of the awards. @mesélue of the awards granted to
non-employees is re-measured as the awards vesthamesulting change in fair value, if any, isageized in the consolidated statements of
operations during the period the related servicesendered.

For performance-based awards, stock-based compEnsapense is recognized over the expected peafocmachievement period of
individual performance milestones when the achiev@mof each individual performance milestone beprebable.

For performance-based awards with a vesting schdzaded entirely on the attainment of both perfocaand market conditions, the
stock-based compensation expense is recognizeshér pair of performance and market conditions twetonger of the expected
achievement period of the performance and markaditons, beginning at the point in time that te&want performance condition is
considered probable of being met (see Note 8).

Foreign Currency Remeasurement and Transactions

For each of our foreign subsidiaries, the functiamuarency is the U.S. dollar. For these foreighsidiaries, monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in non-U.S. currenciesaeneasured to U.S. dollars using current exchaaigs in effect at the balance sheet date.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated inlddh currencies are maintained at historical ddlar exchange rates. Revenues and
expenses are re-measured at average U.S. dollahinoates.

Foreign currency transaction gains and losses exsudt of the effect of exchange rate changesansactions denominated in currenc
other than the functional currency. Transactiomgaind losses are recognized in other income (egdenet, in the consolidated statements o
operations. For the year ended December 31, 201 2@t3, we recorded foreign currency transactionsgaf $2.0 million and $11.9 million,
respectively. For the year ended December 2012saiion gains and losses were not significant.

Beginning January 1, 2015, the functional curresicgach of our foreign subsidiaries changed tartleeal country’s currency. This
change was based on the culmination of facts androstances that have developed as we expandéddreign operations over the past year.
The adjustment attributable to the current ratediation of non-monetary assets as of the datkeotthange will be included in accumulated
other comprehensive income in the Company’s quanteport on Form 10-Q for the period ending Magdh 2015.
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Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss is comprised of net loss aner @bmprehensive income (loss). Other comprehemsdaene (loss) consists of
unrealized gains and losses on our available-fiersarketable securities that have been excluaed the determination of net loss.

Warranties

We provide a warranty on all vehicle, productiomatirain components and systems sales, and weeag@uianty reserves at the tim
vehicle or production powertrain component or gysie delivered to the customer. Warranty resemefside management’s best estimate of
the projected costs to repair or to replace angstander warranty, based on actual warranty expezias it becomes available and other
known factors that may impact our evaluation ofdrisal data. For new vehicles, warranty reservesased on managemenbiest estimate
projected warranty experience until adequate habdata is accumulated. Our warranty reservesaddnclude projected warranty costs
associated with our resale value guarantee vehaslasich actual warranty costs are expensed asedcior the year ended December 31,
2014, warranty costs incurred for our resale vglug&rantee vehicles was $6.9 million. We may haveeriz changes as we accumulate more
actual data and experience. We review our resatiesst quarterly to ensure that our accrualadeguate in meeting expected future
warranty obligations, and we will adjust our estiesaas needed. Warranty expense is recorded aspooent of cost of revenues in the
consolidated statements of operations. The podidhe warranty provision which is expected to teurred within 12 months from the balai
sheet date is classified as current, while the i@mgamount is classified as long-term.

We began recording warranty reserves with the comeeraent of Tesla Roadster sales in 2008. Initidlgsla Roadsters were sold with
a warranty of three years or 36,000 miles, whichewtended to four years or 50,000 miles for thepasers of our 2008 Tesla Roadster. Tesl
Roadster customers had the opportunity to purcaadextended Service plan for the period after titeaf the New Vehicle Limited Warranty
to cover additional services for an additional ¢hyears or 36,000 miles, provided they are purchagthin a specified period of time.

In June 2012, we commenced deliveries of ModeldB.odr Model S customers, we provide a four yeadB@000 miles New Vehicle
Limited Warranty, subject to separate limited waties for the supplemental restraint system antéhatDuring the third quarter of 2014, we
extended the warranty on our Model S drive uniight years from four. The New Vehicle Limited Warty also covers the battery for a
period of eight years or 125,000 miles or unlimiteiles, depending on the size of the vehicle’sdvgjtalthough the battery'’charging capacii
is not covered. Model S customers also have thertypity to purchase an Extended Service planiferperiod after the end of the New
Vehicle Limited Warranty to cover additional seescfor an additional four years or 50,000 milesyjated they are purchased within a
specified period of time. The battery pack’s chaggtapacity is not covered under the New Vehichaitedd Warranty or any Extended Service
plan.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 the current podfoour accrued warranty was $32.3 million and.$18illion, which was recorded
in accrued liabilities in our Consolidated Balaigteeets. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 the noantportion of our accrued warranty
was $96.7 million and $33.3 million, which was reted in other long-term liabilities in our Conseltdd Balance Sheets.

Accrued warranty activity consisted of the follogifor the periods presented (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Accrued warranty—beginning of period $ 53,182 $ 13,01z $ 6,315
Warranty costs incurre (39,909 (19,160 (3,424)
Net changes in liability for p-existing warranties,
including expiration: 18,59¢ (2,072) —
Provision for warrant 97,16¢ 61,401 10,127
Accrued warrant—end of perioc $ 129,04: $ 53,182 $ 13,01z

Environmental Liabilities

We are subject to federal and state laws and régutafor the protection of the environment, inghgithose related to the discharge of
hazardous materials and remediation of contamirgited. We accrue for environmental liabilitieghie period in which it is probable a liabil
exists and the amount of such loss can be reaspastiinated. We assess adequacy of our accruglitigsifor remediation of any
environmental contamination at least quarterly adjdist our estimates as appropriate. As of Dece®ibe2014 and 2013, we accrued $4.0
million and $5.5 million related to environmentaltilities (see Note 11).
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Net Loss per Share of Common Stock

Our basic and diluted net loss per share of comstaek is calculated by dividing net loss by theghd¢d-average shares of common
stock outstanding for the period. Potentially dilatshares, which are based on the number of shadeslying outstanding stock options and
warrants as well as our Notes, are not includedwtheir effect is antidilutive.

The following table presents the potential weightethmon shares outstanding that were excluded finencomputation of basic and
diluted net loss per share of common stock forpméods, related to the following securities:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Stock options 260,85 13,881,35! 25,007,771
Convertible senior note 2,344,99¢ 411,56( —
Warrants issued May 20: 921,98t — —
Employee stock purchase pl 23,85¢ 23,29¢ 59,76:
Restricted stock unil 88,213 224 —
DOE warrani — 1,061,43¢ 2,342,35:

Since we expect to settle the principal amounturfautstanding convertible senior notes in cashuseethe treasury stock method for
calculating any potential dilutive effect of thensersion spread on diluted net income per shaeppficable. The conversion spread will have
a dilutive impact on diluted net income per shdreammon stock when the average market price ofoarmon stock for a given period
exceeds the conversion price of $124.52, $35918Y $859.87 per share for the convertible senioesdtie 2018 Notes, 2019 Notes and 2021
Notes, respectively

3. Balance Sheet Components
Inventory
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, our inventonsisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31 December 31

2014 2013
Raw materials $ 392,29 $  184,66:
Work in proces: 56,11 42,50(
Finished good 397,31¢ 69,324
Service part: 107,95 43,86¢€
Total $ 953,67F $  340,35¢

Finished goods inventory includes vehicles madalfdl customer orders which have not been delaccand a smaller portion of
vehicles available for immediate sale at our retad service center locations. In addition, we aisintain vehicles used for marketing
purposes and service loaners until they are satddtomers.

We write down inventory as a result of excess amgblete inventories, or when we believe that theeaizable value of inventories is

less than the carrying value. During the years émaecember 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, we recorded-daivns of $15.6 million, $8.9 millic
and $5.0 million, respectively, in cost of autoruetsales.
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Property, Plant and Equipment
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, our propertytdad equipment, net, consisted of the followingliousands):

December 31 December 31

2014 2013
Machinery, equipment and office furnitt $ 720,74¢ $ 322,39
Tooling 295,90¢ 230,38t
Leasehold improvemen 230,27( 94,765
Building and building improvemen 154,36 67,707
Land 49,47¢ 45,02(
Computer equipment and softw: 98,97( 42,07
Construction in progres 572,12¢ 76,294

2,121,85 878,63¢
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortiza (292,590 (140,147
Total $ 1,829,260 $ 738,49«

Construction in progress is comprised primarilyas$ets related to the manufacturing of our Modai@uding building improvements
our Tesla Factory in Fremont, California as welt@ding and manufacturing equipment and capitdliréerest expense. Depreciation of
construction in progress begins when the asset®ady for their intended use. Interest expenseutstanding debt is capitalized during the
period of significant capital asset constructioapifalized interest on construction in progresadtuded in property, plant and equipment, and
is amortized over the life of the related assetsginy the years ended December 31, 2014 and 204.8apitalized $12.8 million and $3.5
million of interest expense, respectively.

We are sometimes involved in construction at oasdel facilities. In accordance with Accounting Stads Codification 84Q,eases
for build-to-suit lease arrangements where werarelved in the construction of structural improverseprior to the commencement of the
lease or take some level of construction risk, veecensidered the owner of the assets during thsteaction period. Accordingly, upon
commencement of our construction activities, weréa construction in progress asset and a comelampg financing liability. As of Decemb
31, 2014, the table above includes $52.4 milliobufd-to-suit assets. Corresponding financinggdtions of $21.0 million and $31.4 million
are recorded in accrued liabilities and other Iterga liabilities. Once the construction is comptetié the lease meets certain “sale-leaseback”
criteria, we will remove the asset and relatedrfaial obligation from the balance sheet and treatiuilding lease as an operating lease. If
upon completion of construction, the project doesmeet the “sale-leaseback” criteria, the leagseggrty will be treated as a capital lease for
financial reporting purposes.

Depreciation and amortization expense during tteesyended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 weBe%idllion, $83.9 million an
$25.3 million, respectively. Total property and gumient assets under capital lease as of Decembh@032 and 2013 were $33.4 million and
$23.3 million, respectively. Accumulated depreciatielated to assets under capital lease as of thaes were $12.8 million and $5.0 million,
respectively.

We have acquired land for the site of our Gigafigcsmd have begun initial construction activitiestbe site and have incurred $106.6
million of costs as of December 31, 2014.

Accrued Liabilities
As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, our accrueditiaiconsisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31, December 31,

2014 2013
Taxes payabl $ 71,22¢ $ 38,061
Accrued purchase 68,547 19,02:
Payroll and related cos 54,49; 26,53¢
Accrued warranty, current portic 32,321 19,917
Build to suit finance obligation, current porti 21,03( —
Accrued interes 7,222 741
Environmental liabilities, current portic 3,573 2,132
Other 10,47( 1,837
Total $ 268,88 $ 108,252
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4, Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values of our financial instrumentsliiding cash equivalents, marketable securitiesy@atts receivable and accounts
payable approximate their fair value due to thkarsterm nature. As a basis for determining thevialue of certain of our assets and
liabilities, we established a three-tier fair vahierarchy which prioritizes the inputs used in mweng fair value as follows: (Level I)
observable inputs such as quoted prices in actaudets; (Level 1) inputs other than the quoteagsiin active markets that are observable
either directly or indirectly; and (Level Ill) unsbérvable inputs in which there is little or no netrlata which requires us to develop our own
assumptions. This hierarchy requires us to usere@iske market data, when available, and to minirttizeuse of unobservable inputs when
determining fair value. Our financial assets thatraeasured at fair value on a recurring basisisbotcash equivalents and marketable
securities. Our restricted short-term marketabbeisges are classified within Level | of the fai@lue hierarchy.

All of our cash equivalents and current restriatadh, which are comprised primarily of money mafiats, are classified within Level
| of the fair value hierarchy because they areelusing quoted market prices or market pricesifailar securities.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the fair valeeanchy for our financial assets and financialiliabs that are carried at fair value
was as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 201. December 31, 201.
Level
Fair Value Level | Level Il Level lll Fair Value Level | Level Il 1]
Money market fund $1,275,34t $1,27534¢ $ — $ — $460,31¢ $46031: $ — $ —
U.S. treasury bill: 16,67: 16,67: — — — —
Total $1,292,01¢ $1,292,01¢ $ — $ — $460,31: $460,31: $ — 3 =

Our available-forsale marketable securities classified by secuyjte tas of December 31, 2014 consisted of the fatigyin thousands

Year Ended December 31, 2014

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
U.S. treasury bill: $ 16,69t $ — 3 22) $ 16,67:

The changes in the fair value of our common stoakrant liability were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2013
Fair value, beginning of peric $ 10,69z
Change in fair valu (10,692

Fair value, end of peria $ —

The estimated fair value of our 2018 Notes based mrarket approach was approximately $1.22 bipar value $659.8 million) as of
December 31, 2014 and $914.9 million (par valu$6$0.0 million) as of December 31, 2013, respebtj\end represent a Level Il valuation.
The estimated fair value of our 2019 Notes and 208tes based on a market approach was approxint88y.2 million (par value $920.0
million) and $1.25 billion (par value of $1.38 mih) as of December 31, 2014, respectively, ancesgmts a Level Il valuation. When
determining the estimated fair value of our longrtelebt, we used a commonly accepted valuationadetbgy and market-based risk
measurements that are indirectly observable, ssichealit risk.

5. Customer Deposits

We collect deposits from customers at the time fhlage an order for a vehicle and, in some locatiahcertain additional milestones
to the point of delivery. Customer deposit amouwamtd timing vary depending on the vehicle model @mehtry of delivery. Customer deposits
related to Model X still represent fully refundalbéservations. Amounts are included in currentlités until refunded or until they are appli
to a customer’s purchase balance at time of dgliver

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we held $257llomand $163.2 million, respectively, in custonumposits.
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6. Convertible Notes and Long-term Debt Obligations
0.25% and 1.25% Convertible Senior Notes and Bonedige and Warrant Transactions

In March 2014, we issued $800.0 million principala@unt of 0.25% convertible senior notes due 200492Notes) and $1.20 billion
principal amount of 1.25% convertible senior natae 2021 (2021 Notes) in a public offering. In A@014, we issued an additional $120.0
million aggregate principal amount of 2019 Noted &480.0 million aggregate principal amount of 20&tes, pursuant to the exercise in full
of the overallotment options of the underwriteroof March 2014 public offering. The total net pgeds from these offerings, after deducting
transaction costs, were approximately $905.8 mnilfrem 2019 Notes and $1.36 billion from 2021 Notespectively. We incurred $14.2
million and $21.4 million, respectively, of debsismnce costs in connection with the 2019 Notedtan@021 Notes, which we initially
recorded in other assets and are amortizing toeist@xpense using the effective interest methed the contractual terms of these notes. The
interest rates are fixed at 0.25% and 1.25% peurarend are payable semi-annually in arrears on IMar@nd September 1 of each year,
commencing on September 1, 2014. During the yede@&becember 31, 2014, we recognized $3.2 millfdnterest expense, related to the
amortization of debt issuance costs and $16.2anillif accrued coupon interest expense.

Each $1,000 of principal of these notes will ifitide convertible into 2.7788 shares of our commataek, which is equivalent to an
initial conversion price of approximately $359.83t ghare, subject to adjustment upon the occurrehsgecified events. Holders of these
notes may convert their Notes at their option oafter December 1, 2018 for the 2019 Notes andr@iter December 1, 2020 for the 2021
Notes. Further, holders of these notes may coriveitt notes at their option prior to the respectiaées above, only under the followi
circumstances: (1) during any fiscal quarter beigigrfter the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2@lte last reported sale price of our common
stock for at least 20 trading days (whether oraomisecutive) during the last 30 consecutive tradengs of immediately preceding fiscal qua
is greater than or equal to 130% of the converpitre of the applicable notes on each applicallging day; (2) during the five business day
period following any five consecutive trading dagripd in which the trading price for the applicahl#es is less than 98% of the average @
closing sale price of our common stock for eachdlayng such five trading day period; or (3) if weke specified distributions to holders of
our common stock or if specified corporate trarisastoccur. Upon conversion of the 2019 Notes, wald/pay or deliver as applicable, cash,
shares of our common stock or a combination of eashshares of our common stock, at our electigmnitonversion of the 2021 Notes, we
would pay the holders in cash for the principal antand, if applicable, shares of our common s{sokject to our right to deliver cash in lieu
of all or a portion of such shares of our commaist based on a daily conversion value. If a funelatal change occurs prior to the maturity
date, holders of these notes may require us tacbpse all or a portion of their notes for cash egpurchase price equal to 100% of the
principal amount of the notes, plus any accruedwmhid interest. In addition, if specific corp@avents occur prior to the applicable matt
date, we will increase the conversion rate for ldérowho elects to convert their notes in connectidth such a corporate event in certain
circumstances. During the fourth quarter of 20hé,dlosing price of our common stock did not meebaeed 130% of the applicable
conversion price of our 2019 Notes and 2021 Noteatdeast 20 of the last 30 consecutive trading @d the quarter; furthermore, no other
conditions allowing holders of these notes to conlrave been met as of December 31, 2014. Therdfere?019 Notes and 2021 Notes are
convertible during the first quarter of 2015 and elassified as long-term debt. Should the clogiice conditions be met in the first quarter of
2015 or a future quarter, the Notes will be coribétat their holders’ option during the immedigtédllowing quarter. As of December 31,
2014, the if-converted value of the 2019 Notes 202iL Notes did not exceed the principal value os¢hNotes.

In accordance with accounting guidance on embeddedersion features, we valued and bifurcated ¢imversion option associated
with the notes from the respective host debt imsént and initially recorded the conversion optié$b88.1 million for the 2019 Notes and
$369.4 million for the 2021 Notes in stockholdezguity. The resulting debt discounts on the 20185land 2021 Notes are being amortize
interest expense at an effective interest rate84% and 5.96%, respectively, over the contradtrahs of the notes. During the year ended
December 31, 2014, we recognized $64.0 milliomtdrest expense related to the amortization ofléie discount. As of December 31, 2014,
the net carrying value of 2019 Notes and 2021 Noes$759.9 million and $1.05 billion, respectivélne remaining bond discounts of the
2019 Notes and 2021 Notes of $160.1 million and3$8&nillion will be amortized over their remainitiges of approximately 3.9 years and
years.
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In connection with the offering of these notes iarh 2014, we entered into convertible note hedgesictions whereby we have the
option to purchase initially (subject to adjustmimtcertain specified events) a total of approxieha5.6 million shares of our common stock
at a price of approximately $359.87 per share. toted cost of the convertible note hedge transastigas $524.7 million. In addition, we sold
warrants whereby the holders of the warrants hiageption to purchase initially (subject to adjustinfor certain specified events) a total of
approximately 2.2 million shares of our common ktata price of $512.66 for the 2019 Notes andal tuf approximately 3.3 million shares
our common stock at a price of $560.64 per shar2@@1 Notes. We received $338.4 million in castcpeds from the sale of these warrants.
Similarly, in connection with the issuance of agufial notes in April 2014, we entered into conv#dinote hedge transactions and paid an
aggregate $78.7 million. In addition, we sold watsato purchase (subject to adjustment for cedpatified events) a total of approximately
0.3 million shares of our common stock at a stpkiee of $512.66 per share for the warrants rejetiin2019 Notes, and a total of
approximately 0.5 million shares of our common ktata strike price of $560.64 per share for theravds relating to 2021 Notes. We recei
aggregate proceeds of approximately $50.8 milllomfthe sale of the warrants. Taken together, tliehase of the convertible note hedges
and the sale of warrants are intended to offsetaatyal dilution from the conversion of these nated to effectively increase the overall
conversion price from $359.87 to $512.66 per shatbe case of warrants relating to 2019 Notesfeord $359.87 to $560.64 in the case of
warrants relating to 2021 Notes. As these transastineet certain accounting criteria, the conviertilote hedges and warrants are recorded il
stockholders’ equity and are not accounted foreaivdtives. The net cost incurred in connectiorhwlite convertible note hedge and warrant
transactions was recorded as a reduction to additimaid-in capital on the consolidated balanceshas of December 31, 2014.

1.50% Convertible Senior Notes and Bond Hedge andrk&int Transactions

In May 2013, we issued $660.0 million aggregatag@pal amount of 2018 Notes in a public offeringeThet proceeds from the offeri
after deducting transaction costs, were approxiln$@48.0 million. We incurred $12.0 million of delssuance costs in connection with the
issuance of the 2018 Notes which we recorded iarahksets and are amortizing to interest experisg the effective interest method over the
contractual term of the 2018 Notes. The interedieuthe 2018 Notes is fixed at 1.50% per annumisipdyable semi-annually in arrears on
June 1 and December 1 of each year, commencingeoarBber 1, 2013. During the years ended Decemb&03%4 and 2013, we recognized
$2.0 million and $1.2 million, respectively, of émest expense related to the amortization of dsliaince costs and $9.8 million and $5.9
million, respectively, of coupon interest expense.

Each $1,000 of principal of the 2018 Notes wiltially be convertible into 8.0306 shares of our aoom stock, which is equivalent to an
initial conversion price of approximately $124.5% ghare, subject to adjustment upon the occurrehsgecified events. Holders of the 2018
Notes may convert their 2018 Notes at their optioror after March 1, 2018. Further, holders of20&8 Notes may convert their 2018 Nc
at their option prior to March 1, 2018, only undlez following circumstances: (1) during any fisqahrter beginning after the fiscal quarter
ending September 30, 2013, if the last reportesl ate of our common stock for at least 20 tradiags (whether or not consecutive) during
the last 30 consecutive trading days of the imntelligreceding fiscal quarter is greater than araétp 130% of the conversion price on each
applicable trading day; (2) during the five buseday period following any five consecutive tradday period in which the trading price for
the 2018 Notes is less than 98% of the averageeoflbsing sale price of our common stock for edahduring such five trading day period
(3) if we make specified distributions to holdefar common stock or if specified corporate traiems occur. Upon conversion, we would
pay the holders in cash for the principal amourthef2018 Notes and, if applicable, shares of ourraon stock (subject to our right to deliver
cash in lieu of all or a portion of such sharesaf common stock) based on a calculated daily asie value. If a fundamental change occ
prior to the maturity date, holders of the 2018é¢atay require us to repurchase all or a portigdheif 2018 Notes for cash at a repurchase
price equal to 100% of the principal amount of 2048 Notes, plus any accrued and unpaid intemrestddition, if specific corporate events
occur prior to the maturity date, we will incredke conversion rate for a holder who elects to eonits 2018 Notes in connection with such a
corporate event in certain circumstances.

In accordance with accounting guidance on embeddedersion features, we valued and bifurcated ¢imversion option associated
with the 2018 Notes from the host debt instrumet iecorded the conversion option of $82.8 millimstockholders’ equity. The resulting
debt discount on the 2018 Notes is being amortiaaxterest expense at an effective interest rae29% over the contractual term of the 2
Notes. During the years ended December 31, 2012@18, we recognized $15.5 million and $9.1 millispectively, of interest exper
related to the amortization of the debt discourstoADecember 31, 2014, the net carrying valudef2018 Notes was $601.6 million. The
remaining bond discounts of the 2018 Notes of $5dIlon will be amortized over its remaining liféf approximately 3.2 years.
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In connection with the offering of the 2018 Note®, entered into convertible note hedge transactigreseby we have the option to
purchase initially (subject to certain specifie@éms) a total of approximately 5.3 million sharésuwr common stock at a price of approximately
$124.52 per share. The cost of the convertible hetige transactions was $177.5 million. In addjtea sold warrants whereby the holders of the
warrants have the option to purchase initially jscito certain specified events) a total of apprately 5.3 million shares of our common stoc
a price of $184.48 per share. We received $120IRmin cash proceeds from the sale of these wésrd aken together, the purchase of the
convertible note hedges and the sale of warraatstended to offset any actual dilution from tl@wersion of the 2018 Notes and to effectively
increase the overall conversion price from $12405%2184.48 per share. As these transactions meatrcaccounting criteria, the convertible note
hedges and warrants are recorded in stockholdgugtyeand are not accounted for as derivatives.riéieost incurred in connection with the
convertible note hedge and warrant transactiong@@sded as a reduction to additional paid-intehphn the consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2014.

During the fourth quarter of 2014, the closing praf our common stock exceeded 130% of the appécainversion price of our 2018
Notes on at least 20 of the last 30 consecutivtirigadays of the quarter; therefore, holders of@2Rbtes may convert their notes during
first quarter of 2015. As such, we classified 6836 million carrying value of our 2018 Notes asrent liabilities and classified $58.2
million, representing the difference between thgragate principal of our 2018 Notes of $659.8 willand the carrying value of 2018 Notes,
as mezzanine equity on our consolidated balancet siseof December 31, 2014. Similarly, debt issaasts were classified as other current
assets as of December 31, 2014. Should the clpsiog conditions be met in the first quarter of 2@t a future quarter, 2018 Notes will be
convertible at their holders’ option during the imdmately following quarter. As of December 31, 20t if-converted value of the 2018 Na
exceeded the aggregate principal amount by $51Bliém

Contractual Obligations
As of December 31, 2014, aggregate future pringpsiments for our convertible senior notes werelisys (in thousands):

Years ending December &

2015 $ 659,79¢
2016

2017 —
2018 —
2019 920,00(
Thereaftel 1,380,00(
Total $ 2,959,79!

During the fourth quarter of 2014, the closing praf our common stock exceeded 130% of the appécaimversion price of our 2018
Notes on at least 20 of the last 30 consecutivtirigadays of the quarter; therefore, holders of@2Rbtes may convert their notes during
first quarter of 2015. As such, we have includeslfhincipal payment of the 2018 Notes in the 2Cdtggory in the table above.

Full Repayment of Department of Energy Loan Facifit

In May 2013, in connection with the closing of afferings of common stock and Notes, we paid $45ilBon to settle all outstanding
loan amounts of $441.0 million, including princiald interest, as well as an early repayment peoa#10.8 million which was recorded in
interest expense for the year ended December 3B, 2fpon termination of the DOE Loan Facility, $@nillion held in this dedicated accol
was released by the DOE.

On January 20, 2010, we entered into a loan faailith the Federal Financing Bank (FFB), and theE)@ursuant to the Advanced
Technology Vehicles Manufacturing (ATVM) IncentiFeogram. This loan facility was amended in Junel2@lexpand our cash investment
options, in February 2012 to modify the timing eftain future financial covenants and funding & tlebt service reserve account, and in Jun
DOE to remove our obligation to comply with the reunt ratio financial covenant as of September 8222and amend the timing of pre-
funding the principal payment due in June 2013.aMered into another amendment with the DOE in M&@13 that, among other things,
modified certain future financial covenants, accaied the maturity date of the DOE Loan Facilityptecember 15, 2017, created an obligatior
to repay approximately 1.0% of the outstandinggpial under the DOE Loan Facility on or before Jibe2013, and created additional
contingent obligations based on excess cash floatsmay result in accelerated repayment of the D@dh Facility starting in 2015. The
original amortization schedule for the DOE Loaniktgovas not affected by this amendment, and godabt service payments remained the
same until the new maturity date when all outstagdibans under the DOE Loan Facility were to baigpWe refer to the loan facility with t
DOE, as amended, as the DOE Loan Facility. UndeDX®E Loan Facility, the FFB made available tows multi-draw term loan facilities in
an aggregate principal amount of $465.0 million.oAgwugust 31, 2012, we had fully drawn down theramentioned facilities.
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All outstanding amounts under the DOE Loan Facikigre repayable in quarterly installments, whicmoeenced on December 15, 2(
and would be due on the maturity date of DecembeP@17. All obligations under the DOE Loan Fagilitere secured by substantially all of
our property.

The DOE Loan Facility documents contained custoncamenants that included, among others, a requinethat the projects be
conducted in accordance with the business plaauoh project, compliance with all requirementshaf ATVM Program, and limitations on ¢
and our subsidiaries’ ability to incur indebtednessur liens, make investments or loans, enter imérgers or acquisitions, dispose of assets,
pay dividends or make distributions on capital kigay indebtedness, pay management, advisoryrlasifees to affiliates, enter into certain
affiliate transactions, enter into new lines ofibess, and enter into certain restrictive agreesyémteach case subject to customary exception
The DOE Loan Facility documents also containedarasaty financial covenants requiring us to maingiminimum ratio of current assets to
current liabilities, and (i) a limit on capital expditures, (ii) from December 31, 2013, a maximexetage ratio, a minimum interest coverage
ratio, a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, aiidffom March 31, 2014, a maximum ratio of totalbilities to shareholder equity. We were
in compliance with our current applicable finan@abenants as of March 31, 2013. The DOE Loan fadibcuments also contained
customary events of default, subject in some ctmsegstomary cure periods for certain defaultsaddition, events of default included a failure
of Elon Musk, our Chief Executive Officer (CEO),chcertain of his affiliates, at any time prior toeoyear after we would complete the project
relating to the Model S Facility, to own at leaS#6 of capital stock held by Mr. Musk and such &ffés as of the date of the DOE Loan
Facility. As part of the amendment to the DOE L&agility in March 2013, we agreed to, among othargs, (i) make an early payment of
approximately 1.0% of the outstanding principal @intthe DOE Loan Facility on or before June 15, 2@ilBmake additional quarterly
prepayments equal to: 20% of our excess cash thowdch quarter of fiscal 2015; and 35% of our segamsh flow for each quarter of fiscal
2016 and 2017.

Under the DOE Loan Facility, we had agreed to predfa dedicated debt service reserve account witplanned loan repayments as
required by the DOE loan facility. As of Decembér 3012, $14.9 million was held in this dedicatedaunt and classified this cash as curren
restricted cash on the consolidated balance sheet.

DOE Warrant Expiration

In connection with the closing of the DOE Loan Fagiwe issued in January 2010 a warrant to theED@purchase up to 9,255,035
shares of our Series E convertible preferred séb@n exercise price of $2.51 per share. Upondhgptetion of our initial public offering on
July 2, 2010, this preferred stock warrant becamwarant to purchase up to 3,090,111 shares of aamstock at an exercise price of $7.54
share. Since the number of shares ultimately idsuattler the warrants would vary depending on tlegame outstanding balance of the loan
during the contractual vesting period, and decistonprepay would be influenced by our future stpiike as well as the interest rates on our
loans in relation to market interest rates, we tiatbrically measured the fair value of the warnasing a Monte Carlo simulation approach.
The Monte Carlo approach simulates and capturesptimal decisions to be made between prepayin@tE loan and the cancellation of the
DOE warrant. For the purposes of the simulatioa,dptimal decision represents the scenario withawest economic cost to us. The total
warrant value would then be calculated as the geararrant payoff across all simulated paths distamito our valuation date. The
prepayment feature which allowed us to prepay tB&Doan Facility, and consequently affected the lbeinof shares ultimately issuable
under the DOE warrant, was determined to repremerimbedded derivative. This embedded derivativeim@erently valued and accounted
for as part of the warrant liability on our conslalied balance sheets. Changes to the fair valiee @mbedded derivative were reflected as pa
of the warrant liability re-measurement to fairuakt each balance sheet reporting date. The vavesnrecorded at its estimated fair value
with changes in its fair value reflected in oth&zame (expense), net, until its expiration or vestiAs of December 31, 2012, the fair value of
the DOE warrant was $10.7 million. During the yeaded December 31, 2012, we recognized expensegf@hange in the fair value of the
DOE warrant in the amount of $1.9 million througher income (expense), net, in the consolidatedmstents of operations. The fair value of
the warrant at issuance was $6.3 million, and alwitig the DOE Loan Facility fee of $0.5 million anther debt issuance costs of $0.9 milli
represented a cost of closing the loan facility aag being amortized to interest expense overxpeated term of the DOE Loan Facility.
During the year ended December 31, 2012, we anedr9.6 million to interest expense, respectively.

As a result of our repayment of all outstandingngipal and interest under the DOE Loan Facility #redtermination of the DOE Loan
Facility in May 2013, the DOE warrant expired. A&k, we recognized other income for the changhberfdir value of the DOE warrant in the
amount of $10.7 million for the year ended Decenier2013. Additionally, we amortized all remainimgamortized debt issuance costs of
$5.8 million related to the DOE Loan Facility tderest expense for the year ended December 31, 2013

7. Common Stock

In October 2012, we completed a follow-on offerafgcommon stock in which we sold a total of 7,9®4,8hares of our common stock
and received cash proceeds of $222.1 million (whicluded 35,398 shares or $1.0 million sold to G&O) from this transaction, net of
underwriting discounts and offering costs.
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In May 2013, we completed a public offering of coomstock and sold a total of 3,902,862 shares pEommon stock for total cash
proceeds of approximately $355.1 million (whichlirded 487,857 shares or $45.0 million sold to oHOG, net of underwriting discounts and
offering costs. We also sold 596,272 shares oftonrmon stock to our CEO and received total casbgads of $55.0 million in a private
placement at the public offering price. Concurneith these equity transactions, we also issued $6@lion principal amount of 1.50%
convertible senior notes in a public offering aadeaived total cash proceeds of approximately $6d@ldn, net of underwriting discounts and
offering costs (see Note 6).

8. Equity Incentive Plans

In July 2003, we adopted the 2003 Equity Incenlen. Concurrent with the effectiveness of ourstgtion statement on Form S-1 on
June 28, 2010, we adopted the 2010 Equity Incemtiaa (the Plan) and all remaining common sharssrved for future grant or issuance
under the 2003 Equity Incentive Plan were addetlé®2010 Equity Incentive Plan. The Plan providedtie granting of stock options, RSUs
and stock purchase rights to our employees, direetad consultants. Options granted under the®i&nbe either incentive options or
nonqualified stock options. Incentive stock optiomsy be granted only to our employees includingcefs and directors. Nonqualified stock
options and stock purchase rights may be grantedit@mployees and consultants. Generally, oukgiptions and RSUs vest over four years
and are exercisable over a period not to exceeddhieactual term of ten years from the date theksbptions are granted. Continued vesting
typically terminates when the employment or corisgltelationship ends. As of December 31, 20148%22,070 shares of common stock were
reserved for issuance under the Plan.

The following table summarizes stock option and R&tivity under the Plan:

Outstanding Stock Options Outstanding RSUs

Weighted
Average
Weighted Grant
Shares
Available Number of Average Number Date Fair
Exercise

for Grant Options Price of RSUs Value
Balance, December 31, 20 9,919,10 15,806,66. $ 13.3¢ — 3 —
Additional options reserve 1,064,04t — — — —
Grantec (11,854,94) 11,854,94. 31.1¢ — —
Exercisec (1,312,439 12.52 — —
Cancellec 1,341,31¢ (1,341,389 25.51 — —
Balance, December 31, 20 469,531 25,007,771 21.2C — —
Additional options reserve 3,426,42¢ — — —
Grantec (3,345,899 2,643,82: 74.17 702,07¢ 155.51
Exercisec — (3,852,677 21.42 — —
Cancellec 1,170,44! (1,157,98) 36.47 (12,467 154.92
Release( — — — (12,030 160.9¢
Balance, December 31, 20 1,720,50! 22,640,94. 26.7C 677,58¢ 155.41
Additional options reserve 3,077,27: — — —
Grantec (2,525,24¢) 1,432,17. 181.5¢ 1,093,07! 223.6¢€
Exercisec — (2,266,69) 31.8C — —
Cancellec 556,76 (433,45¢€) 56.2¢ (123,309 187.9(C
Release( — — (167,240) 155.7C
Traded for taxe 6,78€ — — — —
Balance, December 31, 20 2,836,08: 21,372,96( $ 35.9¢ 1,480,11( $ 203.0¢
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Additional information regarding all stock optioaststanding and exercisable as of December 31, B0idmmarized below:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Weighted Remaining Weighted Remaining
Average Contractual Average Contractual
Exercise Life (in Exercise Life (in
Range of Exercise Pric¢ Number Price years) Number Price years)
$2.70- $6.15 329,07 $ 3.13 327,69¢ $ 3.13
$6.63- $6.63 7,030,48¢ 6.63 7,029,29: 6.63
$9.96- $28.45 2,183,38¢ 23.87 1,779,13: 23.1¢
$29.12- $31.07 1,105,02: 30.0C 606,48 30.0C
$31.17- $31.17 5,611,13( 31.17 663,86( 31.17
$31.49- $38.42 2,376,41° 33.2¢ 1,167,10¢ 32.82
$39.10- $179.72 2,140,49¢ 111.51 379,51¢ 94.5C
$184.67- $259.32 498,65¢ 233.0¢ 84 198.0¢
$259.94- $259.94 72,33: 259.9¢ 4,332 259.9¢
$282.11- $282.11 25,95¢ 282.11 — —
21,372,96! 35.9¢ 5.48 11,957,51I 12.37 3.63

Additional information regarding all stock optioaststanding and exercisable as of December 31, B0dlBnmarized below:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Weighted Remaining Weighted Remaining
Average Contractual Average Contractual
Exercise Life (in Exercise Life (in
Range of Exercise Pric¢ Number Price years) Number Price years)
$0.15- $6.15 523,18 $ 3.16 516,72¢ $ 3.16
$6.63- $6.63 7,096,72! 6.63 7,093,02( 6.63
$9.96- $28.35 2,266,05¢ 22.0¢ 1,302,49¢ 19.7C
$28.43- $31.07 2,136,72: 29.4¢ 864,05( 29.24
$31.07- $31.07 5,715,73: 31.17 91,541 31.17
$31.49- $34.00 2,288,99¢ 32.07 707,052 31.9€
$34.57- $141.6C 2,266,35( 60.57 127,67 45.62
$144.70- $147.3€ 252,94¢ 147.31 11,542 147.3¢
$160.70- $160.7C 18,97¢ 160.7(¢ — —
$179.72- $179.72 75,254 179.72 — —
22,640,94. 26.7C 6.37 10,714,10 12.37 4.01

The aggregate intrinsic value represents the po&thx intrinsic value (i.e., the difference betweeir common stock price and the
exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-theney options) that would have been received byi®n holders had all option holders
exercised their options. The aggregate intrinsiuevaf options outstanding as of December 31, 20112013 was $4.00 billion and $2.80
billion, respectively. The intrinsic value of opti® exercisable was $2.46 billion and $1.48 billiand the intrinsic value of options vested and
expected to vest was $4.00 billion and $2.80 bilks of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectivélg.tdtal intrinsic value of options
exercised was $446.9 million and $294.0 milliontfoe years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, tasghecThe aggregate intrinsic value
RSUs outstanding as of December 31, 2014 was $32idia@n.
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Fair Value Adoption

We utilize the fair value method in recognizingcktdbased compensation expense. Under the fair vagibod, we estimated the fair
value of each option award and the ESPP on the dede generally using the Black-Scholes optionipg model and the weighted average
assumptions noted in the following table.

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Risk-free interest rate

Stock options 1.9% 1.3% 1.0%

ESPF 0.1% 0.1% 0.2%
Expected term (in years

Stock options 6.0 6.1 5.9

ESPF 0.5 0.5 0.5
Expected volatility

Stock options 55% 57% 63%

ESPF 46% 43% 51%
Dividend yield:

Stock options 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

ESPF 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

The risk-free interest rate that we use is basetth@tnited States Treasury yield in effect attthee of grant for zero coupon United
States Treasury notes with maturities approximadismch grant’'s expected life. Given our limited digtwith employee grants, we use the
“simplified” method in estimating the expected teionour employee grants. The “simplifiediethod, as permitted by the SEC, is calculate
the average of the time-to-vesting and the conieddife of the options.

Our expected volatility is derived from our impliedlatility on publicly traded options of our commetock and the historical volatiliti
of several unrelated public companies within indastrelated to our business, including the autoraddEM, automotive retail, automotive
parts and battery technology industries, becauskawe limited trading history on our common stdsihen making the selections of our peer
companies within industries related to our businedse used in the volatility calculation, we atsmsidered the stage of development, size ar
financial leverage of potential comparable compsnur historical volatility and implied volatilitgre weighted based on certain qualitative
factors and combined to produce a single volatfhttor.

The weighted-average grant-date fair value foramptiwards granted during the years ended Decemb@034, 2013 and 2012 was
$94.01, $40.72 and $16.37 per share, respectiVhly weighted-average grant-date fair value for E§RRted during the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 was $74.07, $5&@%8.99 per share, respectively. The fair vafuRSUs is measured on the grant date
based on the closing fair market value of our comstock.

Performance-Based Stock Options

In December 2009, our Board of Directors approved@tion grant to our CEO representing 4% of olly{diluted share base prior to
such grant as of the grant date, or 3,355,986 siptikns, with 1/4th of the shares vesting immeayatand 1/36th of the remaining shares
scheduled to vest each month over three yearsnasguwontinued employment through each vesting itetecognition of his and our
company’s achievements and to create incentivelsifore success. In addition, to create incentieeshe attainment of clear performance
objectives around a key element of our business-plthe successful launch and commercialization otitd S—the Board of Directors
approved an additional option grant to our CEOlitagean additional 4% of our fully-diluted shareap to such grant as of the grant date, or
3,355,986 stock options, with a vesting schedusebantirely on the attainment of performance dbjes as follows, assuming our CEO’s
continued employment and service to us through easting date:

e  1/4th of the shares subject to the option are sadhddo vest upon the successful completion of MI&Engineering Prototyp
e  1/4th of the shares subject to the option are sdkeddo vest upon the successful completion of Nl&¢alidation Prototype
e  1/4th of the shares subject to the option are sdkeddo vest upon the completion of the first Mo8dProduction Vehicle; ar
e  1/4th of the shares subject to the option are sadeddo vest upon the completion of the 10,000tidMc& Production Vehicle

Through December 31, 2013, all performance milestamere achieved. Stock-based compensation expalated to this grant to our
CEO was $0.4 million and $4.2 million for the yearsled December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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Our Board of Directors also approved option gramttune and September 2010 to purchase our comiock &f 666,300 and 20,000,
respectively, to various members of our senior rganmeent with a vesting schedule based entirely erattainment of the same performance
objectives as those outlined for our CEO aboveoligh December 31, 2013, all performance milestares achieved. During the years en
December 31, 2013 and 2012, we recognized $0IBmédnd $1.4 million, respectively, of stock-basmmnpensation expense related to the
attainment of these performance objectives.

In August 2012, our Board of Directors granted 8,201 stock options to our CEO (2012 CEO Grante Z812 CEO Grant consists of
ten vesting tranches with a vesting schedule bestrkly on the attainment of both performance dios and market conditions, assuming
continued employment and service to us through easting date.

Each of the vesting tranches requires a combinati@me of the ten pre-determined performance aifess outlined below and an
incremental increase in our market capitalizatib40 billion, as compared to the initial markapitalization of $3.2 billion measured at the
time of the 2012 CEO Grant.

e  Successful completion of the Model X Alpha Protaty

e  Successful completion of the Model X Beta Prototfy

e  Completion of the first Model X Production Vehic

e  Successful completion of the Model 3 Alpha Protet)

e  Successful completion of the Model 3 Beta Protot

e  Completion of the first Model 3 Production Vehic

e  Gross margin of 30% or more for four consecutivartgrs;
e  Aggregate vehicle production of 100,000 vehic

e  Aggregate vehicle production of 200,000 vehicles]

e  Aggregate vehicle production of 300,000 vehic

The term of the 2012 CEO Grant is ten years, sar@mmghes that remain unvested at the expiratictheo012 CEO Grant will be
forfeited. In addition, unvested options will befated if our CEO is no longer in that role, whetlior cause or otherwise.

We measured the fair value of the 2012 CEO Grangus Monte Carlo simulation approach with thedwaling assumptions: risk-free
interest rate of 1.65%, expected term of ten yeagsected volatility of 55% and dividend yield &0

Stockbased compensation expense associated with theCID2Grant is recognized for each pair of perforoeasnd market conditio
over the longer of the expected achievement paridde performance and market conditions, beginainfpe point in time that the relevant
performance condition is considered probable afidpenet.

As of December 31, 2014, the market conditionsforesting tranches and the following performamiestone were achieved and
approved by our Board of Directors:

e  Successful completion of the Model X Alpha Protat)

As of December 31, 2014, the following performantkestone was achieved and subject to our Boaireictors’ approval at the
upcoming board meeting:

e  Successful completion of the Model X Beta Protofy

As of December 31, 2014, the following three perfance milestones were considered probable of asimient:

e  Completion of the first Model X Production Vehic

e  Successful completion of the Model 3 Alpha Protetygnd

e  Aggregate vehicle production of 100,000 vehic

As the above three performance milestones werddenesl probable of achievement, we recorded stasledh compensation expense of

$25.0 million, $14.5 million and $1.3 million fon¢ years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 201@adtocompensation has ever been
received by our CEO for his services to the company
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In January 2014, to create incentives for continoad term success beyond the Model S program@utbsely align executive pay w
our stockholdersinterests in the achievement of significant miles®by our company, the Compensation Committe@ioBoard of Director
granted stock options to certain employees to @sety82,500 shares of our common stock. Each saoh apnsists of four vesting tranches
with a vesting schedule based entirely on therattant of future performance milestones, assumimgrmeed employment and service to us
through each vesting date.

e  1/4th of the shares subject to the options aredadbd to vest upon completion of the first ModeP¥oduction Vehicle

e  1/4th of the shares subject to the options areduded to vest upon achieving aggregate vehiddyation of 100,000 vehicles in a
trailing 1z-month period

e  1/4th of the shares subject to the options aredidld to vest upon completion of the first Moddt®duction Vehicle; an

e  1/4th of the shares subject to the options aneduded to vest upon achievement of annualizedsgrasgin of greater than 30.0%
in any three year:

As of December 31, 2014, the following performantkestone was considered probable of achievement.

e  Completion of the first Model X Production Vehic

As the above performance milestone was considerdthple of achievement, we recorded stock-baseghensation expense of $10.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Summary Stock Based Compensation Information

The following table summarizes the stock-based ereation expense by line item in the consolidataigents of operations (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Cost of sales $ 17,45¢ $ 9,071 $ 2,194
Research and developme 62,601 35,49¢ 26,58(
Selling, general and administrati 76,441 39,09( 21,371
Total $ 156,49¢ $ 83,655 $ 50,14¢

We realized no income tax benefit from stock opearrcises in each of the periods presented drextoring losses and valuation
allowances.

As of December 31, 2014, we had $412.7 millionotéltunrecognized compensation expense, net, iofi@sd forfeitures, that will be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 5absye

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Employees are eligible to purchase common stodutiir payroll deductions of up to 15% of their édlgicompensation, subject to any
plan limitations. The purchase price of the sharesach purchase date is equal to 85% of the lohite fair market value of our common
stock on the first and last trading days of eagmsinth offering period. During the years ended &@eber 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, 163,600,
518,743 and 373,526 shares were issued under AR EB $28.6 million, $13.8 million and $8.4 milliprespectively. A total of 3,615,749
shares of common stock have been reserved fomssumder the ESPP, and there were 2,336,422 sha#able for issuance under the E¢
as of December 31, 2014.

9. Income Taxes

A provision for income taxes of $9.4 million, $2r6llion and $0.1 million has been recognized far years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively, related primarily wo subsidiaries located outside of the United Sta®air loss before provision for income ta
for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 an2®éde as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Domestic $ 60,451 $ 75,27¢ % 396,54¢
International 224,18t (3,859 (472
Loss before income tax: $ 284,63t $ 71,42¢ $ 396,07
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The components of the provision for income taxeste years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 26f@8isted of the following (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Current:
Federa $ — % — 3 —
State 257 178 23
Foreign 9,203 2,34¢ 282
Total current 9,46( 2,527 305
Deferred:
Federal — — —
State — — —
Foreign (56) 61 (169)
Total deferrec (56) 61 (169)
Total provision for income taxe $ 9,404 $ 258t $ 136

Deferred tax assets (liabilities) as of December2B14 and 2013 consisted of the following (in tharnds):

December 31 December 31
2014 2013
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss car-forwards $ 276,91¢ $ 341,17:
Research and development cre 46,48¢ 32,17¢
Other tax credit: 12,75(C 166
Deferred revenu 75,82¢ 42,491
Inventory and warranty reserv 53,54¢ 23,26(
Depreciation and amortizatic 68 68
Stoclk-based compensatic 50,91¢ 27,66:
Convertible deb 45,11¢ 22,93(
Accruals and othel 49,22¢ 21,79¢
Total deferred tax asse 610,85( 511,72(
Valuation allowanct (524,399 (472,37Y)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowe 86,45¢ 39,34¢
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortizatic (86,29¢) (39,244)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (86,29¢) (39,244
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowancedafdrred tax liabilitie: $ 158 $ 101

Reconciliation of statutory federal income taxestuo effective taxes for the years ended Decembg2@14, 2013 and 2012 is as
follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Tax at statutory federal ra $ (99,627) $ (25,000 $ (134,707
State tax, net of federal bene 257 178 (12,580
Nondeductible expens: 15,23¢ 733 9,897
Foreign income rate differenti 86,73¢ (253) 262
U.S. tax credit: (26,89%) (6,682) (2,785)
Other reconciling item 877 1,317 525
Change in valuation allowan: 32,81t 32,29¢ 139,51¢
Provision for income taxe $ 9,404 $ 2,58t $ 136

Management believes that based on the availaldeniation, it is more likely than not that the Udeferred tax assets will not be
realized, such that a full valuation allowanceeiguired against all U.S. deferred tax assets. Tdmepany has net $0.3 million of deferred tax
assets in foreign jurisdictions which it believes more-likely-than-not to be fully realized givére expectation of future earnings in these
jurisdictions.
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As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately $hiién of federal and $991.8 million of state mgterating loss carry-forwards
available to offset future taxable income, whicli tvegin to expire for federal in 2024 and 2019 dtate purposes. As of December 31, 2014,
the portion of net operating loss carryforwardsitied to stock options is approximately $590.0 omlland $307.6 million for federal and state
purposes, respectively, of which the tax benefitshe credited to additional paid-in capital wheralized. Additionally, we have research and
development tax credits of approximately $33.8iomlland $36.6 million for federal and state incamape purposes, respectively. If not utilized,
the federal carry-forwards will expire in varioum@aunts beginning in 2019. However, the state csexdin be carried forward indefinitely.

No deferred tax liability has been recognized far temittance of any undistributed foreign earnitogthe United States since the
Company has no material amount of undistributedifpr earnings outside of our U.S. tax jurisdictianof December 31, 2014.

Federal and state laws can impose substantialatéstis on the utilization of net operating lossldax credit carry-forwards in the event
of an “ownership changeds defined in Section 382 of the Internal RevenoeeCWe determined that no significant limitatiooul be place
on the utilization of our net operating loss anddeedit carry-forwards due to any prior ownerstiianges.

Uncertain Tax Positions

The aggregate changes in the balance of our grossagnized tax benefits during the years ende@mber 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
were as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 201 $ 17,43(
Increases in balances related to tax positionsitdkeing current yee 640
December 31, 201 18,07(
Decreases in balances related to prior year taiiquus (7,802)
Increases in balances related to current yeardaxipns 3,102
December 31, 201 13,37(
Increase in balances related to prior year taxtiposi 56
Increases in balances related to current yeardaitipns 27,951
December 31, 201 $ 41,371

Accrued interest and penalties related to unreeeghiax benefits are classified as income tax esgpand was immaterial. As of
December 31, 2014, unrecognized tax benefits ofi$38llion, if recognized, would not affect our edfive tax rate as the tax benefits would
increase a deferred tax asset which is currently édfset with a full valuation allowance. We dotanticipate that the amount of existing
unrecognized tax benefits will significantly incesaor decrease within the next 12 months. Weriiterne tax returns in the United States,
California, various states and foreign jurisdicgofax years 2003 to 2013 remain subject to exarnméor federal purposes, and tax years
2003 to 2013 remain subject to examination forfGalia purposes. All net operating losses and tarlits generated to date are subject to
adjustment for U.S. federal and California purpo3es years 2007 to 2013 remain open for examinatimther U.S. state and foreign
jurisdictions.

10. Information about Geographic Areas

We operate as one reportable segment which isabigrl development, manufacturing and sales ofredachicles and electric vehicle
powertrain components.

The following tables set forth total revenues amttlived assets by geographic area (in thousands).

Total Revenues

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
United States $ 1471,64. $ 1,479,16¢ $ 344,87
China 477,08: — —
Norway 412,19¢ 217,07( 4,29¢
Other 837,43 317,26( 64,081
Total $ 3,198,35¢ $ 2,013,49¢ $ 413,25¢
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Long-lived Assets

December 31, December 31,
2014 2013
United States $ 2,452,21¢ $ 1,091,48
International 143,79: 29,43:
Total $ 2,596,01. $ 1,120,91¢

11. Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases

Our corporate headquarters and powertrain produciierations are based in Palo Alto, California ehee have leased a facility
consisting of 350,000 square feet. This lease egpir January 2020. We lease a 203,772 squarmégatfacturing facility in Tilburg,
Netherlands through November 2023. We also leamarder of properties in North America, Europe arsib&or our office, retail and servi
locations as well as Supercharger sites under nonetable operating leases with various expiralates through March 2028.

Included within Operating Leases commitments intéide below are payments due under operatingddahsé have been accounted for
as build-to-suit arrangements and are includedapgrty, plant, and equipment in our ConsolidatethBce Sheets.

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2013,and 2012 was $46.3 million, $21.5 million &1@.1 million, respectively.

Capital Leases

We have entered into various agreements to leagpragnt under capital leases over terms betweean8@&0 months. The equipment
under the leases are collateral for the lease atidigs and are included within property, plant agdipment, net, on the consolidated balance
sheets under the categories of computer equipnmeins@ttware and office furniture and equipment.

Future minimum commitments for leases as of Dece®be2014 are as follows (in thousands):

Operating Capital

Leases Leases
2015 $ 56,527 $ 10,15z
2016 60,13¢€ 8,11z
2017 56,56¢€ 3,592
2018 48,95¢ 563
2019 and thereaftt 184,60( —
Total minimum lease paymer $ 406,78 22,42
Less: Amounts representing interest not yet inclL 621
Present value of capital lease obligati 21,79¢
Less: Current portio 9,532
Long-term portion of capital lease obligatic $ 12,261

Environmental Liabilities

In connection with our Tesla Factory located inrkoat, California, we are obligated to pay for tkenediation of certain environmental
conditions existing at the time we purchased tlop@rty from New United Motor Manufacturing, Inc.\NIMI). Tesla is responsible for the
first $15 million of remediation costs and any sastexcess of $30 million or costs incurred tfter ten-year anniversary of closing. NUMMI
is responsible for remediation costs between $1omiand $30 million for up to 10 years from thesing date. Through December 31, 2014,
we have paid $3.1 million for remediation costaimed related to the Fremont facility. As of DecemB1, 2014 and 2013, we accrued a total
of $4.0 million and $5.5 million related to thesevigonmental liabilities.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, we are subject to various lggateedings that arise from the normal course sinass activities. In addition, from
time to time, third parties may assert intellecfua@perty infringement claims against us in therfaf letters and other forms of
communication. If an unfavorable ruling were towgdhere exists the possibility of a material adeempact on our results of operations,
prospects, cash flows, financial position and brand
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In November 2013, a putative securities class adtwsuit was filed against Tesla in U.S. Dist@aurt, Northern District of California,
alleging violations of, and seeking remedies pumstm, Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the SecuritieshBnge Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5. The
complaint, made claims against Tesla and its CH@) Musk, sought damages and attorney’s fees obdbis of allegations that, among other
things, Tesla and Mr. Musk made false and/or mitearepresentations and omissions, including watpect to the safety of Model S. This
case was brought on behalf of a putative classistimg of certain persons who purchased Tesla'argtées between August 19, 2013 and
November 17, 2013. On September 26, 2014, thecwiat, upon the motion of Tesla and Mr. Musk, d&sad the complaint with prejudic
and indicated that a formal written order will lmethcoming. Following the trial court’s decisioredla and Mr. Musk brought a motion for
sanctions against the plaintiffs, and that mot®aourrently pending. The plaintiffs have also adpeé from the trial court’s order, and that
appeal is pending, as well.

12. Quarterly Results of Operations (Unaudited)

The following table includes selected quarterlytesof operations data for the years ended DeceBhe2014 and 2013 (in thousands,
except per share data):

Three months ended

March 31 June 30 September 3C December 31

2014

Total revenue $ 62054: $ 769,34¢ $ 851,800 $ 956,66
Gross profit 155,12¢ 212,99t 251,851 261,697
Net loss (49,800 (61,902) (74,70¢) (107,630)
Net loss per share, bas (0.40) (0.50) (0.60) (0.86)
Net income (loss) per share, dilut (0.40) (0.50) (0.60) (0.86)
2013

Total revenue $ 561,79 $ 405,13¢ $ 431,34t $ 615,21¢
Gross profi 96,32( 100,48t 102,86¢ 156,59(
Net income (loss 11,24¢ (30,502 (38,496 (16,264
Net income (loss) per share, ba 0.1C (0.26) (0.32 (0.13)
Net income (loss) per share, dilut 0.0C (0.26) (0.32) (0.13)

Net loss per share, basic and diluted for the uarters of each fiscal year may not sum to tha fot the fiscal year because of the
different numbers of shares outstanding during geciod.

| TEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not applicable.

| TEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedu

We conducted an evaluation as of December 31, 201dkr the supervision and with the participatibow management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officef the effectiveness of the design and operaifasur disclosure controls and procedures.
Based upon that evaluation, our Chief Executived®ifand Chief Financial Officer concluded thatpd®ecember 31, 2014, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective to provasonable assurance.

Managemer's Report on Internal Control over Financial Repog

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finaha@orting. Internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed by, ateuthe supervision of, our Chief Executive Offie@d Chief Financial Officer to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynafitial reporting and the preparation of finansiatements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfee and includes those policies and proceduss(1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that in reasonable detail accurately ainly faflect the transactions and dispositions of assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance tt
transactions are recorded as necessary to perpéamtion of financial statements in accordanch generally accepted accounting principles
and that our receipts and expenditures are beirtgroaly in accordance with authorizations of ounaggement and directors; and (3) provide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tidetgction of unauthorized acquisition, use or af#jon of our assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.
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Under the supervision and with the participatiomof management, including our Chief Executive €ffiand Chief Financial Officer,
we conducted an evaluation of the effectivenessiointernal control over financial reporting bagetdcriteria established in “Internal
Control—Integrated Framework (2013)” issued by @mwnmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tremd@ommission (COSO). Our
management concluded that our internal control éimancial reporting was effective as of Decembir2014.

Our independent registered public accounting firmcewaterhouseCoopers LLP, has audited the effsatss of our internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014tated in their report which is included herein.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Contr

Because of inherent limitations, internal contretiofinancial reporting may not prevent or detetgstatements and projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repogin

There was no change in our internal control ovgairfcial reporting which occurred during the fodisical quarter of the year ended
December 31, 2014 which has materially affecteds oeasonably likely to materially affect, ouramal control over financial reporting.

| TEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None

PART IlI

| TEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

The information required by this Item 10 of FormK @vill be included in our 2015 Proxy Statemenbtofiled with the SEC in
connection with the solicitation of proxies for @015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (2015 Proxgt&nent) and is incorporated herein by
reference. The 2015 Proxy Statement will be filéthwhe SEC within 120 days after the end of tisedl year to which this report relates.

| TEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item 11 of FormKvill be included in our 2015 Proxy Statement éndhcorporated herein by
reference.

| TEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this Item 12 of FormK@vill be included in our 2015 Proxy Statement éndhcorporated herein by
reference.

| TEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this Item 13 of FormK @vill be included in our 2015 Proxy Statement @améhcorporated herein by
reference.

| TEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Iltem 14 of FormKvill be included in our 2015 Proxy Statement éndhcorporated herein by
reference.
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| TEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
1. Financial Statements. S“Index to Consolidated Financial Statem” in Part I, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form-K.

2. Allfinancial statement schedules have beerttethisince the required information is not apgilezor is not present in amounts sufficient
to require submission of the schedule, or becaws@nformation required is included in the consaliét! financial statements and notes
thereto.

3.  Exhibits. The exhibits listed in the accompagyilndex to Exhibits” are filed or incorporated sference as part of this Annual Report
on Form 1-K.

92




INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Filing Date Herewith

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of S-1 333- 3.1 January 29, 2010
Incorporation of the Registra 164593

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrahk 333- 3.2 June 8, 2012

164593

4.1 Specimen common stock certificate of the ~ S-1/A 333- 4.1 May 27, 2010
Registran 164593

4.2 Fifth Amended and Restated Investors’ RightsS-1 333- 4.2 January 29, 2010
Agreement, dated as of August 31, 2009, 164593
between Registrant and certain holders of the
Registrar’s capital stock named there

4.2A Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated S-1/A 333- 4.2A May 27, 2010
Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated as of May 164593
20, 2010, between Registrant and certain hol
of the Registrar's capital stock named there

4.2B Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated S-1/A 333- 4.2B May 27, 2010
Investors’Rights Agreement between Registr 164593
Toyota Motor Corporation and certain holder:
the Registrars capital stock named there

4.2C Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated S-1/A 333- 4.2C June 15, 2010
Investor’s Rights Agreement, dated as of June 164593
14, 2010, between Registrant and certain hol
of the Registrar's capital stock named ther¢

4.2D Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated 8-K 001- 4.1 November 4, 201
Investor’'s Rights Agreement, dated as of 34756
November 2, 2010, between Registrant
certain holders of the Registrant’s capital stock
named therei

4.2E Waiver to Fifth Amended and Restated S-1/A 333- 4.2E June 2, 2011
Investor’'s Rights Agreement, dated as of May 174466
25, 2011, between Registrant and certain hol
of the Registrar's capital stock named there

4.2F Amendment to Fifth Amended and Restated 8-K 001- 4.1 June 1, 2011
Investor’'s Rights Agreement, dated as of May 34756
30, 2011, between Registrant and certain hol
of the Registrar's capital stock named there

4.2G Sixth Amendment to Fifth Amended and 8-K 001- 4.1 May 20, 2013
Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement, dated as 34756

of May 15, 2013 among the Registrant, the Elon
Musk Revocable Trust dated July 22, 2003 and
certain other holders of the capital stock of the
Registrant named therei
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
4.2H Waiver to Fifth Amended and Restated 8-K 001- 4.2 May 20, 2013
Investor’s Rights Agreement, dated as of May 34756
14, 2013, between the Registrant and certain
holders of the capital stock of the Registrant
named thereir
4.3 Indenture, dated as of May 22, 2013, by and 8-K 001- 4.1 May 22, 2013
between the Registrant and U.S. Bank National 34756
Association.
4.4 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May8-K 001- 4.2 May 22, 2013
22, 2013, by and between the Registrant and 34756
U.S. Bank National Associatio
4.5 Form of 1.50% Convertible Senior Note Due 8-K 001- 4.3 May 22, 2013
June 1, 2018 (included in Exhibit 4.. 34756
4.6 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of 8-K 001- 4.2 March 5, 2014
March 5, 2014, by and between the Registrant 34756
and U.S. Bank National Associatic
4.7 Form of 0.25% Convertible Senior Note Due 8-K 001- 4.3 March 5, 2014
March 1, 2019 (included in Exhibit 4.¢ 34756
4.8 Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of M 8-K 001- 4.4 March 5, 2014
5, 2014, by and between the Registrant and U.S. 34756
Bank National Associatior
4.9 Form of 1.25% Convertible Senior Note Due 8-K 001- 4.5 March 5, 2014
March 1, 2021 (included in Exhibit 4.¢ 34756
10.1** Form of Indemnification Agreement between S-1/A 333- 10.1 June 15, 2010
Registrant and its directors and offic 164593
10.2** 2003 Equity Incentive Plan S-1/A 333- 10.2 May 27, 2010
164593
10.3** Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2003 S-1 333- 10.3 January 29, 2010
Equity Incentive Plai 164593
10.3A** Grant Notice and Stock Option Agreement ~ S-1/A 333- 10.3A March 29, 2010
between the Registrant and Elon Mi 164593
10.4** Amended and Restated 2010 Equity Incentive 14A 333- Appendix A April 24, 2014
Plan, effective as of April 10, 20: 164593
10.5%* Form of Stock Option Agreement under 2010 S-1/A 333- 10.5 March 29, 2010
Equity Incentive Plal 164593
10.6** Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreenmr S-1/A 333- 10.6 March 29, 2010
under 2010 Equity Incentive Pl 164593
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
10.7** 2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan S-1/A 333- 10.7 May 27, 2010
164593

10.8** Form of Purchase Agreement under 2010 S-1/A 333- 10.8 June 15, 2010
Employee Stock Purchase P 164593

10.9** Offer Letter between the Registrant and Elon S-1 333- 10.9 January 29, 2010
Musk dated October 13, 20! 164593

10.10** Offer Letter between the Registrant and Deepd&k¢1 333- 10.10 January 29, 2010
Ahuja dated June 13, 2008, and amended Ju 164593
2009

10.11** Relocation Agreement between the RegistrantS-1 333- 10.11 January 29, 2010
and Deepak Ahuja effective October 31, 2008 164593
and amended June 4, 2C

10.12** Offer Letter between the Registrant and Jeffre-1 333- 10.12 January 29, 2010
B. Straubel dated May 6, 20! 164593

10.13 Commercial Lease between the Registrant an&-1 333- 10.22 January 29, 2010
The Board of Trustees of The Leland Stanford 164593
Jr. University dated August 6, 20

10.14% ZEV Credits Agreement between American  S-1/A 333- 10.32 May 27, 2010
Honda Motor Co., Inc. and the Registrant dated 164593
February 12, 200

10.14A Addendum to ZEV Credits Agreement betweefs-1/A 333- 10.32A May 27, 2010
American Honda Motor Co., Inc. and the 164593
Registrant dated February 20, 2(

10.14Bt Supplemental ZEV Credits Agreement betwee8-1/A 333- 10.32B May 27, 2010
American Honda Motor Co., Inc. and the 164593
Registrant dated March 20, 20

10.14Ct Second Supplemental ZEV Credits Agreemen-1/A 333- 10.32C May 27, 2010
between American Honda Motor Co., Inc. and 164593
the Registrant dated February 8, 2!

10.15% Supply Agreement by and among Panasonic S-1 333- 10.33 January 29, 2010
Industrial Company, Panasonic Corporation, 164593
acting through Energy Company, and the
Registrant dated July 21, 20

10.16 Settlement Agreement between the RegistrantS-1/A 333- 10.44 May 27, 2010
and entities affiliated with Valor Equity Partners 164593
dated May 20, 201

10.17 Letter Agreement between the Registrant and S-1/A 333- 10.45 May 27, 2010
New United Motor Manufacturing, Inc. dat 164593
May 26, 201(

10.17A Amendment No. 1 to the Letter Agreement  10-Q 001- 10.3 November 12, 201
between the Registrant and New United Motor 34756
Manufacturing, Inc. dated June 15, 2(

10.17B Amendment No. 2 to the Letter Agreement  10-Q 001- 10.4 November 12, 201
between the Registrant and New United Motor 34756

Manufacturing, Inc. dated October 1, 2(
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith

10.17C Amendment No. 3 to the Letter Agreement  10-Q 001- 10.5 November 12, 201
between the Registrant and New United Motor 34756
Manufacturing, Inc. dated October 8, 2(

10.17D Amendment No. 4 to the Letter Agreement  10-Q 001- 10.6 November 12, 201
between the Registrant and New United Motor 34756
Manufacturing, Inc. dated October 13, 2(

10.17E Amendment No. 5 to the Letter Agreement  10-Q 001- 10.7 November 12, 201
between the Registrant and New United Motor 34756
Manufacturing, Inc. dated October 15, 2(

10.17Ft Amendment No. 6 to the Letter Agreement  10-Q 001- 10.8 November 12, 201
between the Registrant and New United Motor 34756
Manufacturing, Inc. dated October 19, 2(

10.18 Sale and Purchase Agreement between 10-Q 001- 10.1 November 12, 201
Registrant and New United Motor 34756
Manufacturing, Inc., dated August 13, 2(

10.18A Addendum No. 1to the Sale and Purchase  10-Q 001- 10.2 November 12, 201
Agreement between Registrant and New United 34756
Motor Manufacturing, Inc., dated September 23,
2010

10.19% Phase 1 Contract Services Agreement betweeh0-K 001- 10.47 March 3, 2011
Registrant and Toyota Motor Corporation dated 34756
October 6, 201!

10.20% Supply and Services Agreement between To 10-Q 001- 10.1 November 14, 201
Motor Engineering & Manufacturing North 34756
America, Inc. and the Registrant dated July 15,
2011

10.21%t Supply Agreement between Panasonic 10-K -001- 10.50 February 27, 2012
Corporation and the Registrant dated October 5, 34756
2011

10.21A%t Amendment No. 1 to Supply Agreement 10-K 001- 10.35A February 26, 2014
between Panasonic Corporation and the 34756
Registrant dated October 29, 2(

10.22 Form of Call Option Confirmation relating to  8-K 001- 10.1 May 22, 2013
1.50% Convertible Senior Note Due June 1, 34756
2018.

10.23 Form of Warrant Confirmation relating to 1.5( 8-K 001- 10.2 May 22, 2013
Convertible Senior Note Due June 1, 2C 34756

10.24 Indemnification Agreement, dated as of Febr 8-K 001- 10.1 March 5, 2014
27, 2014, by and between the Registrant and J.P. 34756
Morgan Securities LLC

10.25 Form of Call Option Confirmation relating to  8-K 001- 10.2 March 5, 2014
0.25% Convertible Senior Notes Due March 1, 34756

2019.
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form File No. Exhibit Filing Date Herewith
10.26 Form of Call Option Confirmation relating to  8-K 001- 10.3 March 5, 2014
1.25% Convertible Senior Notes Due March 1, 34756
2021.
10.27 Form of Warrant Confirmation relating to 0.2! 8-K 001- 10.4 March 5, 2014
Convertible Senior Notes Due March 1, 20 34756
10.28 Form of Warrant Confirmation relating to 1.2¢ 8-K 001- 10.5 March 5, 2014
Convertible Senior Notes Due March 1, 20 34756
10.29 Agreement between Panasonic Corporation ai@-Q 001- 10.1 November 7, 201
the Registrant dated July 31, 20 34756
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or lth@Becurities Exchange Act of 1934, the registnass duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

Tesla Motors, Inc

Date: February 26, 2015 /sl Elon Musk
Elon Musk
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélptie following persons on beh
of the registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ Elon Musk Chief Executive Officer and Director (Princif February 26, 201
Elon Musk Executive Officer,

/s! Deepak Ahuje Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Offic February 26, 201
Deepak Ahuiji and Principal Accounting Office

/s/ Brad Buss Director February 26, 201
Brad Bus:

/s/ Robyn Denholn Director February 26, 201
Robyn Denholn

/sl Ira Ehrenprei Director February 26, 201
Ira Ehrenprei

/s! Antonio Gracias Director February 26, 201
Antonio Gracia:

/sl Stephen Jurvetso Director February 26, 201
Stephen Jurvetsc

/s/ Kimbal Musk Director February 26, 201
Kimbal Musk
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EXHIBIT 12.1
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

The ratio of earnings to fixed charges for eacthefperiods indicated is as follows.

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges — — — — —

(1) For the purpose of calculating such ratiogyf¥ngs” consist of income from continuing operatidefore income taxes plus fixed charges
and “fixed charges” consist of interest expensé ¢heapitalized portion), capitalized interest,atization of debt discount and the portion of
rental expense representative of interest exp&aeings were inadequate to cover the fixed charge#295.4 million, $73.5 million, $403.3
million, $259.0 million, and $155.0 million and $35million for the years ended December 31, 2004322012, 2011, and 2010,
respectively.



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N8-B33002, No. 333-187113, No. 333-
183033, and No. 333-167874) and in the Registr&tatement on Form S-3 (No. 333-188625) of Tesl#okéo Inc. of our report dated

February 26, 2015 relating to the financial statet®@nd the effectiveness of internal control direancial reporting, which appears in this
Form 10 K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, California
February 26, 2015



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Elon Musk, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Tesla Motors, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortdnstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
(&) Designed such disclosure controls and proesdar caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa
(b) Designed such internal control over financggdorting, or caused such internal control oveatiitial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargaadang the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and preséantbis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) llas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a
The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theittcmmmittee of the registrant’s Board of Direct¢os persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(@) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal obotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmnhcial information; ani
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisantifole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 26, 201 /s/ Elon Musk

Elon Musk
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Deepak Ahuja, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Tesla Motors, Inc.

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatomny untrue statement of a material fact ortdnstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this repor

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer andrk responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13z15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav
(&) Designed such disclosure controls and proesdar caused such disclosure controls and proesdoibe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa
(b) Designed such internal control over financggdorting, or caused such internal control oveatiitial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargaadang the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and preséantbis report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; ant
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) llas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a
The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theittcmmmittee of the registrant’s Board of Direct¢os persons performing the equivalent
functions):
(@) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal obotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmnhcial information; ani
(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisantifole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 26, 201 /s| Deepak Ahuje

Deepak Ahuijé
Chief Financial Office
(Principal Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 32.1

SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS

I, Elon Musk, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. SewqtiB50, that, to my knowledge, the Annual Repoif@dla Motors, Inc. on Form 10-K for the
annual period ended December 31, 2014, (i) fulipglies with the requirements of Section 13(a) qd16f the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 and (ii) that the information contained intsorm 10-K fairly presents, in all material regethe financial condition and results of
operations of Tesla Motors, Inc.

Date: February 26, 201 /s/ Elon Musk
Elon Musk
Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer

I, Deepak Ahuja, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.tlec1350, that, to my knowledge, the Annual Repbrfesla Motors, Inc. on Form 10-K for
the annual period ended December 31, 2014, (i fudmplies with the requirements of Section 13¢a)%(d) of the Securities Exchange Ac
1934 and (ii) that the information contained inls&orm 10-K fairly presents, in all material resggethe financial condition and results of
operations of Tesla Motors, Inc.

Date: February 26, 201 /s/ Deepak Ahuje
Deepak Ahuijé
Chief Financial Office!
(Principal Financial Officer




